EDGAR'pro

iy EDGAR Dnlire”

ENGLOBAL CORP

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 04/12/12 for the Period Ending 12/31/11

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

654 N. SAM HOUSTON PKWY E
SUITE 400

HOUSTON, TX 77060-5914
281-878-1000

0000933738

ENG

8711 - Engineering Services
Construction & Engineering
Industrials

12/31

Powere d By ED‘GA;Rbn]ine

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2016, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
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PART I
CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEME NTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Report”), includj “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdition anc
Results of Operatior” as well as oral statements made by the Companmimnofficers, directors or employees, contairnsvird-
looking statements within the meaning of Sectidi @fithe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ante(ttie “Exchange Act).
Such forwardeooking statements are based on Management's deliefrent expectations, estimates and projectiainsut thi
industries that the Company and its subsidiariexve, the economy and the Company in general. Towswv“expect,”
“anticipate,” “i plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “estimate” and similar expressions are intendedidentify such forward-

intend,
looking statements; however, this Report also dostather forwardlooking statements in addition to historical infation.
Although we believe that the expectations reflegtedhe forwarc-looking statements are reasonable, such forwaoking
statements are not guarantees of future performamzkare subject to risks, uncertainties and otfators that may cause 1
actual results, performance or achievements of Goenpany to differ materially from historical resulor from any resul
expressed or implied by such forwdabking statements. The Company cautions readatstiie following important factors a
the risks described in the section of this repatitked “Risk Factors,”among others, could cause the Company's actualtse
differ materially from the forwardeoking statements contained in this Report: (§ #ffect of changes in the business cycle
downturns in local, regional and national econommdaour ability to respond appropriately to the cent worldwide econonr
financial situation; (ii) our ability to collect amunts receivable in a timely manner,; (iii) our ltlyito accurately estimate co
and fees on fixeg@¥ice contracts; (iv) the effect of changes in laamsl regulations with which the Company must comgtyg thi
associated costs of compliance with such laws a&gdilations, either currently or in the future, agpéicable; (v) the effect
changes in accounting policies and practices as beyadopted by regulatory agencies, as well ashibyRinancial Accountir
Standards Board; (vi) the effect of changes in@menpany's organization, compensation and beneditgl(vii) the effect on tl
Company's competitive position within its markegatin view of, among other things, the increasingsolidation within it
services industries, including the increased coitipatfrom larger regional and out-aftate engineering and professional ser
organizations; (viii) the effect of increases aretikases in oil prices; (ix) the availability ofp@from vendors; (x) our ability
increase or renew our line of credit; (xi) our ahjlto identify attractive acquisition candidatemnsummate acquisitions on te
that are favorable to the Company and integrate dbguired businesses into our operations; (xii) aility to hire and retai
gualified personnel; (xiii) our ability to retainxesting customers and get new customers; (xiv)alility to mitigate losses; (x
our ability to achieve our business strategy whaféectively managing costs and expenses; (xvi)aduility to estimate exa
project completion dates; (xvii) our ability to eftively monitor business done outside of the Wnigates; and (xviii) tf
performance of the energy sector. The Company aaaithat the foregoing list of important factoraist exclusive. We are unt
no duty and have no plans to update any of thedmiwooking statements after the date of this Repodaiform such stateme
to actual results.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

ENGlobal Corporation (which may be referred to BsIGlobal,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”)incorporated in the State
Nevada in June 1994, is a leading provider of ezgyimg and professional services principally toghergy sector. ENGlobal's
revenue from continuous operations has grown fr@®.1 million in 2002 to $312.7 million in 2011a compounded anni
growth rate of approximately 15.0%even after taking into account significant degtinn 2009 and 2010. We have accompli
this growth by expanding our engineering and piifesl service capabilities and our geographic gores through intern
growth, including new initiatives, and through aise of strategic acquisitions.

We now have 1,943 full-time equivalent employeeg iroffices located in the following cities: Houstone&imont and Freepc
Texas; Baton Rouge and Lake Charles, Louisianagal Wklahoma; Denver, Colorado; Mobile, Alabamat @hicago, lllinois.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

The Engineering and Construction Segment

The Engineering and Construction segment providegices relating to the development, managementeaedution of projec
requiring professional engineering and relatedgmiogervices primarily to the midstream and dovesstr sectorghroughout th
United StatesServices provided by the Engineering and Constraciegment include feasibility studies, engineeruhesigr
procurement and construction management. The Eagimgeand Construction segment includes the govemreervices grou
which provides engineering, design, installatiord asperation and maintenance of various governmpublic sector ar
international facilities.

The Automation Segment

The Automation segment provides services relatatidalesign, fabrication and implementation of pescdistributed control a
analyzer systems, advanced automation, informa#iohnology, electrical and heat tracing projectmarily to the upstream a
downstream sectors throughout the United Statesedss specific projects in the Middle East anahita Asia.

The Field Solutions Segment

The Field Solutions segment provides inspectiond lmanagement, right-afay, environmental compliance, legislative aft
support and governmental regulatory compliance isesvprimarily to the midstream sector, includingpgtine, utility ant
telecommunications companies and other owner/oprraf infrastructure facilities throughout the tdai States.

Available | nformation

We are currently subject to the information repatrequirements of the Securities Exchange Actveadile annual, quarterly a
special reports and other information with the SB@r SEC filings are available to the public ovee tnternet at the SEC's w
site athttp://www.sec.gov Our SEC filings are also available at our webatte@ww.englobal.com You may also read and cc
any document we file at the SEC's public referanoen at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20002ase call the SEC at 1-
800-SEC-0330 for further information on the pulseéerence room.

ENGIlobal Website

You can find financial and other information ab&NGIlobal at the Company's website at the URL addreewn.englobal.com
Copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quartezports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Forig, &nd amendments
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Secfi8(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are providext fof charge through t
Company's website and are available as soon asnaaly practicable after filing electronically otherwise furnishing reports
the SEC. Information relating to corporate govengat ENGlobal, including: (i) our Code of Busin€zsnduct and Ethics for .
of our employees, including our Chief Executive i€Hf and Chief Financial Officer; (ii) our Code &thics for our Chie
Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officersi) (information concerning our Directors and ourédBd Committees, includit
Committee charters; and (iv) information concerniramsactions in ENGlobal securities by Directand afficers, is available «
our website under the Investor Relations link. @Quabsite and the information contained therein amnexted thereto are 1
intended to be incorporated into this Annual RemortForm 10K. We will provide any of the foregoing informatioifor ¢
reasonable fee, upon written request to InvestdatiRes, ENGlobal Corporation, 654 North Sam HoosRarkway East, Su
400, Houston, Texas 77060-5914.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Business Segments

Our segments are strategic business units that diffierent services and products and thereforaiiregdifferent marketing at
management strategies. In addition to internal gnowistorically, our segments have grown througategic acquisitions, whi
also served to augment management expertise.

Percentage of Revenue

Segments 2011 2010 2009
Engineering and Construction 56.1% 52.6% 44.7%
Automation 19.%% 16.2% 21.1%
Field Solutions 24.(% 31.2% 34.2%

100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Engineering and Construction Segment

Selected Financial Data

2011 2010 2009
(amounts in thousands)
Revenue $ 175,38 $ 161,10: $ 153,67!
Operating profit $ 783 $ (567 $ 4,597
Total assets $ 54,46 $ 53,33 $ 53,68¢

General

The Engineering and Construction segment provigegices relating to the development, managementeaiedution of projec
requiring professional engineering and relatedgmiogervices primarily to the midstream and dovesstr sectors throughout
United States. Our Engineering and Constructionmsed offers feasibility studies, engineering, desigrocurement ai
construction management. The Engineering and Qaoigin segment includes the government serviceapgravhich provide
engineering, design, installation and operationmathtenance of various government, public seatdriaternational facilities.

ENGlobal's engineering staff has the capabilitge¥eloping a project from the initial planning staghrough detailed design
construction management. Our services include:

. conceptual studie
. project definition

. cost estimating

. engineering desig

. environmental complianc
. material procuremer

. project managemel

. facility inspection; an
. construction manageme

The Engineering and Construction segment offergda wange of services as a single source provider.

The Engineering and Construction segment currexgbrates through ENGlobal's wholbyvned subsidiaries, ENGlobal U.S., |
and ENGlobal Government Services, Inc. ENGlobal. Ur&. focuses on providing its services to thestrieam and downstre:
segments of the oil and gas industry, chemical@etcbchemical manufacturers, utilities and altéweagnergy developers. It a
provides its services via iplant personnel assigned to client locations thhoug the United States. ENGlobal U.S., Inc.
focuses on energy infrastructure projects in thetddnStates by offering personnel and services gmilgn in the areas
construction, construction management, procesd planaround management, plant asset managementnissioning and start-
up.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

The Engineering and Construction segment has pgidtianket service contracts under which it progiddents either wit
services on a time-and-material basis or with sewvion a fixegrice basis. The Company strives to establish Ioriger
“alliance” or “preferred providertelationships with its clients that can be expediecgrovide a steadier stream of work
addition, this segment provides outsourced perdaoneNGlobal clients, a service that contributesatmore stable business |
for the Company. Our Engineering and Constructegnsent operates out of offices in Baton Rouge amdcelCharles, Louisiar
Beaumont, Houston and Freeport, Texas; Tulsa, ©ktah Chicago, lllinois; and Denver, Colorado.

ENGlobal Government Services, Inc. primarily pre@ddautomated fuel handling systems and maintersere&es to branches
the U.S. military and public sector entities. Otlebents of this division are government agencie§ineries, petrochemical a
process industry customers worldwide. The GoverrirBenvices group can provide electrical and insgoninstallation, technic
services, on-going maintenance, as well as caidirand repair services.

As a servicebased business, the Engineering and Constructigmesg is more labor than capital intensive. Ouultesprimarily
depend on our ability to generate revenue and aodlash in excess of any cost for employees andfilgnmaterial, equipme
and subcontracts, plus our selling, general andrasirative (SG&A) expenses.

The Engineering and Construction segment deriveenige primarily from time-andhaterial fees charged for professional
technical services, but its net income is deriveiharily from services it provides to the oil anédsgindustry, utilities ar
alternative energy developers. The segment alsrsirtto contracts providing for the execution adjects on a fixegrice basis
whereby some, or all, of the project activitiesatetl to engineering, material procurement and cactgtn (EPC) are perform
for a fixed-price amount.

As a result of dramatic decreases in prices forggheommodities, lower profit spreads for downstneaperators and a mc
difficult financing environment, we experiencedramatic decrease in spending by the majority ofabents during 2009, 201
and 2011. This reduction was most evident in thmekiic refining and petrochemical industries, s thuch of our work in th
area consisted of maintenance, small capital ietanfl safety, regulatory and compliance drivenkv@ompetition also increas
greatly for the limited amount of project work dretmarket. As a result of stabilization of the emag in 2011, we experience:
stabilization of our revenues with projects consgstmainly of maintenance work.

In August 2009, the Company acquired the operatdf®C| Management and Consulting Company (“PCGi"private lllinois
based power consulting business. PCI provided eeging and project management services, speciglimiprojects related to
steam and power generation, substation designctumlersions and the transmission and distributfoenergy.




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Competition

Our Engineering and Construction segment compeithsatarge number of public and private firms afious sizes, ranging frc
the industry's largest firms, which operate on adwide basis, to much smaller regional and logah$. Many of our competito
are larger than we are and have significantly grefihancial and other resources available to ttleam we do. However, t
largest firms in our industry are sometimes ouerds, as they perform as program managers forlaegg scale projects and tt
subcontract a portion of their work to ENGlobal. \Wleo have many competitors who are smaller thaamend who, as a res
may be able to offer services at more competitivees.

Competition is primarily centered on performance &me ability to provide the engineering, plannangd project delivery skil

required for completing projects in a timely andstegfficient manner. The technical expertise of oumagement team a
technical personnel and the timeliness and quafityur support services are key competitive factors

Automation Segment

Selected Financial Data

2011 2010 2009
(amounts in thousands)
Revenue $ 62,21¢ $ 49,65 $ 72,32
Operating profit $ 2037 $ (1,927 $  4,56¢
Total assets $ 23247 $ 24,88 $ 23,52

General

The Automation segment provides services relatetigalesign, fabrication and implementation of pescdistributed control a
analyzer systems, advanced automation, informatemhnology and heat tracing projects primarily tee tupstream ai
downstream sectors throughout the United Stateselss specific projects in the Middle East anchi€a Asia. This segment a
designs, assembles, integrates and services ccoemiblinstrumentation systems for specific applaceti in the energy a
processing related industries. These services féeeed to clients in the petroleum refining, petiemical, pipeline, productic
process and pulp and paper industries througheuttiited States and Canada as well as the Middie d&wal the Caribbean. T
Automation segment operates through ENGlobal's tmined subsidiary, ENGlobal U.S., Inc. and derivegenue from bot
time-and-material fees and fees charged for prifeakand technical services on a fixgdee basis. As a service provider,
Automation segment is more labor than capital isiten The segment's results primarily depend on adility to accuratel
estimate costs on fixed-price contracts, genemterrue and collect amounts due under timesaaterial contracts in excess of
cost of employees and benefits, material, equipnseticontracts, and applicable SG&A expenses.

Our Automation segment operates out of officesatoB Rouge, Louisiana; Beaumont and Houston, TexrasMobile, Alabama.

In April 2010, the Company acquired selected assk@ontrol Dynamics International, LP (“CDI"), aipately-held automatio
firm based in Houston, Texas. CDI designs and nwtufes industrial automation control systems prilpndor the upstreal
energy industry. CDI offers certain proprietary guots, such as the Dolphil Universal Master Control Station (MCS), wh
can be configured to most subsea control proj&iis.also has expertise in blowout preventer corgystems, supervisory cont
and data acquisition systems (SCADA), and FloaBrgduction Storage and Offloading (FPSO) turretidgte protection systerr
The services that CDI provides complement the sesvicurrently performed by the Automation segmert should allo\
ENGlobal to expand further into the upstream market




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Competition

Our Automation segment competes with a large nurobgublic and private firms of various sizes, ramggfrom the industry
largest firms, which operate on a worldwide bagismuch smaller regional and local firms. Many of @ompetitors are larg
than we are and have significantly greater findnaiad other resources available to them than weWe. also have ma
competitors who are smaller than we are and wha,rasult, may be able to offer services at morepsiitive prices.

Competition is primarily centered on performance &me ability to provide the engineering, assenaig integration required
complete projects in a timely and cedticient manner. The technical expertise of ounagement team and technical persa
and the timeliness and quality of our support sswviare key competitive factors.

Field Solutions Segment

Selected Financial Data

2011 2010 2009
(amounts in thousands)
Revenue $ 75,14« $ 95,48 $ 117,46!
Operating profit $ 16C $ 367¢ $ 7,47
Total assets $ 1534« $ 19,70 $ 24,70¢

General

Our Field Solutions segment provides inspectiond lmanagement, right-afay, environmental compliance, legislative aff
support and governmental regulatory compliance isesvprimarily to the midstream sector, includinigpgtine, utility anc
telecommunications companies and other owner/oprraf infrastructure facilities throughout the tdad States.

The need to transport new sources of energy igpthmary driver that results in demand for our rigbf-way and inspectic
services, including pipelines and electric powansmission lines, as well as their related faesitiFor example, rights-efay art
required for pipelines that transport oil and gas1f imported sources and from newly developed eskerve basins in the U
Rights-ofway are also required for new electric power trassion lines needed to decongest circuits nearlptipo centers ar
to transport a growing amount of wind and solar poWecated in remote areas. In most cases, thghestofways are acquire
prior to the construction phase of the project.

Once the construction phase of the project comngrENGlobal provides qualified/certified inspecténsough our inspectic
division. Included within the scope of our inspeatiservices is construction management, weldingeicison, coating and linit
inspection, valves and assembly, pressure vesseld)anical and associated plant and field proagsipment oversight, structu
fabrication, field fabrication, shop fabricated glpackages, turnkey responsibility for third painyerpretations, process sal
management data, ultrasonic thickness and flawctiete magnetic particle examination, liquid peattrexamination, hydroste
testing and pigging, holiday testing and vacuurtirigs

The Field Solutions segment derives revenue frometndmaterial fees charged for professional and techseavices and, as
service company, is more labor than capital intensResults for the Field Solutions segment pritpatepend on its ability -
generate revenue and collect cash under timenzatdrial contracts in excess of costs for employaes$ benefits, materi.
equipment, subcontracts, and SG&A expenses.

Our Field Solutions segment operates out of officeldouston, Texas; Denver, Colorado; and Tulsdaldma, as well as ott
satellite offices across the United States.

Competition




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

The Field Solutions segment competes with a rafigenall and mid-size firms that provide rightywgy mapping, title assistan
appraisals, landowner negotiations and inspectovices.

Competition is primarily centered on retaining exgeced inspectors, landsmen and other qualifierfegsionals. Inspecti
personnel must have knowledge of integrity serviteserve oil and gas pipelines and related faaslitin addition, inspecti
specialists must have a thorough understandingeérqmental and public regulatory factors, as waelh firm grasp on health ¢
safety issues that are involved in any constructiomironment. Inspectors must hold certificatioos Welding, field fabricatio
and shop fabricated packages, pressure vesselgsvahd assemblies and structural fabrication. laantright-ofway specialist
must have a thorough understanding of governmeadl public regulatory requirements. These profeséso must consid
socioeconomic and environmental factors and coatdiplanning for the relocation of utilities, digpkd persons and busines
Also, they must often assist in developing replaseimhousing units, which may involve the expenditwf large sum
condemnation, damages, restriction of access aniasicomplicating factors. Retaining these quatifi skilled professionals
crucial to the operation of our Field Solutionsrsegt.

Acquisitions and Sales

In the past, we have expanded our business thrbatfhinternal initiatives and through strategic @siions. These acquisitio
allowed us to (i) expand our client base and timgeaof services that we provide to our client9,ddd new technical capabilit
that can be marketed to our existing client baisig¢,gfow our business geographically, and (iv) twap more of each projec
value. In 2011, we did not target acquisitions &shglieved the time and expense required would aakay from the success
execution of our Company strategy. In 2012, as pérbur Strategic Initiative, we plato continue to evaluate and as:
acquisition opportunities that will either complemeur existing business base or that will provieldGlobal with addition:
capabilities or geographical coverage.

Historically, ENGIlobal has transitioned acquisisaimder the ENGlobal brand name as soon as feagitam the size and scope
of the acquisition, but typically within two yearBhis strengthens ENGIlobal's market position awersified supplier of
engineering and related services and takes adwaonfagNGlobal's reputation for quality in all ofetilservices the Company
provides. Smaller acquisitions are almost immedjatkentified as a division of an existing segment.

Seasonality

Our revenues are generated by services, and therredtidays and employee vacations during our foquarter exert downward
pressure on revenues for that quarter, which ig paitially offset by the year-end efforts on thetpf many clients to spend any
remaining funds budgeted for services and capiateditures during the year. Our clients' annudlget process is normally
completed in the first quarter, which can slow d@leard of new work at the beginning of the yeaméipally due to these factors,
our first and fourth quarters are typically lesbust than our second and third quarters.

Business Strategy

Our objective is to strengthen the Company's pmsiis a leading full service provider of projeclivdey services to the ener
industry by enhancing our overall range of captiediin the areas of engineering and construcéatpmation and field solutio
services.

In October 2011, our Executive Management Teantedesa Strategic Plan for 2012 which included treation of a new strategy
for growth organically, through joint venture ararmership arrangements and through acquisitions.dompany believes
organic growth will occur with the improvement hlretglobal economy, our improved employee basetlamdbility to take
advantage of cross-selling under the One Englaldale. We also plan to make strategic acquisitiwite companies that have
positive synergies and that will either expandtifpes of services we perform or expand our geogcagiach.

10




ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Sales and Marketing

ENGlobal derives revenue primarily from three sesrq1) business development, (2) preferred profatiance agreements w
strategic clients, and (3) referrals from existougtomers and industry members.

Our Senior Vice President of Business Developmempesrises our imouse business development assigned to client
territories within the United States. Client redau$hips are nurtured by our geographic advantadenahg office locations ne
our larger customers. By having clients in closexpnity, we are able to provide single, dedicateihfs of contact. Our grow
depends in large measure on our ability to attaact retain qualified business development managsisbusiness developm
personnel with a respected reputation in the enémdustry. Management believes thathiouse marketing allows for mc
accountability and control, thus increasing prduiligy .

Our business development focuses on building lengrtrelationships with customers and clients ineori providesolution:
throughout the life-cycle of their facilities. Aditinally, we seek to capitalize on crasslling opportunities among our vari
segments Engineering and Construction, Automation and F&tddutions. Sales leads are often jointly developed pursued t
the business development personnel from theseusasegments.

We have also formed relationships with internati@agents and companies with the plan to partnesedect international projet
in certain jurisdictions. However, we will only pmure international opportunities if we believe tliek rprofile is appropriat
Additionally, ENGlobal expects to primarily providservices for international clients from its U.Sfiaes rather than openi
offices overseas. Finally, since our clients tyfljcaonsist of large integrated oil and gas companiith worldwide busine
operations, we will attempt to leverage our exptifient relationships to showcase our capabiliiiesheir international projec
We are currently pursuing projects in the Middlest:-&nited Arab Emirates, South America and Africa.

Products and services are also promoted througte tealvertising, participation in industry conferemcand odine Interne
communication via our corporate home page/atv.englobal.com The ENGlobal site provides information about operating
segments and illustrates our Company's full rarffggetvices and capabilities. We use internal artdreal resources to maint
and update our website on an ongoing basis. ThrtheyENGlobal website, we seek to provide visitmmd investors with a sing
point of contact for obtaining information about GMbal's services.

ENGlobal develops preferred provider and alliangeeaments with clients in order to facilitate retpleasiness. These prefer
provider agreements, also known as master sergigeements or umbrella agreements, are typicallytoathree years in leng
Although the agreement is not a guarantee for worler a certain project, ENGlobal generally offarslightly reduced billin
structure to clients willing to commit to arrangertethat are expected to provide a steady streawodf. With the terms of tt
contract settled, add-on projects with these custerare easier to negotiate and can be accepteklyguithout the necessity af
bidding process. Management believes that thesseammts can serve to stabilize projeettered operations in the Enginee
and Construction segment.

Much of our business is repeat business and wimtoeluced to new customers in many cases by adéefirom existing custome
and industry members. Management believes refenaketing provides the opportunity for increasedfipability becaus
referrals do not involve direct selling. Rathereythallow satisfied customers to sell our servicad products on our beh:
ENGlobal strives to develop our clients' trust, #meh benefits by word-of-mouth referrals.

Our past acquisition program has provided the hieokéxpanding our existing customer base and easfgservicesManagemet
believes that crosselling among our businesses is an effective walguitd client loyalty by solidifying the client ralionship
thereby reducing attrition and increasing the ilifiet profitability of each project. The Company alsdieves that crosselling cau
help ensure more predictable revenue and can hestaeffective way to grow our business as custoraeesable to reali
efficiencies as well as leverage results from usirsingle supplier for multiple products and sessic
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Customers

Our customer base consists primarily of Fortune B8fhpanies in the energy industry. While we do have continuin
dependence on any single client or a limited grofiglients, one or a few clients may contributeudstantial portion of ol
revenue in any given year or over a period of sdveonsecutive years due to the longevity of majajects, such as facili
upgrades or expansions. ENGlobal may work for mdifferent subsidiaries or divisions of our clientghich involves multipl
parties to material contracts. The loss of a sicglgract award would not likely have a materigb&ut on our financial resultsu
the loss of a single large customer, across maltiplisions within the same customer, or the reductiodemand for our servic
by several customers in the same ywauld likely have such an effect. The Company coms to focus substantial attentior
improving customer services in order to enhandsfaation and increase customer retention.

Revenue generated through sources such as ingtlffing and preferred provider relationships amggerterm in nature and &
not typically limited to one project. For examptayr Engineering and Construction segment providgsonrced technical a
other personnel that are assigned to work at clamaitions. In the past, these assignments oftan spultiple projects and multig
years, and although these engagements involveex lmargin, they help contribute to a steady streémork.

A major longterm trend among our clients and their industrynterparts has been outsourcing engineering servides tren:
has fostered the development of ongoing, longentelient arrangements, rather than dinee limited engagements. Thi
arrangements vary in scope, duration and degreeramitment. While there is typically no guarantkattwork will result fron
these agreements, often the arrangements formattie for a longeterm client relationship. Despite their variety, baieve the
these partnering relationships have a stabilizimfuénce on our revenue. These engagements maydprder any of th
following:

« aminimum number of work mameurs over a specified peri

» the provision of at least a designated percentégfeecclient's requiremen

+ the designation of the Company as the client's aeplereferred source of services at specific l@retior on specif
projects; or

« anonbinding preference or intent, or a general contracframework, for what the parties expect will de ongoin
relationship.

Overall, our ten largest customers, who vary frame period to the next, accounted for 49% of oualttvenue for 2011 , 53
total revenue for 2010 and 50% of total revenue 009 . Most of our projects are specific in nature anel generally hay
multiple projects with the same clients. If we wéodose one or more of our significant clients avete unable to replace th
with other customers or other projects, our busingsuld be materially adversely affected. Our topeé clients in 201vere
BASF Corporation , ExxonMobil and Chevroreven though we frequently receive work from repdints, our client list me
vary significantly from year to year. Our potentigvenue in all segments is dependent on contintgtationships with ot
customers.

Engineering and Construction Segme

In the Engineering and Construction segment, auitaegest customers vary from one year to the righése customers accour
for 63% of our total revenue for 2011 , 73% of totvenue for 2010 and 67% of total revenue for200his segment's top thi
clients in 2011 were BASF Corporation , Chevron BmdonMobil .

Although the Engineering and Construction segmeatjUently receives work from repeat clients, iterdl list may var
significantly from year to year. In order to gertereevenue in future years, we must continue efftartobtain new engineering ¢
construction management projects. Thelaat division within the Engineering and Constroetsegment generates the maijc
of its revenue through in-plant staffing and comdtion related staffing at field locations. We coles all of these longeterm ir
nature and not typically limited to one project.

Automation Segmer
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

In the Automation segment, our ten largest custemary from one year to the next. These customersumted for 62%f oul
total revenue for 2011 , 62% of total revenue f@t@ and 76% of total revenue for 2009 . This sediméop three clients iA011
were Formosa Plastics Corporation , Anadarko Médstr and Caspian Pipeline Consortium . Foreign mueste accounted fdt%
of our Automation segment revenue for 2011 , 2%\ofomation segment revenue for 2010 and 1@#utomation segme
revenue for 2009 We closed our Calgary office in 2010; howevessléghan 1% and 3% of our revenue came from our ar
operations in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Although the Automation segment frequently receimesk from repeat clients, its client list may vasignificantly from year t
year. The Automation Segment's clients are primanilthe midstream and downstream process indsstaied their needs res
primarily from requirements to upgrade obsoletdritisted control systems or process analytical gapeint. Until 2011, w
provided industrial electrical maintenance servicespert supervision and craft labor to our cliemsdownstream pow
generation facilities. This division was classif@ésla discontinued operation effective Septembe@0D1.

Field Solutions Segmer

In the Field Solutions segment, our ten largestarusrs vary from one year to the next. These custsmccounted for 78%f oul
total revenue for 2011 , 78% of total revenue fOL@ and 77% of total revenue for 2009 . Our toehclients in 201ivere
Spectra Energy , Ruby Pipeline and Magellan MidstrePartners The Field Solutions segment's clients currentiysis
primarily of pipeline operators or electric utiéi, with both types of clients having needs to aequghts-ofway for pipelines ¢
electric transmission.

Though the Field Solutions segment frequently nexivork from repeat clients, its client list magry significantly from year
year with outsourced rights-efay, inspectors and other personnel assigned tk wbiproject sites across the United Sti
Factors affecting our Field Solutions business Hrat beyond our control include client spendingufatory requirements, tit
assistance, landowner negotiations and eminent idecoademnation proceedings. Typically, backlog irs thegment is mao
difficult to ascertain due to these factors.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Contracts

We generally enter into two principal types of cants with our clients: time-and-material contraamsl fixedprice contracts. O
mix of net revenue between time-and-material axeldfprice contracts is shown in the table below. Oiants typically determir
the type of contract to be utilized for a particldmgagement, with the specific terms and conditioiha contract resulting fron
negotiation process between the Company and antcli

Time-and-material % Fixed-price %
(revenue in thousands)
Engineering and Constructior  $ 160,35t $ 15,03:
Automation 18,76 43,44
Field Solutions 75,07¢ 68
Total company $ 254,19¢ 81.2% $ 58,54¢ 18.7%

+ Time-and-Material. Under our time-andaaterial contracts, we are paid for labor at eithegotiated hourly billing rates
multiple of our actual labor rate or through reirgementfor allowable hourly rates and other expenses. Veéepaid fo
material and contracted services at an agreed oqgtiplier of our cost, and at times we pass tedmr costs for equipme
materials and subcontractor services through watipnofit. Profitability on these contracts is dnivby billable headcount, t
amount of non-labor related services and cost obrittany of these contracts have upper limits, mefe to as “not-to-exceed”
amounts. Generally, our scope is not defined urdénot-to-exceed’agreement, and we are not under any obligati
provide services beyond the limits of the contrdiett if we generate costs and billings that excémdupper limits of tr
contract ceiling or are not allowable, we may bahla to obtain reimbursement for the excess casthér, the continuatic
of each contract partially depends upon the custsrdéescretionary periodic assessment of our perémrce on that contract.

» Fixed-Price . Under a fixed-price contract, we provide the oostr a total project for an agreagen price, subject to proje
circumstances and changes in scope. Fpuak projects vary in size and may include engingeactivities and relatt
services, responsibility for the procurement of eniats and equipment, and oversight of the constmicthrough
subcontractor. Fixegfice contracts carry certain inherent risks, idalg risks of losses from underestimating costiaydeir
project completion, problems with new technologtls, impact of the economy on labor shortageseaszs in equipment &
materials costs, natural disasters, and other sveamd changes that may occur over the contracbghefinother risk is ot
ability to secure written change orders prior tonaoencing work on contract changes in scope, witlchith we may ne
receive payment for work performed. Consequenttly,fdrofitability of fixed-price contracts may vasybstantially.

Backlog

Backlog represents an estimate of gross revenadl afvarded contracts that have not been completedwill be recognized
revenue over the life of the project. Although Hagkreflects business that we consider to be ficamcellations or sco
adjustments may occur. Further, most contracts waliimts may be terminated by either party at willwhich case the clie
would only be obligated to us for services providieugh the termination date. As a result, no i@s8es can be given that
amounts included in backlog will ultimately be igat. In addition, it is not clear how our backldl be impacted by current
future economic conditions.

At December 31, 2011 , our backlog was approxirge®802.0 million compared to an estimated $244.%oniat December 3:
2010 . We expect the majority of our backlog tacbmpleted during 2012 .
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

The backlog at December 31, 2011 consists of $2milidn with commercial customers and $27.0 milliwith the United Statt
government. Backlog on federal programs includdg tive portion of the contract award that has biesed. The backlog f
each of our segments at December 31, 2011 wadlawgo

Engineering and Construction segment $ 124.C million
Automation segment 101.7 million
Field Solutions segment 76.2 million

Backlog includes gross revenue under two typesanfracts: (1) contracts for which work authorizaichave been received o
fixed-price basis or time-and-material projectst thiee well defined, and (2) time-amdaterial evergreen contracts at an asst
12 month run-rate, under which we place employéesiaclients' site to perform day-ttay project efforts. There is no assurz
as to the percentage of backlog that will be recghunder either type of contract.

Customer Service and Support

We provide service and technical support to outarusrs in varying degrees depending upon the bssiliee and on custon
contractual arrangements. The Company's technteél grovides initial telephone support services fts customers. The
services include isolating and verifying reportedures and authorizing repair services in suppbrtustomer requirements. \
also provide orsite engineering support if a technical issue cabearesolved over the telephone. On projects fuckvwe hav
provided engineered systems, we provide on-sitfa@cceptance tests and worldwide stgrtand commissioning services.
also pass through the manufacturers' limited wayreoverage for products we re-sell. The Compsesks to provide experient
customer service representatives in order to aehimreased client satisfaction and loyalty.

Dependence Upon Suppliers

Our ability to provide clients with services andt®ms in a timely and competitive manner dependhemvailability of produc
and parts from our suppliers at competitive priaad on reasonable terms. Our suppliers are nogatbli to have products
hand for timely delivery nor can they guaranteedpicd availability in sufficient quantities to mesir demands. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain necessapplies at prices or on terms we find acceptatevever, in an effort i
maximize availability and maintain quality contrele generally procure components from multiple ritistors on our client
behalf and in some cases we can take advantaggiohal agreements our clients may have entered int

For example, all of the product components useduyAutomation segment are fabricated using compiznand materials tF
are available from numerous domestic manufactadssuppliers. There are approximately fiwancipal suppliers of distributt
control systems, each of which can be replacecthiggaially viable competitor, and our clients tyflicdirect the selection of the
preferred supplier. No one manufacturer or vendoviges products that account for more than 1%uwfrevenueThus, in th:
vast majority of cases, wanticipate little or no difficulty in obtaining cgmonents in sufficient quantities and in a timelyrmar tc
support our manufacturing and assembly operatiorthé Automation segment. Units produced throughAhtomation segme
are normally not produced for inventory and compamparts; rather, they are typically purchased masneeded basis. By bei
vendor neutral, ENGlobal is able to provide quaté@ghnology and platforms for the design of plarstems such as 3D modeli
process simulation and other technical applications

Despite the foregoing, our Automation segment setie certain suppliers for necessary componentgteard can be no assura
that these components will continue to be availablecceptable terms. If a vendor does not contiowentract with us, it may
difficult to obtain alternative sources of suppljtivout a material disruption in our ability to pide products and services to
customers. While we do not believe that such augison is likely, if it did occur, it could have raaterial adverse effect on «
financial condition and results of operations.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)

Patents, Trademarks, Licenses

Our success depends in part upon our ability téept@ur proprietary technology, which we do priityathrough protection of ol
trade secrets and confidentiality agreements. thitiad, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office reged our “Integrated Rack"
patent application in 2008.

Our trade names are protected by registration #saséy common law trademark rights. Our tradenfarkhe use of “ENGlobal”
®in connection with our products is registered witie U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and we claamron law tradema
rights for “ENGlobal” ™ in connection with our services. We also have pegpdirademark applications forlEhgineered fc
Growth” ®and we claim common law trademark rights for “Globhinking...Global Solutions™ , “CARES - Communicatin
Appropriate Responses in Emergency Situatidis”“Flare-Mon” ™ | “Purchased Data™ , “viMAC” ™ , “ENGlobal Vu* ™,
“riFAT” ™, and “ENGlobal Power Island$” .

There can be no assurance that the protective mesasie currently employ will be adequate to prewbetunauthorized use
disclosure of our technology, or the independeirdtiparty development of the same or similar tedbgy. Although ou
competitive position to some extent depends onadility to protect our proprietary and trade seénérmation, we believe th
other factors, such as the technical expertise larmviedge base of our management and technicabipees as well as tl
timeliness and quality of the support services wigle, will also help us to maintain our compestiposition.

Government Regulations

ENGlobal and certain of our subsidiaries are sulifpwarious foreign, federal, state, and localdaamd regulations relating to «
business and operations, and various health anetysaégulations established by the Occupationaletgaind Healt
Administration (OSHA). The Company and our professi staff are subject to a variety of state, lomadl foreign licensin
registration and other regulatory requirements guwng the practice of engineering and other profesd disciplines. Fc
example, OSHA requires Process Safety Managementragent the release of hazardous chemicals, thearbeent c
Transportation (DOT) requires that pipeline opestare in full compliance with pipeline safety ré&gions, and th
Environmental and Protection Agency (EPA) provideentives to reduce chemical emissions. Curremtyare not aware of a
situation or condition relating to the regulatiohtbe Company, its subsidiaries, or personnel tmatbelieve is likely to have
material adverse effect on our results of operatmmfinancial condition.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011 , the Company and its didrgés employed 1,943 individuals. Of these empésy 1,245wvere
employed in engineering and related positions, @Bfe employed as inspectors, 267 were employedascp support staff73
were employed in technical production positions, vBdre employed in administration, finance and mamsyg informatio
systems and 24vere employed in sales and marketing. We beliexd tur ability to recruit and retain highly skilleshc
experienced technical, sales and management p&isbas been and will continue to be critical to aibility to execute ol
business plan. None of our employees is represdmytedabor union or is subject to a collectivedaaning agreement. We belie
that relations with our employees are good.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (continued)
Benefit Plans

ENGlobal sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing planiferemployees. Until January 2009, the Company nmadthing contributior
equal to 66.66% of employee contributions up to 62&employee compensation for regular (as distingrasfrom project ¢
contract) employees. All other employees exceptimgpection personnel were matched at 50% of enggl@pntribution up to 6
of compensation, as defined by the plan. The Compainthe direction of the Board of Directors, ntagke other discretione
contributions. Our employees may elect to make rdmurtions pursuant to a salary reduction agreenu@oin meeting age a
length-ofservice requirements. On January 1, 2009, due ¢oozgic conditions, the Company elected to redusemiaitch o
regular employees to 50% and all other employeespbour pipeline inspectors to 33.33% of employaaributions up to 6%

employee compensation. On April 4, 2009, the Comipected to suspend its match to all employedeckbée October 21, 201
the Company reinstated the employer matwh25% of employee contributions up to 6% of emplycompensation for

employees. The Company made contributions of $186,550 , and $981,768 , respectively, for the yeardedDecember 3:
2011, 2010, and 2009 .

Geographic Areas

In prior years, we had business operations in @glgalberta but we currently do not have Canadigerations. Our U.S. a
Canadian revenues over the last three years were:

2011 2010 2009
(dollars in thousands)
US operations revenue $ 312,74 $ 305,89 $ 341,62¢
Canadian operations revenue — 34z 1,83:
Total revenue $ 312,74° $ 306,23¢ $ 343,46

Long-lived assets consist of property, plant andiggent, net of depreciation (“PPEQur U.S. and Canadian PPE over the
three years were:

2011 2010 2009
(dollars in thousands)
US operations PPE $ 3,38¢ % 4.41¢ $ 5,967
Canadian operations PPE — — 16
Total PPE $ 3,38¢ $ 4,41¢ $ 5,98:

ENGlobal was awarded an engineering, procuremeadtcammissioning services agreement from the Cadgiigeline
Consortium (CPC). Granted under two contracts,toribe Russian Federation and one to the RepubKapakhstan, the three-
phase award is expected to have a total valueprbapnately $85 million over four years. As prevatyiannounced by CPC, its
shareholders agreed to launch the Expansion Projastruction on April 19, 2011.

Under the Russian Federation contract, ENGlabsdbpe includes engineering, procuring equipnierildings, programming, ar
fabrication of 230 control system panels for eigéiv pump stations and the upgrade of three exigtimgp stations, storage
facilities, and marine terminal. The contract fagRblic of Kazakhstan consists of engineering, riog equipment, buildings,
and fabrication of 78 control system panels for tveav and two existing pump stations, start-up awdmissioning services for
the local control systems and valves.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Set forth below and elsewhere in this Report anatlier documents that we file with the SEC aresriskd uncertainties that co
cause actual results to differ materially from thsults contemplated by the forwdmbking statements contained in this Rej
You should be aware that the occurrence of anhetvents described in these risk factors and élsenin this Report could he
a material adverse effect on our business, findooiadition and results of operations and that ug@noccurrence of any of the
events, the trading price of our common stock calgdine.

Our indebtedness could limit our ability to finance future operations or engage in other business activities.
As of December 31, 2011 , we had $16.4 millafrtotal outstanding indebtedness against our wéwvglline of credit, which i
currently limited to $30.4 million .

Significant factors that could increase our inddhess and/or limit our ability to finance futuresogtions include:

o our inability to extend the senior revolving crefiitility past its current end date of May 31, 2@#2replace
with alternative financing;

> our ability to meet current credit facility finamtiratios and covenan

o our inability to collect accounts receivable witltontractual term

o client demands for extending contract payment t¢

o material losses and/or negative cash flows on figmit projects; ar

o clients' failure to pay our invoices timely duestmonomic conditions or caus

The Company was not in compliance with all of itvenants under the Wells Fargo Credit Facility aBecember 31, 201anc
Wells Fargo waived its default rights with resptrthe breach for the fourth quarter of 2011. WEklsgo has extended the !
date of the line of credit from April 30, 2012 toay131, 2012. We are working on closing a new lifieredit, which we belie\
will have terms better than those of our existingdd facility, on or before May 31, 2012. Howeveven with a new line of crec
our indebtedness could limit our ability to expamwdengage in other business activities, and woalcela material adverse imp
on our financial condition.

Our future revenue depends on our ability to consistently bid and win new contracts, provide high quality, cost-effective
services, and to maintain and renew existing contracts. Our failure to effectively obtain future contracts could adversely affect
our profitability.

Our future revenue and overall results of operaticaguire us to successfully bid on new contrgmtsyide high quality, cost-
effective services, and renew existing contractmtfact proposals and negotiations are complexfrggliently involve a lengtt
bidding and selection process, which is affectecaliyumber of factors, such as market conditiomaniting arrangements ¢
required governmental approvals. For example, entlinay require us to provide a bond or letterreflit to protect the clie
should we fail to perform under the terms of thetcact. When negative market conditions arisef @re fail to secure adequi
financial arrangements or required governmentat@gmds, we may not be able to pursue particulajegts, which could adverse
affect our profitability. These factors have impatbur operations in the past several years andcoraynue to do so.

Thefailureto attract and retain key professional personnel could adversely affect the Company.

Our success depends on attracting and retaininkifigdgersonnel even in an environment where thietracting process is mc
difficult. We are dependent upon our ability toratt and retain highly qualified managerial, techhiand business developm
personnel. In particular, competition for key magragnt personnel continues to be intense. We camnatertain that we w
retain our key managerial, technical and busines®ldpment personnel or be able to attract or dlsderkey personnel in tl
future. Failure to attract and retain such persbamald materially adversely affect our businessgmncial position, results
operations and cash flows. This is a major riskdiathat could materially impact our operating fesu

Our dependence on one or a few customers could adversely affect us.

One or a few clients have in the past and may énfature contribute a significant portion of oumesolidated revenue in any ¢
year or over a period of several consecutive yéar2011 , our top three clients, BASF CorporatjdxxonMobil and Chevron
accounted for approximately 7% , 7% and 6% of enenue respectively. As our backlog
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)

frequently reflects multiple projects for individuelients, one major customer may comprise a sicguift percentage of c
backlog at any point in time. Because these sicgnifi customers generally contract with us for dpeprojects, we may lose the
in other years as their projects with us are cotapldf we do not continually replace them witheartlcustomers or other projet
our business could be materially adversely affecdsb, the majority of our contracts can be teraéd at will. Although we ha
long-standing relationships with many of our sigraht customers, our contracts with these custormer®n a project-bprojec
basis and the customers may unilaterally reducdismontinue their purchases at any time. In addjtiissatisfaction with tt
results of a single project could have a much mddespread impact on our ability to get additiopadjects from a single ma;
client. The loss of business from any one of sugstamers could have a material adverse effect arbosiness or results
operations.

Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and is, therefore, an uncertain indicator of our future
revenue or earnings.

As of December 31, 2011 , our backlog was approtéina302.0 million. We cannot assure investors that the revenueqec
in our backlog will be realized or, if realized,llwesult in profits. Projects currently in our lkémg may be canceled or may ren
in our backlog for an extended period of time ptmiproject execution and, once project executiegiits, it may occur unevel
over the current and multiple future periods. Iditidn, project terminations, suspensions or reidastin scope occur from time
time with respect to contracts reflected in ourkbag, reducing the revenue and profit we actuadlyeive from contracts reflect
in our backlog. Future project cancellations angpscadjustments could further reduce the dollaruarhof our backlog and t
revenue and profits that we actually earn. Thefigstdents are exacerbated by current economic tionsli

Acquisitions may adver sely affect our ability to manage our business.

Acquisitions have contributed to our growth in thast and we plan to continue making acquisitionstasms manageme
considers favorable to us. The successful acquisitif other companies involves an assessment ofefuevenue opportunitie
operating costs, economies and earnings afterdbeisition is complete, and potential industry dnginess risks and liabiliti
beyond our control. This assessment is necessimdlyact and its accuracy is inherently uncertaim.cbnnection with ot
assessments, we perform reviews of the acquidiéiayet that we believe to be generally consistetit imdustry practices. The
reviews, however, may not reveal all existing oteptial problems, nor will they permit a buyer tecbme sufficiently familic
with the target companies to assess fully theiictgicies and capabilities. We cannot assure yatvite will identify, finance ar
complete additional suitable acquisitions on acelptterms or that acquisitions we consummateheilprofitable. In addition, v
may not be able to successfully integrate futurguasitions into our existing operations. Any acdfios will require substanti
attention from our management, which may limit #gmeount of time that management can devote to daayooperations. O
inability to find attractive acquisition candidatesto effectively manage the integration of busses we acquire could adver:
affect our profitability.

Our dependence on subcontractors and equipment manufacturers could adversely affect us.

We rely on third party subcontractors as well asltharty suppliers and manufacturers to completepoojects. To the extent tl
we cannot engage subcontractors or acquire suppliesaterials, our ability to complete a projectartimely fashion may |
impaired. If the amount we are required to paytf@se goods and services exceeds the amount weehtingted in bidding fi
fixed-price or time-andnaterial contracts, we could experience losseheset contracts. In addition, if a subcontractosugpplie
is unable to deliver its services or materials adityy to the negotiated contract terms for any eaascluding the deterioration
its financial condition or ovecommitment of its resources, we may be requirgoutechase the services or materials from an
source at a higher price. This may reduce the jpmtbe realized or result in a loss on a projectwhich the services or materi
were needed.

If we are unable to collect our receivables, our results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.

Our business depends on our ability to successhffiiain payment from our clients of the amountsytb&e us for wor
performed and materials supplied. We bear thethiakour clients will pay us late or not at all.oligh we evaluate and attemp
monitor our clients' financial condition, therenis guarantee that we will accurately assess theditevorthiness. Even if they ¢
creditworthy, they may delay payments in an effort to agtheir cash flow. Financial difficulties or busss failure experienc
by one or more of our major customers has had antticin the future, continue to have a materialeside effect on both @
ability to collect receivables and our results pémtions.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)

Liability claims could result in losses.

Providing engineering and design services invothesrisk of contract, professional errors and oiissand other liability claim
as well as adverse publicity. Further, many of @amtracts require us to indemnify our clients nolydor our negligence, if an
but also for the concurrent negligence and, in soases, sole negligence of our clients. We cugrandintain liability insuranc
coverage, including coverage for professional srrand omissions. However, claims outside of or edirg our insuran
coverage may be made. A significant claim couldilitéa unexpected liabilities, take management tamey from operations, a
have a material adverse impact on our cash flow.

We may incur significant costs in providing services in excess of original project scope without having an approved change
order.

After commencement of a contract, we may perforithaut the benefit of an approved change order ftioencustomer, additior
services requested by the customer that were mieeplated in our contract price due to customenges or to incomplete
inaccurate engineering, project specifications, atter similar information provided to us by thestmmer. Our constructis
contracts generally require the customer to comgtenss for additional work or expenses incurredeurilese circumstances
long as we obtain prior written approval.

A failure to obtain adequate written approvals pteperforming the work could require us to recardadjustment to revenue i
profit recognized in prior periods under the petage-ofeompletion accounting method. Any such adjustmeiftsybstantia
could have a material adverse effect on our restltgperations and financial condition, particwafdr the period in which su:
adjustments are made. There can be no assuraricgehvell be successful in obtaining, through néggdn, arbitration, litigatio
or otherwise, approved change orders in an amaiffitient to compensate us for our additional, ysraped work or expenses.

Failure to maintain adeguate internal controls could adversely affect us.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective interratrols in accordance with Section 404 of the SaelsOxley Act could have
material adverse effect on our business and stdck.@ur internal controls over financial repogtimay not be adequate and
independent auditors may not be able to certifipakeir adequacy.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of imaf controls, we may not be able to accurately mtepor financial results
prevent fraud. If we identify deficiencies in omternal control over financial reporting, our bueses and our stock price could
adversely affected. We have, in the past, ideudtifi@terial weaknesses in our internal controls,\ahite these have been curec
we determine that we have further material wealewsscould affect our ability to ensure timelydameliable financial reports a
the ability of our auditors to attest to the effeehess of our internal controls. If our indepertdzuditors are not able to certify
adequacy of our internal controls, it could hasgmificant adverse effect on our business andtatioun.

Business conducted in many international markets involves complex and evolving tax rules, which subjects us to international
tax compliance risks.

Many of the foreign tax jurisdictions in which weténd to expand have complex and subjective ri@garding the valuation
inter-company services, crobsrder payments between affiliated companies aaddlated effects on the taxes to which we
subject, including income tax, valaelded tax and transfer tax. From time to time, fotgign subsidiaries will be subject to
audits and may be required to pay additional taixesrest or penalties should the taxing authaaggert different interpretatio
or different allocations or valuations, of our dees. There is a risk, if one or more taxing autres significantly disagree wi
our interpretations, allocations or valuations thay additional taxes, interest or penalties whedy result could be material ¢
could reduce our income and cash flow from oumriradonal operations.

Our business and operating results could be adversely affected by our inability to accurately estimate the overall risks, revenue
or costs on a contract.

Revenue recognition for a contract requires judgmmelative to assessing the contracts estimatdd,rievenue and costs
technical issues. Due to the size and nature ofyro&pur contracts, the estimation of overall rislkyenue and cost at complet
is complicated and subject to many variables. Chatig underlying assumptions, circumstances
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)

or estimates have in the past and may continudueraely affect future period financial performance

Our strategy to expand internationally may fail, which may impede our growth and harm our operating results.

We are currently planning expansion into new irdgiomal markets. The costs of entering the globatket, as well as setting
the infrastructure to manage international affamald be costly and consume valuable time of mdnyuo key executives. Oth
key challenges we will face in pursuing our intéimal strategy include the need to hire and tpErsonnel capable of support
customers and managing operations in foreign c@mstisecure commercial relationships to help estabdur presence

international markets, localize our products taétrthe specific needs and preferences of foreigiomers, which may diff
from our traditional customer base in the Unitedt&, implement new systems, procedures and cstitrehonitor our operatio
in new markets and obtain licenses or authorizatthat may be required to perform our servicestiatgonally.

In addition, we are subject to risks associatedch vaperating in foreign countries including multiplehanging and ofte
inconsistent enforcement of foreign ownership atietolaws and regulations that could have a diveatdirect adverse impact
our business and market opportunities; politicadl @@onomic instability; changes in local economiwienments, includin
inflation, recession and foreign currency excharage fluctuations; competition with existing marlgrticipants which have
longer history in and greater familiarity with tf@reign markets we enter; possible longer paymgakes for customers in sol
foreign countries; difficulty and expense assodatdth enforcement of agreements and collectiomegkivables through lec
systems in some foreign countries; and difficulbd @&xpense associated with managing a large omimzspread throughc
numerous foreign countries.

Many of these factors typically become more prevalduring periods of economic stress; thereforereru global econom
differences may exacerbate these risks. In additiompliance with foreign and U.S. laws and redoiet that are applicable to «
international operations will be complex and magréase our cost of doing business in internatignasdictions and ot
international operations could expose us to fined penalties if we fail to comply with these redidas. These laws a
regulations include U.S. laws such as the Foreigrrupt Practices Act. Although we are in the pracesimplementing policie
and procedures designed to ensure compliance hétbetlaws, there can be no assurance that our peeglocontractors a
agents will not take actions in violation of oudip@s. Any such violations could subject us toilodr criminal penalties and cot
also materially damage our reputation, our branu,international expansion efforts and our busireass$ negatively impact ¢
operating results. In addition, if we fail to adsethe challenges and risks associated with inierma expansion and acquisit
strategy, we may encounter difficulties implemegtour strategy, which could impede our growth anhaur operating results.

Force majeure events such as natural disasters could negatively impact the economy and the industries we service, which may
negatively affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Force majeure events, such as hurricanes, coulatively impact the economies of the areas in whighoperate. For examg
during 2008, Hurricanes Gustav and |ke caused derable damage along the Gulf Coast not only to réfeing an
petrochemical industry, but also the commercialnssg which competes for labor, materials and egaignesources neec
throughout the entire United States. In some casesemain obligated to perform our services adtaatural disaster even thol
our contracts may contain force majeure clauseshdse cases, if we are not able to react quickly/a negotiate contractt
relief on favorable terms to the Company, our opena may be significantly and adversely affectedich would have a negati
impact on our financial condition, results of openas and cash flows.

Unsatisfactory safety performance can affect customer relationships, result in higher operating costs and result in high
employee turnover.

Our workers are subject to the normal hazards &gedcwith providing services on constructions siged industrial facilitie
Even with proper safety precautions, these hazeaddead to personal injury, loss of life, damageotr destruction of proper
plant and equipment, and environmental damagesaM/éntensely focused on maintaining a safe enment and reducing t
risk of accidents across all of our job sites. Hogre poor safety performance may limit or elimingtgential revenue strea
from many of our largest customers and may matgriatrease our future insurance and other opagatiosts. In hiring ne
employees, we normally target experienced personnel
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS (continued)

however, we also hire inexperienced employees. Bvigim thorough safety training, inexperienced emgpks have a high
likelihood of injury which could lead to higher ajpéing costs and insurance rates.

Our Board of Directors has authorized an increase in the number of shares in our Equity Incentive Plan. This, combined with
other possible sales of ENGlobal common stock could result in a decrease in the market value to existing stockholders of the
sharesthey hold.

Our Articles of Incorporation authorize our BoarfdDirectors to issue up to an additional 48,177,4B@res of common stock ¢
an additional 2,000,008hares of blank check preferred stock as of the détfiing. These shares may be issued wit
stockholder approval unless the issuance is 20%are of our outstanding common stock, in which dageNASDAQ require
stockholder approval. We may issue shares of stottke future in connection with acquisitions ardcings. In addition, we m
issue restricted stock or options under our 2008itizdncentive Plan. Future issuances of substhatiunts of common stock,
the perception that these sales could occur, nfagtahe market price of our common stock. In ddditthe ability of the Board
Directors to issue additional stock may discourigasactions involving actual or potential changésontrol of the Compan
including transactions that otherwise could invgbag'ment of a premium over prevailing market pritekolders of our commu
stock.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Facilities

We lease space in 11 buildings in the U.S. totalipgroximately 339,008quare feet. The leases have remaining terms 1g
from monthly to sevelyears and are on terms that we consider commsyeidisonable. ENGlobal has no major encumbr:
related to these properties.

Our principal office is located in Houston, Tex®ge have other offices in Beaumont and Freeporta$eBaton Rouge and Le
Charles, Louisiana; Blackwell, Oklahoma; Denver,ldtado; Mobile, Alabama; Tulsa, Oklahoma, and Cgigalllinois.
Approximately 230,000square feet of our total office space is desighdte our professional, technical and administe
personnel. We believe that our office and otheilifeas are well maintained and adequate for emgstand planned operations
each operating location.

Our Automation segment performs fabrication assgnmbits Houston, Texas shop facility with approzitaly 104,00&quare fet
of space.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, ENGIlobal or one or more of ibsidiaries is involved in various legal proceeding are subject to claims t
arise in the ordinary course of business allegimgong other things, claims of breach of contraategligence in connection w
the performance or delivery of goods and/or sesridhe outcome of any such claims or proceedingsatabe predicted wi
certainty. As of the date of this filing, all sudttive proceedings and claims of substance tha¢ l@en raised against i
subsidiary business entity have been adequatelwedl for, or are covered by insurance, such thagtermined adversely to 1
Company, individually or in the aggregate, they ldonot have a material adverse effect on our resfltoperations or financ
position.

In June 2008, ENGIobal filed an action in the Udittates District Court for the Eastern DistrictLouisiana; Case Number 08-
3601, against South Louisiana Ethanol LLC (“SLEf}iged ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. and ENGlobal ConstruntiBesource
Inc. vs. South Louisiana Ethanol, LLThe lawsuit sought to enforce collection of $15i8iom owed to ENGlobal and i
affiliates for services performed on an ethanohpla Louisiana. In August 2009, SLE filed for Chepll protection in the Unit:
States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern DistrictLofuisiana, Case Number A2676. In connection with the bankrug
proceedings, the plant assets were sold and the smwed an order allocating proceeds from the sald authorizing the
distribution. ENGlobal received $209,017 and mageiree an additional $845,500 depending on the omécof an orgoing
dispute with a subcontractor.

On July 7, 2010, a class action lawsuit was filedhe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of Texas, Houstc
Division entitled “Michael Phillips, on behalf ofiself and Others Similarly Situated, v. ENGlobal
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (continued)

Corporation.”The lawsuit was filed on behalf of approximately02@elding inspectors seeking damages for violatiointhe Fai
Labor Standards Act. The plaintiffs sought unpaigrtime, liquidated damages, attorneyeés, costs and expenses. W
ENGlobal settled the wage and hour portion of #esuit and modified its pay practices, the suit \wwasended to include
retaliation claim involving approximately five dig class members. That portion of the claim i$ stihding but it is not expect
to have a material adverse effect on our resultgefations or financial position.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market | nformation and Holders

The Company's common stock has been quoted on A®DNQ Global Stock Market (NASDAQ) under the symB&NG.”
Newspaper and «line stock listings identify us as “ENGlobal.”

The following table sets forth the high and lowesaprices of our common stock for the periods iaeid.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
High Low High Low
First quarter $ 547 $ 3.5E|% 3.4t $ 2.77
Second quarter 4.41 3.0C 3.64 2.0¢€
Third quarter 4.2C 2.71 2.6( 2.1C
Fourth quarter 2.9¢ 2.0t 3.7¢ 2.41

The foregoing figures, based on information puldhy NASDAQ, do not reflect retail matps or markdowns and may
represent actual trades.

As of December 31, 2011 , approximately 288ckholders of record held the Company's commaogkstWe do not ha
information regarding the number of holders of e interests in our common stock.

The Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000 sharBseferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share ‘fEneferred Stock”)The
Board of Directors has the authority to approveitiseance of all or any of these shares of PredfeBteck in one or more series
determine the number of shares constituting anigsand to determine any voting powers, conversigits, dividend rights ar
other designations, preferences, limitations, ig&ins and rights relating to such shares withanoy further action by tt
stockholders. While there are no current planssoe the Preferred Stock, it was authorized inrdadprovide the Company w
flexibility, such as businesses becoming availéeacquisition.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELRED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)

Performance Table

The following table compares the fiyear cumulative total stockholder return of ENGloRarporation as compared to
NASDAQ Market Index and a seinstructed peer group index, consisting of theofelhg companies: Furmanite Corpora
(formerly Xanser Corporation), Michael Baker Corgtion, Matrix Service Company, Tetra Tech, Inc.]IBVos Group and VS
Corporation. The table assumes an investment oD.$00in our common stock and each index (includiemvestment ¢
dividends) on December 31 , 2006 and shown thr&egember 31, 2011 .

THE STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE SHOWN IN THE TABLE BEMD REPRESENTS HISTORICAL PRIC
PERFORMANCE AND IS NOT NECESSARILY INDICATIVE OF AN FUTURE STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE.

COMPARISION OF 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN AMOUN ENGLOBAL
NASDAQ MARKET INDEX (U.S.) AND PEER GROUP INDEX

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
ENGLOBAL CORP. $ 1000( $ 17667 $ 50.5¢ § 48.6¢ $ 57.8t $ 32.81
NASDAQ MARKET INDEX (U.S.) $ 100.0¢ $ 110.2¢ $ 65.65 $ 95.1¢ $ 112.1( $ 110.8:
PEER GROUP INDEX $ 100.0( $ 156.7¢$ 101.1¢ $ 123.7¢ $ 108.7( $ 81.8¢

ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 31, 2006
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set farthany of the Company's previous filings under Sexurities Act of 1933,
amended, or the Exchange Act, which might incorgofature filings made by the Company under thdatutes, the Compan
Stock Performance Table will not be incorporatedréference into any of those prior filings, nor lvilich report or table |
incorporated by reference into any future filingada by the Company under those Acts.

Equity Compensation Plan | nformation

The following table sets forth certain informaticoncerning the Company's equity compensation pansg December 31, 2011
See Note 13 in the attached financial statements.

Number of Securities Remaining

Number of Securities to be Available for Future Issuance
Issued Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average Exercise Under Equity Compensation
Outstanding Options, Warrants Price of Outstanding Options, Plans {Excluding Securities in
and Rights (a) Warrants and Rights (b) Column (a)} (c)
Equity compensation plan approved
by security holders 770,000 @ $ 6.81 0
Equity incentive plan approved by
security holders 14581¢ @ $ 2.9C 111,28:

(2) Includes options issued under our 1998 IncentNan. For a brief description of the materialtdeas of the Plan, see Note 13 of the Notes toQbesolidated Financi
Statements.

(2) Includes unvested restricted stock awards ésueler our 2009 Incentive Plan. For a brief dgsiem of the material features of the Plan, seeeNi8 of the Notes to t
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company's 1998 Incentive Plan expired in JW@82At the June 18, 2009 Annual Meeting of Stodttéis, the Company
stockholders voted to approve the adoption of tN&Bbal Corporation 2009 Equity Incentive Plan autring the issuance of
to 480,000 shares, the same number of sharesetaimed under the expired ENGlobal Corporation 1888ntive Plan.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELRED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company has never declared or paid a cashedligidn its common stock. The Company intends @irretny future earnin
for reinvestment in its business and does not thtenpay cash dividends in the foreseeable futlreaddition, restrictior
contained in our loan agreements governing ouritcfadility with Wells Fargo Bank limit the amouiff dividends that can |
paid on our common stock. We anticipate similatrigt#ons in the credit facility we are currentlyovking to close. The paymer
of dividends in the future, if any, will depend aomerous factors, including the Company's earningpital requirements a
operating and financial position as well as geneusiness conditions.

Stock Repurchase Program

Effective May 14, 2010, our Board of Directors auribed a total expenditure of $2.5 millido repurchase shares of
Company's common stock. Through open market pueshasder this authorization, we purchased 981db@®es at an avere
cost of $2.41 per share during the twelve montledrDecember 31, 201MNo shares were purchased during the twelve m
ended December 31, 2011 . At December 31, 2011proajmately $0.1 million remains authorized in the stock repurcl
program. The program does not have an expiratite &Restrictions, contained in our loan agreemgot®rning our credit facilit
with Wells Fargo Bank, limit the amount of our commstock that we can repurchase and in accordaitbeamendments to t
loan agreement with Wells Fargo, the Company dogesurrently intend to purchase additional shareteu this program.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Summary Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data

The following tables set forth our selected finahadata. The data for the years ended Decembez(1], , 2010 and 200@ave
been derived from the audited financial statemapisearing elsewhere in this document. The datd Becember 31 , 2008nc
2007 have been derived from audited financial statemeatsappearing in this document. You should readsilected financi
data set forth below in conjunction with our finealcstatements and the notes thereto included ihIPdtem 8; Part Il, Item °
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operationsahd other financial informatic

appearing elsewhere in this document.

Statement of Operations
Revenue
Engineering and Construction
Automation
Field Solutions
Total revenue

Costs and expenses
Engineering and Construction
Automation
Field Solutions
Selling, general and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Foreign currency gain (loss)

Income (loss) from continuing operations
before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, ndbwés

Net income (loss)

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 17538 $ 161,10 $ 153,67¢ $ 26533. $ 233,77:
62,21¢ 49,65 72,32: 59,73( 37,76¢
75,14« 95,48: 117,46 168,27 91,68¢

$ 312,74 $ 306,23¢ $ 343,46 $ 493,33. $ 363,22
160,03: 148,84 142,27 224,39: 188,90°
56,13 47,10¢ 63,61¢ 52,24¢ 34,38
69,30: 88,32¢ 106,51¢ 152,88¢ 82,32
31,26: 39,97¢ 28,027 32,20¢ 34,29:

$ 316,73: $ 32425 $ 340,43t $ 461,730 $ 339,90:
$ (398) $ (18,019 $ 3,02¢ $ 31,59¢ $ 23,32
(1,029 (442) (579 (1,636) (2,519
(62) (319 172 64 (13€)
— — 1 4) @)

$ (5079 $ (18,779 $ 2,627 $ 30,02¢ $ 20,67
(831) (6,559 1,39¢ 11,76¢ 8,20¢

$ (4240 $ (12220 $ 1,23 $ 18,25¢ $ 12,46¢
$ (283) $ 474 $ — 3 — % —
$ (7,076 $ (11,75) $ 1,23¢ $ 18,25¢ $ 12,46¢
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (continued)

Years Ended December 31,
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Per Share Data
Basic earnings (loss) per share

Continuing operations $ (0.1¢) $ (0.45) $ 0.0t $ 0.67 $ 0.4¢€
Discontinued operations (0.17) 0.0z — — —
Net income (loss) per share $ 0.27) $ (049 $ 0.0t $ 067 $ 0.4¢

Weighted average common
shares outstanding - basic (000's) 26,72: 27,15 27,33( 27,18( 26,91¢

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Continuing operations $ (0.1¢) $ (0.45) $ 0.04 $ 0.6€ $ 0.4t
Discontinued operations (0.17) 0.0z — — —
Net income (loss) per share $ (0.27) $ (043 $ 004 $ 0.6€ $ 0.4k

Weighted average common
shares outstanding - diluted (000's) 26,72: 27,15: 27,567 27,67: 27,43¢

Cash Flow Data

Operating activities, net $ 557¢ $ (6,15) $ 23,00 $ 8,34¢ $ (1,980
Investing activities, net (2,879 (3,026) (4,205 (2,877 (1,619
Financing activities, net (2,729 9,07¢ (19,679 (5,277) 3,07¢
Exchange rate changes 1 4 19 (110 25

Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (23) $ (94) $ (857 $ 92 $ (495)

Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $ 26,67 $ 30,200 $ 36,30¢ $ 5858t $ 42,91t
Property and equipment, net $ 338 $ 441 $ 598 $ 574 $ 6,47
Total assets $ 104,17¢ $ 110,32« $ 110,63 $ 152,70 $ 119,59(
Long-term debt, net of current portion $ — $ 252 $ 6,096 $ 2361 $ 29,31t
Long-term capital leases, net of current portion $ — $ — $ 51 $ 245 % =
Stockholders' equity $ 58500 $ 6510 $ 78, 71: $ 76,76¢ $ 55,797

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion is qualified in its entyeby, and should be read in conjunction with, donsolidated Financi
Statements including the Notes thereto, includestvehere in this Annual Report on Form KO-Note 18 to the Financi
Statements contain segment information.

Overview

Results of Operations

While ENGIlobal continues to face a humber of chgks, we are cautiously optimistic about the prospéor 2012. Despi
recognizing losses in 2011, we have experiencegréfisant improvement in our financial results, @smpared to 2010, reduc

losses by 40%. In this regard, we have successfatlyced our expenses by reducing employee heatjodasing offices, ¢
appropriate, discontinuing underperforming divisipand creating an enhanced
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

operational focus on cost controls. Cross-sellifigres through our “One ENGlobalprogram are beginning to come to frui
with several large projects now underway and prtglsach as the ENGlobal Power Island appear tdegignificant potential fi
growth. In addition, we are seeing an increaseaital project spending in the downstream refinitiggmicals and petrochemic
sectors. Our Wells Fargo Credit Facility expires May 31, 2012. However, we have competitive profs$em two majo
financial institutions and we are working towardeging into a new credit facility prior to that @abr in obtaining an alternati
source of financing. While there can be no ass@stitat these challenges will be resolved, we belibat 2012 may be the y
we will return to profitability and growth.

Despite the relative increase in capital projeeingfing in certain limited markets, we believe thngrall, client spending contint
to be limited, which we believe may be due to tineastainty experienced by businesses in a presaegiection year and tl
possible impact of proposed regulation of the nd gas industry, such as the proposed frackinglitipn.

In addition, pricing continues to be very compeéti However, we have an ongoing, extremely focusadketing effort and w
have seen an increase in proposal activity, as aglan increase in backlog. In particular, we a@®used on internatior
expansion as we believe that the many significanjepts will be located outside of the United S¢at®ur “One ENGlobal”
philosophy is resulting in croselling on large projects, and we expect to seetite of activity continue. Despite these eff
we have not seen a significant increase in awan$,revenues increased only minimally from 201Qaa1, a situation which
receiving considerable management attention.

Employee recruitment and retention continues taméssue we are addressing. To this end, we hapeirad employee benel
(although not to 2009 levels) and we believe emgdomnorale has improved. Nevertheless, the markejualified employees h
become very active and, even after employees aed,hietention in a tight labor market has beerlehging. We continue o
efforts to improve on timely collection of accoumézeivable, and to focus on improving our intersytems, such as accoun
and human resources. We have encountered issueseliiection of accounts receivable on a largerivggonal project due
administrative matters and this has had a negatipact on our cash flow but we believe that theeésssurrounding this paym:
will be resolved in the short term.

We continue our efforts to improve on timely cotlen of accounts receivable, and to focus on impr@wur internal systerr
such as accounting and human resources.

For several years, ENGIlobal has worked throughauefitigation matters that have been the cause ofaterial portion of ol
losses. While additional issues will undoubtedigain the future, we have resolved or establiskedrves which we believe to
adequate for material outstanding litigation issues

With the exception of reclassifications relateto discontinued operations (see below), total arteteported for prior perio
will remain the same, but amounts reported on angeg basis are reported in the three segmentshtb@aompany now opera
in, rather than the four segments in which the Camypreviously operated and reported.

During the third quarter of 2011, as part of itettgic evaluation of operations, the Company datexd that the anticipat
future performance of the Electrical Services grdigbnot warrant maintaining it as a part of the@bbal suite of services. As
result, effective July 1, 2011, the Company indthta plan to sell or, if necessary, ultimately teate the operations of

Electrical Services group. These assets and tleddted operations have been classified as disaediroperations and
presented as such in the Company'sagted consolidated financial statements. The sseta and liabilities related to

discontinued operations are shown on the Conselid&alance Sheet as Assets held for sale and tiebiheld for sale
respectively. The results of the discontinued of@ma are shown on the Consolidated Statementspefr@ions as a loss fr
discontinued operations, net of taxes. Pending#he or termination of the Electrical Services Gxone continue to abide by ¢
contractual details to complete the projects toclient's satisfaction.

The Engineering and Construction segment providegices relating to the development, managementeaedution of projec
requiring professional engineering and relatedgutogervices primarily to the midstream and dovesstr
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

sectors throughout the United States. Servicesigdvby the Engineering and Construction segmetitidie feasibility studie
engineering, design, procurement and constructianagement. The Automation segment provides serv@dated to the desic
fabrication and implementation of process distrutontrol and analyzer systems, advanced automatimrmation technolog
electrical and heat tracing projects primarily ke tupstream and downstream sectors throughout thiedJStates as well
specific projects in the Middle East and CentralbA$he Field Solutions segment provides inspectamd management, right-of-
way, environmental compliance, legislative affastgpport and governmental regulatory compliance isesvprimarily to th
midstream sector, including pipeline, utility anelecommunications companies and other owner/opsraib infrastructur
facilities throughout the United States.

The Company's revenue is composed of engineermegupement and construction management (EPCM) cesvievenue and 1
sale of fabricated engineered automation systetms.Jompany recognizes service revenue as soore &eitvices are performi
The majority of the Company's engineering servit@ge historically been provided through time-anaterial contracts wherea
majority of the Company's engineered automatiotesysales are earned on fixed-price contracts.

In the course of providing our services, we routinovide materials and equipment and may proeiiestruction or constructi
management services on a subcontractor basis. 8lgnénese materials, equipment and subcontramists are passed throug!
our clients and reimbursed, along with handlingsferehich in total are at margins lower than thaseurs normal core business.
accordance with industry practice and generallyptad accounting principles, all such costs and &e included in revenue. 1
use of subcontractor services can change significdrom project to project; therefore, changesr@venue and gross pro
SG&A expense and operating income as a percemveinue may not be indicative of the Company's basgness trends.

Operating SG&A expense includes management andl aafpensation, office costs such as rents andiesil depreciatiol
amortization, travel, bad debt and other expensegrglly unrelated to specific client contracts, divectly related to the supp
of a segment's operations.

All other SG&A expense is comprised primarily ofsiness development costs, as well as costs relatestecutive, invest
relations/governance, finance, accounting, heatbfg/environmental, human resources, legal andrimition technoloc
departments and other costs generally unrelatespéaific projects but which are incurred to suppmitporate activities al
initiatives.

The following tables set forth, for the periods igaded, certain financial data derived from our smlidated statements
operations.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

Consolidated Results of Operations for the Twelve Mnths
Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIKNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(continued)

For the twelve months
ended December 31, 2011

Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 175,38° $ 62,21¢ $ 75,14 % — 3 312,74
Inter-segment eliminations — — — — —
Revenue 175,38° 62,21¢ 75,14« — 312,74
Gross profit 15,35¢ 6,08¢ 5,841 — 27,27¢
SG&A 7,51¢ 4,047 5,681 14,01¢ 31,26:
Operating income (loss) 7,83 2,03i 16C (14,01¢) (3,989
Other income (expense) (62)
Interest income (expense) (1,02¢)
Tax provision 831
Net loss from continuing operations $ (4,249
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ (0.1€)
For the twelve months
ended December 31, 2010 Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 161,14¢ $ 51,02( $ 95,48. $ — 3 307,65(
Inter-segment eliminations (48) (1,369) — — (1,41))
Revenue 161,10: 49,657 95,48 — 306,23t
Gross profit 12,25: 2,551 7,15¢ — 21,957
SG&A 17,92¢ 4,47¢ 3,48( 14,09 39,97t
Operating income (loss) (5,672 (1,925 3,67 (14,099 (18,019
Other income (expense) (319)
Interest income (expense) (442)
Tax provision 6,55:
Net loss from continuing operations $ (12,22¢)
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ (0.45)
Increase/(Decrease) in 2011 to
2010 Operating Results Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 14.23¢  $ 11,19¢  $ (20,337) $ — 3 5,097
Inter-segment eliminations 48 1,362 — — 1,411
Revenue 14,28¢ 12,55¢ (20,33)) — 6,50¢
Gross profit 3,101 3,632 (1,319 — 5,322
SG&A (20,406 (42¢) 2,201 (78) (8,712
Operating income (loss) 13,50% 3,962 (3,519 78 14,03
Other income (expense) 25¢
Interest income (expense) (58¢€)
Tax provision (5,729
Net loss from continuing operations $ 7,98¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ 0.2¢

100.( %
8.7%
10.C %
1.9%
—%
0.9%
0.2%
(1.4%

100.( %
7.2%
13.1%
(5.9%
0.1)%
0.1%
2.1%
(4.0%

2.1%

24.2%
(21.9%
(77.9%
(80.9%
132.6%
(87.9%
(65.9%
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIKNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(continued)

Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009

For the twelve months
ended December 31, 2010

Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 161,14¢ $ 51,02 $ 95,48. $ — 307,65(
Inter-segment eliminations (48) (1,369 — — (1,417
Revenue 161,10: 49,657 95,48 — 306,23¢
Gross profit 12,25: 2,551 7,15¢ — 21,957
SG&A 17,92¢ 4,47¢ 3,48( 14,09 39,97t
Operating income (loss) (5,672) (1,925 3,67¢ (14,099 (18,019
Other income (expense) (319
Interest income (expense) (442)
Tax provision 6,552
Net loss from continuing operations $ (12,22¢)
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ (0.4%)
For the twelve months
ended December 31, 2009 Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 154,807 $ 72,41¢ $ 11833( $ — 3 345,55!
Inter-segment eliminations (1,132 (96) (865) — (2,099
Revenue 153,67! 72,32 117,46! — 343,46.
Gross profit 11,40: 8,70: 10,947 — 31,05
SG&A 6,80¢ 4,13¢ 3,472 13,61« 28,021
Operating income (loss) 4,597 4,56¢ 7,47¢ (13,619 3,02¢
Other income (expense) 174
Interest income (expense) (573
Tax provision (1,399
Net income from continuing operations $ 1,23¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ 0.04
Increase/(Decrease) in 2010 to
2009 Operating Results Engineering and Field
(dollars in thousands) Construction Automation Solutions All Other Consolidated
Revenue before eliminations $ 6,34z $ (21,39 $ (22,849 $ — % (37,909
Inter-segment eliminations 1,08¢ (1,267 86¢ — 682
Revenue 7,42¢ (22,66%) (21,989 — (37,229
Gross profit 85C (6,152) (3,799 — (9,09¢)
SG&A 11,11¢ 341 8 48C 11,94¢
Operating income (loss) (10,269 (6,497) (3,8072) (480) (21,049
Other income (expense) (493
Interest income (expense) 131
Tax provision 7,947
Net loss from continuing operations $ (13,459
Diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations $ (0.49

100.C %
7.3%
13.1%
(5.9%
(0.1)%
(0.1)%
21%
(4.00%

100.( %
9.0%
8.2%
0.8%
0.1%
0.2%
0.4%
0.4%

(10.9%
(29.9%
42€%
(695.9%
(283.9%
(22.9%
(570.9%
(1,091.6%
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

OVERALL COMPARISONS

Revenue¢

The $6.5 million overall increase in revenue fa thvelve months ended December 31, 2011 , as ceahparthe comparabR01(
period, resulted from an increase of $12.5 millionour Automation segment and $14.3 millid@ our Engineering at
Construction segment, offset by a decrease of $2@l®n in our Field Solutions segment. Overaleaue increased in 208k :
result of project work from new clients. Howevdretmajority of the increase was due to $21.9 mmlldd additional work fror
existing clients. In addition, 2011 revenues weargacted by existing projects that were either fiat or saw significant
diminished activity during the 12-month period. Qulients are continuing to perform “run and maintaiype smaller projec
which focus on work for required maintenance togkte plant up and running but not on new capiabasions. Competition f
the project work on the market continues to benisge

Our revenue decrease from 2009 to 203 a result of our clients' continued cancellatordelay of scheduled capital proje
due to the economy in general, lower energy comipgiices and lower energy processing margins. clants were continuir
to perform “run and maintairtype smaller projects which focus on work for reqdimaintenance to keep the plant up and rui
but not on new capital expansions. Competition bkt increased greatly for the amount of projectkwon the market. |
addition, 2010evenues were impacted by the completion of selamgér projects which were not replaced with neajgrt work

Gross Profit

The increase in gross profit as a percentage efmax in 2011 relative to 201as caused by several factors including lower 1
expenses as part of an operational focus on cegtatplower material costs as a function of cutrproject requirements a
lower variable labor costs due to an operationali$oon utilization, resulting in higher margins.

The decrease in gross profit as a percentage ehtevin 2010 relative to 20Q09vas caused by several factors including lc
utilization of our billable resources, resultingiicreased overhead costs to retain employeesdsed overhead costs to exf
our marketing to new sectors and new clients, emed peemployee costs of benefits and market pressurenegotiate some
our existing contracts, resulting in lower margiAtso, we had significant increases in procurenaativities which are genera
performed at lower margins than labor.

Selling, General and Administrative$G&A’ ) Expenses

The decrease in operating SG&A expense for thevevelonths ended December 31, 2011 , as compaitheé womparabl@01(
period, primarily consisted of decreases in bad d&pense of $9.7 million mainly attributable t@t8LE receivable write off
2010.Also, the Electrical Services group in our Autoroatisegment moved to a smaller facility, reducingjlitees expense t
$0.3 million. We are now in the process of selloegtain Electrical assets and terminating the djmers of that division whic
should further decrease our SG&A.

The increase in operating SG&A expense for thewvehonths ended December 31, 2010 , as compartbe twomparabl@00¢
period, primarily consisted of increases in badtdetpense of $9.7 million mainly attributable teet&LE write off, net ¢
allowance adjustments, $1.0 million in professics&ivices expenses, $0.4 million in salaries anpleyee related expenses, $
million in depreciation and amortization expensesl &0.1 million in taxes, offset by decreases ofl$fillion in stocl
compensation expense.

The decrease in all other SG&A expense for thewwvehonths ended December 31, 2011 , as comparthe twomparabl@01(
period, was primarily the result of decreases ol $dillion in salaries and employee related expsnsfset by an increase of $
million in professional services expenses. As a@aage of revenue, all other SG&A expense decdetmsd.5%for the twelv
months ended December 31, 2011 , from 4.6% focomeparable prior year period.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

The increase in all other SG&A expense for the vaahonths ended December 31, 2010 , as comparie ttomparabl@00¢
period, was primarily the result of increases ofLt$dillion in salaries and employee related expgneéiset by decreases of $
million in depreciation and amortization expeng@1$million in stock compensation expense, $0.lionilin professional servic
expenses and $0.1 million in office expenses. psraentage of revenue, all other SG&A expense asae to 4.6%or the twelve
months ended December 31, 2010 , from 4.0% focdineparable prior year period.

Operating Profit

The increase in operating income for the twelve theended December 31, 2011 , as compared to thpasable 201(@eriod
was attributable to higher revenue levels as wellecreased costs for both travel expenses anablaiabor, due to increas
focus on cost controls and improved utilizatione3é decreased costs contributed to higher operiakiagne as a percentage
revenue.

The decrease in operating income for the twelvethmanded December 31, 2010 , as compared to thpazable 200period
was attributable to lower revenue levels as welhaseased costs for both new sales efforts, miaing core employees at a ti
when the Company had fewer projects and the SLEBagigr write offs. These increased costs contebuto lower operatir
income as a percentage of revenue as well as decteantract margins in response to market pressure

Other Income (Expense)

Other expense decreased in 2@binpared to the same period in 2010 due mainlydecaease in investments written off in 2
of approximately $413,000 compared to other expenge2011 of approximately $61,000. Other expems®011l consiste
primarily of approximately $57,000 paid in governm@enalties. Other expense for the same peri@Di® mainly consisted «
$413,000 to write off an investment with a develofi@t was unable to obtain project financing aBé,800 in taxes, offset
income of $150,000 for a legal settlement. Otheoime in 2009nainly consisted of $315,000 from insurance prosaethted t
Hurricane Ike, offset by expense of $145,000 iséssfrom an investment in a Costa Rican company.

Interest Income (Expens

Interest expense increased between 2011 and @04 @o the increase in our credit facility as wasdlincreasing interest rates
2011, as compared to 2010. Interest expense decrdetween 2010 and 200@e to the lower balances on our line of ci
throughout most of the year.

Net Income (Loss

As a result of changes detailed above, Net Incamesased $4.7 million to a loss of $7.1 million2@11 from a loss 0$11.¢
million in 2010 , increasing as a percentage ddltmvenue from (4.0)% in 2010 to (1.4)% in 20INet Income decrease’l 3.(
million to a loss of $11.8 million in 2010 from niecome of $1.2 million in 2009decreasing as a percentage of total revenue
0.4% in 2009 to (4.0)% in 2010 .
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(continued)

2011 Compared to 2010 and 2010 Compared to 2009

Engineering and Construction Segment :

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Detail-design
Field services
Procurement services
Fixed-price

Total revenue

Gross profit
Operating SG&A expense

Operating income (loss)

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Detail-design
Field services
Procurement services
Fixed-price

Total revenue

Gross profit

Operating SG&A expense

Operating income

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)

175,38 161,14¢ 14,23¢

— (48) 48

175,38 161,10: 14,28¢
124,50  71.c% 70,127  43:% 54,38: 77.6%
15,50¢ 8.8% 59,97: 37.:% (44,469  (74.9%
17,56 10(% 17,200  107% 363 2.1%
17,81: 10.2 % 13,80¢ 8.6 % 4,00¢ 29.C %
175,38  100.(% 161,10. 100.(% 14,28¢ 8.C%
15,35¢ 8.8% 12,25: 7.6% 3,101 25.2%
7,51¢ 4.3% 17,928 1119% (10,4060  (58.7%
7,835 449 (5,672  35% 13,507  2381%

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2010 2009 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)

161,14 154,80° 6,34z

(48) (1,132 1,084

161,10: 153,67! 7,42¢
70,12° 43:% 92,18:  60.0% (22,059  (23.9%
59,97 37:% 57,24¢ 37:% 2,72¢ 4.8%
17,20( 10.7% 39¢ 0.2% 16,80 4,2104%
13,80¢ 8.6 % 3,84¢ 250 9,957 258.7%
161,10.  100.0% 153,67  100.(% 7,42¢ 4.8%
12,25: 7.6% 11,40: 7.4% 85C 7E%
17,92t 11.1% 6,80¢ 4.4% 11,11¢ 163.2%
(5.679) (35w 4591 3cu (10,269 (22349
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

Revenue¢

Engineering and Construction revenue accounte86dt% of our total revenue for 201 Revenue gains are due to an increa
capital project spending in the downstream refiniclgemicals and petrochemicals sectors along witheased spending in -
midstream sector. This is consistent with our eg@t longterm view of these markets. The Engineering ands@uoatior
segment's estimated backlog at December 31, 208 B%24.0 million .

Our detail design service revenues increased b§%7from 2010 to 2011 , but decreased by 23.9% f2O®9 to 2010 The
increase in 2011 reflects the increased capitaidipg by our traditional clients for both plant seconded technical staff and
engineering, design, procurement and constructiamagement services. The decrease in 204 mainly due to decrea:
demand for engineering and related professionalices for energy related projects. This decreasdeimand was caused
delayed or canceled capital project work by clientseaction to the economy. This area of servis@nues was impacted the n
due to the level of capital work that is perforniedhis area.

Our field services revenues decreased by 74.1% £#0&0 to 2011 , but increased by 4.8% from 2002Gd0 . In 2011, oul
clients' demands decreased as a reaction to tmmego However, we are now exploring the possibitifymarketing to a broac
range of prospective clients.

Revenue from procurement services increased 2.b% 2010 to 2011 and increased significantly fron@92®@o 2010. The
increase in 201las the result of additional volume of procureméart EPC contracts due to increases in midstrean
government services arenas. The significant ineréas2010 , as compared to the comparable 2#d, was due to wo
performed for a new client that was expanding afigés with exhuming, holding and loading functidita

Fixed-price revenues increased 258.7% from 200204® and again by 29.0% from 2010 to 201ue to the current econol
and increased activity in the midstream sector wHewed price projects are common, more clients raguesting work to t
performed on a fixegice basis to control their costs and shift rigsktheir contractors. We expect to continue to seeease
trends in this type of work awarded by the clients.

Gross Profit

Our Engineering and Construction segment's toa$gprofit increased 25.3% in 2011 , as compare¢d 2010, and increase
7.5% in 2010 , as compared with 2009 . Of the divererease in gross profit for 201,1$14.2 million was attributable to incre
revenues, offset by an increase of $10.1 milliordirect costs. As a percentage of the Engineerim) @onstruction segme
revenue, the Engineering and Construction segmerass profit increased from 7.4% in 2009 to 7.6P2010, and increased
8.8% in 2011 from 7.6% in 2010 . The increase du@011is mainly due to management of variable labor cast$ improvin
market conditions for the Company's services.

The increase in total gross profit percentage@d0 , as compared to 2008 mainly due to cost cutting measures implend
in response to the lower revenues during 2009, Wwimicluded decreasing our number of employees;efher, reducing ol
overhead costs.

Operating Selling, General and AdministrativeSG&A’' ) Expenses

The decrease in the Engineering and Constructigmeet's SG&A expense in 2011 from 2048s due to large write offs of t
debt in 2010. The increase in the Engineering amas@uction segment's SG&A expense in 2010 fromB20G&s due to increas
of $10.0 million in bad debt expense mainly atttdhle to the SLE and Bigler write offs net of allmee adjustments, $0.8 milli
in professional services expenses and $0.5 milticgalaries and employee related expenses, offsdetreases of $0.2 million
facilities expenses and $0.1 million in stock comgaion expenses.

Operating Income
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(continued)

Of the overall increase in the Engineering and @acion segment's operating income for 2@1dted as a percent of reven
the majority was due to significant increases indetail design revenues.

Of the overall decrease in the Engineering and Cootion segment's operating income for 28fdted as a percent of reven
6.2 percentage points of change was due to inaeaG&A expenses for the write off of the SLE andIBri receivables.
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(continued)

Automation Segment :

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Fabrication
Non-fabrication

Total revenue

Gross profit

Operating SG&A expense

Operating income (loss)

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Fabrication
Non-fabrication

Total revenue

Gross profit

Operating SG&A expense

Operating income

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)

62,21¢ $ 51,02( 11,19¢

— (1,369 1,365
62,21¢ $ 49,657 12,55¢
36,98¢ 5069 $ 25,917 52.2% 11,072 42.1%
25,22 40.5 % 23,74( 47.6% 1,487 6.2%
62,21¢ 100c% 9 49,657 100.(% 12,55¢ 25.2%
6,08 9.8% 2,551 5.1% 3,53:¢ 138.5%
4,047 6.5 % 4 47¢ 9.C% (429 (9.6%
2,037 329 & (1,925 (3.9% 3,962 205.£ %

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)

51,02( $ 72,41¢ (21,399
(1,369 (96) (1,267
49,657 $ 72,32 (22,66°%)
25917 s2:% $ 35,79:  s9:r% (9,875  (er.0%
23,740  47:59% 36,53( 50:% (12,790  @5.0%
49,657 100.% $ 72,32: 100.(% (22,665  (31.9%
2,551 5.1% 8,70  121% (6,152  @0.9%
4.47¢ 9.C % 4,13¢ 5.7% 341 8.2%
(1,92%)  39% $ 4,56¢ 6.2% (6,499 (142.9%
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(continued)

Revenue¢

The Automation segment contributed 19.9% of oualtavenues for 2011Revenue from operations increased due to a nuoi
projects undertaken to solve unique customer ndedaddition, the Caspian project, an $85 millimntact with the Caspii
Pipeline Consortium in Russia and Kazakhstan, edténe fabrication and drawing stages. The Autamasiegment's estimal
backlog at December 31, 2011 was $101.7 million .

The overall increase in our fabrication revenuenfr010 to 2011s due to the Power Island installations, the stithe Caspis
project and renewed interest in Remote Instrumeddsures (RIE) and Continuous Emission Monitori@EM) buildings. Th
overall decrease in our fabrication revenue frofd®2@ 2010was mainly attributable to the completion of laigéernatione
analytical projects in 20009.

The overall increase in our non-fabrication revefroen 2010 to 2011s mainly attributable to the Caspian project antgithe
drawing stage. The overall decrease in our noridation revenue from 2009 to 20W&s mainly attributable to the completior
larger projects without the same level of new wiorkeplace them due to clients' decreased sperdirugpital projects.

Gross Profit

Of the overall increase in our Automation segmegttsss profit from 2010 to 2011%$2.5 million is attributable to increas
revenue while decreased costs contributed $1.0omilb the overall increase. The overall grossippgrcentage increase is du
the Automation segment becoming more efficientiandvative in providing customer solutions.

Of the total gross profit percentage decrease 2669 to 201Q 2.3 percentage points were attributable to rediucargins due -
competitive pressure and increased overhead celstted to expanding our services during the yehrs ihcluded the ufront
costs associated with offering new services. Adyae anticipated, margins improved in 2011 as th&linp-front costs had be:
expended in 2010 and did not offset 2011 sales.réhminder of the decrease in gross profit is @ubigher direct costs, a:
percentage of lower revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative§G&A’ ) Expenses

The overall decrease in our Automation segment&/Aexpense from 2010 to 20Mas attributable to the decreased amortiz
from a prior acquisition, a reduction of $82,00ad debt expense and the reduction of facilitespeeducing costs by $300,0

The overall increase in our Automation segment'&&8@xpense from 2009 to 20Mas attributable to increases of $286,0(
depreciation and amortization expenses, $102,008citities expenses, $60,000 in bad debt expedsE, 000 in insurance cos
$36,000 in net losses on assets, $36,000 in piofedsservices expenses and $27,000 in office esggroffset by a decreast
$261,000 in salaries and employee related expenses.

Operating Income

The overall increase in our Automation segmentsrajng income from 2010 to 2014 due to revenue generated from
expansion of client solutions, contained projectts@nd a focused effort on reduction of SG&A coBte overall decrease in «
Automation segment's operating income from 2002ab0was due to increased overhead costs associatecexpinding ot
services offered to our customers along with reduegenues and increased costs due to competitbasyre.
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(continued)

Field Solutions Segment :

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Inspection services
Land services

Total revenue

Gross profit

Operating SG&A expense

Operating income

Revenue before eliminations
Inter-segment eliminations
Total revenue

Detailed revenue
Inspection services
Land services

Total revenue

Gross profit

Operating SG&A expense

Operating income

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)
75,14« $ 95,48: (20,33
75,14¢ $ 95,48: (20,33Y)
4855, esen $ 72,268 75.7% (23,71)  @E2.9%
26,59: 35.49% 23,21: 24.5% 3,38( 14.€ %
75,14¢  100.% $ 95,48. 100.% (20,33) (L%
5,841  7.8% 7,152 7% (1,319  @syw
5,681 7.6% 3,48( 3.6% 2,201 63.2%
16C oz $ 3,67¢ 3% (3,519  (@5.0%
Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2010 2009 Increase/(Decrease)
(dollars in thousands)
95,48’ $ 118,33( (22,849
— (865) 86&
95,48 $ 117,46" (21,989
72,26¢  50% $ 85,507  72.% (13,239  @15.5%
23,21: 24.7% 31,95¢ 27.2% (8,745 (27.9%
95,487 100% $ 117,46  100.% (21,989  @s.w
7,15: 7.5% 10,94° 9.%% (3,799  (3a.9%
3,48( 3.5% 3,47 2.%% 8 0.2%
3,67¢ 3606 P 7,47¢ 6.4% (3,809  (50.9%

41




ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIRNCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(continued)

Revenue¢

The Field Solutions segment contributed 24.0% oftotal revenues for 2011The Field Solutions segment's estimated backt
December 31, 2011 was $76.3 million .

The overall decrease in revenue from inspectioatedl services from 2010 to 201d primarily attributable to completion
several larger projects and our inability to replabhem with new similarhsized projects. The overall decrease in reven
inspection related services from 2009 to 203 primarily attributable to the completion of oy projects as well as our cliel
delay or cancellation of projects.

The overall increase in revenue from land relatdises from 2010 to 202dias primarily attributable to expanded opportus
in the natural gas market. The overall decreagevanue from land related services from 2009 ta0204s primarily attributab
to clients delaying capital projects and competifvicing pressures as well as the completion amding of several projects.

Gross Profit

The overall decrease in our Field Solutions segmeabss profit from 2010 to 2014 primarily due to the segment's ove
decrease in revenue. However, gross profit as@ptage of revenue increased from 7.5% to 7.8%useca smaller portion of t
revenues were derived from inspection services lwhjpically has lower margins. Also, margins fronspection services we
negatively impacted by payroll changes made irfdheth quarter.

Of the overall decrease in our Field Solutions segia gross profit from 2009 to 201@&1.7 million is attributable to increas
costs, while decreased revenues contributed to B2lion of the decrease. Of the total gross prpfrcentage decrease,
percentage points was attributable to lower marggsslting from competitive pressures, while th@a@ing 0.9 percentage poi
decrease is attributable to increased non-billahkkindirect costs resulting from low employeeizaition.

Selling, General and Administrative$G&A’ ) Expenses

The increase in our Field Solutions segment's S@&pense for 2011 , as compared to the comparabh@@diod, was primaril
attributable to increased professional service felkded to legal matters within the InspectioniBian.

The slight increase in our Field Solutions segneB8G&A expense for 2010 , as compared to the caabp@a2009eriod, wa
attributable to increases of $226,000 in salanesamployee related expenses, $95,000 in professs@nvices expenses, $80,
in facilities expenses and $18,000 in office expsnsffset by decreases of $300,000 in bad delresegy $88,000 in depreciat
and amortization expenses and $24,000 in marketipgnses.

Operating Income

The overall $3.5 million decrease in our Field $iolus segment's operating income for 2011 , as emetpto 201Q was due t
lower overall revenues and higher legal fees.

The overall $3.8 million decrease in our Field $iolus segment's operating income for 2010 , as emegpto 2009 was due t
the completion of existing projects as well as gethwork along with increased costs due to competjiressures.
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(continued)

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

The Company defines liquidity as its ability to plgbilities as they become due, fund business ajmrs and meet monet:
contractual obligations. Our primary source of ldity at December 31, 201dias borrowings under our senior revolving ct
facility with Wells Fargo Bank (the “Wells Fargo &tlit Facility”), discussed under “Senior Revolvi@gedit Facility” below. Cas
on hand at December 31, 2011 totaled $26 thousaddheailability under the Wells Fargo Credit Fagiliotaled $9.7 million,
after consideration of loan covenant restrictioesulting in total liquidity of $9.7 million We believe that we have suffici
available cash required for operations for the rektmonths. However, cash and the availability ashc could be materia
restricted if:

* we are unable to extend the senior revolving crfagitity past its current end date of May 31, 2@t2btain alternative
sources of financing,

« amounts billed are not collected or are not coflddh a timely manne

e circumstances prevent the timely internal procegefrinvoices

* project mix continues to shift from cost-reimgaible to fixed-price contracts and we are unabietorately estimate the
project costs, resulting in cost overruns,

» the Company loses one or more of its major eusts or its major customers significantly reduadmount of work
requested from the Company, or

e acquisitions are not integrated timely or effedir

If any such event occurs, we would be forced toswter alternative financing options.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Operating activities provided $5.6 million in netst in 2011 , used $6.2 million of net cash in 2040d provided $23.0 milliom
net cash in 2009 . For the year ended Decembe2@lll,, the changes in working capital were primarily dagéncreased trau
receivables of $0.3 million , decreased notes vaddé of $2.5 millionattributable to a payment received on the Alon |
receivable, decreased income taxes receivable .@f f8lion primarily due to a tax refund received in Octob84 P, decreast
accounts payable of $0.6 million and decreaseduadcicompensation and benefits of $0.1 millioifhe increase in tra
receivables was primarily the result of increaspdrating activity. Our days sales outstanding hassiased from 56ays for th
12-month period ended December 31, 2010 to 70 fketbe 12-month period ended December 31, 20lHe Company manac
its billing and client collection processes towaedlucing days sales outstanding to the extent ipedde. We believe that ¢
allowance for bad debt is adequate to cover angmnpial non-payment by our customers.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Investing activities used cash totaling $2.9 millio 2011 , compared to $3.0 million in 2010 and2$illion in 2009 . In 2011
investing activities were primarily used for cap#éaditions. In 201Qinvesting activities were primarily used for capiaddition:
and the CDI transaction. In 2009 , investing atigiwere primarily used for capital additions ainel PCI transaction.

Future investing activities are anticipated to remeonsistent with prior years and include capialditions for leasehc
improvements, technical applications software aguigment, such as upgrades to computers, as welt@sisitions. The Wel
Fargo Credit Facility discussed under “Senior Rewg Credit Facility” below limits annual capitakgenditures t&3.5 millior
and acquisitions require prior approval by Wellsgea

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Financing activities used cash totaling $2.7 millia 2011 , provided cash totaling $9.1 million2610, and used cash totali
$19.7 million in 2009 . During 2011 our primary financing mechanism was our line ofdit under the Wells Fargo Cre
Facility. The line of credit was used principaltyfinance working capital requirements. During 2011
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our borrowings on the line of credit were $159.9liom in the aggregate and we repaid an aggreg$i62.2 million. Durinc
2010, our borrowings on the line of credit wer@ 5% million in the aggregate and we repaid an egape of $108.7 milliomn
our short-term and long-term bank and other debt.

We anticipate that future cash flows from financawivities will be borrowings, payments on theeliof credit and payments
longterm debt instruments. Line of credit fluctuaticare a function of timing related to operations,igdtions and paymer
received on accounts receivable. We estimate thahpnts on long-term debt, including interest fer toming year, will b&16.€
million , however, if we are unable to replace the Credit Facilityfone replace it at unfavorable terms, it could ha
negative impact on the cash flows and the operaidthe Company.

Senior Revolving Credit Facility

Historically, we have satisfied our cash requireteathrough operations and borrowings under a réwnghcredit facility. Ir
December 2009, the Company entered into a newtcagdeement with Wells Fargo Bank, which provide@8month, $2!
million senior secured revolving credit facilityWells Fargo Credit Facility”)The Wells Fargo Credit Facility expires on May
2012 and the Company is in the process of obtainépiacement financing. The Wells Fargo Credit gcis guaranteed ¢
substantially all of the Company's subsidiariesesured by substantially all of the Company'stassed positions Wells Fargo
senior to all other debt. On September 30, 20 Cbmpany entered into an amendment to the crgaieanent with Wells Far
Bank which converted our borrowings from a revolyaredit facility to an asset based lending agregn@n August 1, 2011, t
Company entered into an Amended and Restated Chgditement with Wells Fargo Bank which allows a maxm availabl
principal amount of $35 million under the CreditcHigy. The Amended and Restated Credit Facilitpwab for borrowings limite
to an aggregate of 80% of our current eligible aote receivable. The Wells Fargo Credit Facilityagditionally limited b
deductions from accounts receivable for items saglnvoices past due over 90 days, fixed price wimleign receivables a
government work. These accounts receivable excigsimder the Credit Facility totaled $8.9 millionecember 31, 2011. T
Amended and Restated Credit Facility contains arsed commitment fee of fifty basis points (0.50%) annum and allows f{
other indebtedness of up to $10 million to cover Bx4m bank credit facility, described in the "LetterkCredit" section, and
to $1.0 million in any 12 month period for the uogeed financing of insurance premiums. The outstapfalance on the We
Fargo Credit Facility as of December 31, 2011 wa8.4 million this amount was subject to a fluctuating interasé describe
below. The remaining borrowings available under\Wells Fargo Credit Facility as of December 31, R@dre $9.7 millioraftel
consideration of loan covenant restrictions.

At the Company's option, amounts borrowed undeiedls Fargo Credit Facility will bear interestafluctuating rate per annt
determined by Wells Fargo to be (3.75%) above thigyne Month LIBOR Rate in effect from time tonte.

The Company's Credit Facility requires the Comp@nyaintain certain financial covenants as of the ef each calendar quar
including the following:

« Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth Ratio nategiter than 2.25 to 1.Q@&nc
+ Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio not less than 1.750@.1

“Total Liabilities” is defined as the aggregateanfrrent liabilities and non-current liabilities. dmgible Net Worth'is defined a
the aggregate of total stockholders' equity legsiaiangible assets and less any loans or advdogces investments in, any rela
entities or individuals. “Fixed Charge Coveragei®ais determined on a rolling fougquarter basis and is defined as EBIT
minus cash taxes, divided by interest expense, thieiscurrent maturity of lonterm debt, where EBITDA is net income, |
interest expense, plus income taxes, plus depi@eiabd amortization, plus stock compensation expen

The Company was not inompliance with one covenant (Fixed Charge Ratiojen the Wells Fargo Credit Facility as
December 31, 2011 ; however, Wells Fargo has giamtgaiver for the breach of this covenant. Forgharterly
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period ended December 31, 2011 , our Total Liakdito Tangible Net Worth Ratio ranged from 1.451t80; and our Fixe
Charge Coverage Ratio ranged from .54 to 1.00 .inguthe 12-month period ended December 31, 20&l expended
committed approximately 19% , or $0.7 million ,tbe $3.5 millionfiscal year covenant limitation on capital expeadis. Th
balance of our capital expenditures for themi@ath period has been for normal operating requergmincluding office furnitur
computers, software and vehicles.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility also contains cawes that place certain limitations on the Compiaigjuding limits on capit:
expenditures, other indebtedness, mergers, adest Bvestments, guaranties, and restrictionsestain distributions and pledc
of assets.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility has been extendeéth an increased interest rate, to May 31, 201®2wwe are currently in the d
diligence phase to secure a new, long term creditity from an different lender. We presently has@mpetitive proposals frc
two major financial institutions to provide lorigrm financing on terms that are better than oistieng Wells Fargo Credit Facili
and we are working toward entering into a new dridiility with a multiyear term before the May 31, 2012 extension dateut
Wells Fargo Credit Facility. If we are unable tostn we believe alternative forms of financing available to us.

Letters of Credi

In July 2011, with the support of Wells Fargo's i&bBanking Group, ENGlobal and the Expbriport Bank of the United Stai
(“Ex-Im Bank”) entered into a $9.5 million lettef oredit facility (the “Ex-Im Bank Facility”}o support the Company's Casy
Pipeline Consortium (CPC) project. Under the teohshis agreement, the Company may issue lettersrexdit to CPC for it
performance under the CPC project. The Compangdaired to collateralize letters of credit outsiagdunder the Exm Bank
Facility with cash or eligible receivables resuitifiom the CPC project. As of April 12, 201%9.1 million in letters of credit w
outstanding under this facility. As part of an Ex-Bank requirement, this letter of credit is calalized by $2.3 milliorin cash
designated as Restricted Cash in the Company'solidaited Balance Sheet, only until sufficient aauisureceivables are credi
as part of the Russian portion of the CPC project.

As of December 31, 2011 , the Company had othestanding letters of credit totaling $4,374,0p0marily for additione
performance support to our CPC project and to cee#frinsured deductibles under both our general ligb#ihd our worker
compensation insurance policies.

Contractual Obligations

Our total long-term debt outstanding on December2B®11 was $16.6 milliofsee Note 10 to Consolidated Financial Statem
a decrease from $19.3 million as of December 31020

The following table summarizes our contractual gédiions as of December 31, 2011 :

Payments Due by Period

2016 and
2012 2013 2014 2015 thereafter Total
(in thousands)

Long-term debt $ 16,60: $ — % — 3 — % — % 16,60:
Equipment Lease 534 494 47¢ 307 80 1,89(
Contractual interest and discount

on certain notes 26C — — — — 26C
Subtotal long-term debt 17,39¢ 494 47% 307 80 18,75:

Short-Term Notes — — — — — —
Purchase Order Obligations — — — — — —
Operating leases 3,45: 3,03¢ 2,62¢ 2,601 4,72¢ 16,43°
Total contractual cash obligations $  20,84¢ $ 3521 $ 3,101 $ 2,90¢ $ 4,80¢ $  35,18¢
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'Future interest consists primarily of interest ba line of credit under the Wells Fargo Credit FgciThe rate applicable to debt outstanding at
December 31, 2011 was 4% and fluctuates with theeprate. Interest and discount rates on the renmimote payable is 5.00% at December 31, 2011 .

Nor-Cash Transactions

In 2011 , there were no non-cash transactionsOlf02 non-cash transactions included $0.8 milliloonnection with financir
insurance policy premiums and $0.5 million in diseted notes payable in connection with the acqarsiof CDI's operations. |
2009 , non-cash transactions included $0.2 milliodiscounted notes payable issued in connectiti tlve acquisition of PCI .
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Derivative Financial Instrument

We do not hold any derivative financial instrumefuistrading purposes or otherwise. Furthermorehexe not engaged in ene
or commodity trading activities and do not anti¢galoing so in the future, nor do we have any &atigns involvini
unconsolidated entities or special purpose entities

Long-term Notes Receivable

In June 2008, ENGlobal filed an action in the Udittates District Court for the Eastern DistrictLafuisiana; against Sot
Louisiana Ethanol LLC (“SLE"}o enforce collection of $15.8 million owed to EN®&I and its affiliates for services perforr
on an ethanol plant in Louisiana. $12.3 million tbé amount due had been documented in the form ‘tdamd Note.” In
August 2009, SLE filed for Chapter 11 protectiorthie United States Bankruptcy Court for the EasRistrict of Louisiana, Ca:
Number 0-12676. In connection with the bankruptcy proceesintpe plant assets were sold and the court isanedrde
allocating proceeds from the sale and authorizivar tdistribution. ENGlobal received $209,017 andynmeceive an additior
$845,500 depending on the outcome of a dispute sulitontractor.

On March 13, 2009, the Company entered into arlettgeement (the “letter agreementiijth Alon resolving the payment
accounts receivable invoices in the aggregate atnafu$i6.8 million, payable in monthly installmentsth the final payment i
December 2009. The $6.8 million payment plan inetl&4.6 million in subcontractor obligations whiatere included in o
Accounts Payable balances until April 2010 wherytivere then reclassified to a lobgrm note payable. Alon made tim
payments under the letter agreement until Octob882when it failed to pay the full amount due.sTréceivable was reclassei
a short-term note receivable as of December 310 208 paid in full in April 2011.

In 2010, the Company reclassified the accountsivabke balance of $3.0 million related to the Bigléigation and subseque
bankruptcy filing to long-term claims receivabla.June 2010, the Company wrote off the long-termmts receivable.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
To our knowledge, the Company is not exposed toestwyronmental liability.

The Company does not have any product liabilityiess Lease commitments are included in Footnoteflthe consolidate
financial statements. The Company leases all afffise and fabrication space.

The Company has no off-balance sheet financingngerments.

Income Tax Provision

We recognize interest related to uncertain taxtos in interest expense and penalties relatedntertain tax positions

governmental penalties. As of December 31, 20%de have not recognized interest or penaltiestingleto any uncertain ti
positions.

The Company is subject to federal and state inctareaudits from time to time that could result imposed assessments.

Company cannot predict with certainty the timingsoth audits, how these audits would be resolvedvarether the Compa
would be required to make additional tax paymentsch may or may not include penalties and interest

The Company is not currently the subject of anyn@ration by the Internal Revenue Service, and fEnoyears subject to aL
are tax years 2008-2010~or most states where the Company conducts lassitlee Company is subject to examination fo
preceding three to six years.

Asset Management
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We typically sell our products and services on stenm credit and seek to minimize our credit riskggrforming credit chec
and conducting our own collection efforts. Our &atcounts receivable increased to $54.0 millioafd3ecember 31, 201ftom
$52.5 million as of December 31, 2010 . The nuntdfefays sales outstanding for trade accounts rabk&hincreased from Sfay:
at December 31, 2010, to 70 days at December@1l, 2Bad debt expense was approximately 0.3% &% &f revenue for tr
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 , respgctivde decreased our allowance for doubtful accedram $2.1 millionto
$1.8 million or 4.0% and 3.3% of trade accountiegble balance for each of the years 2010 and 2fddpectively. We contin
to manage this portion of our business very careful

Risk Management

In performing services for our clients, we couldeptially face liability for breach of contract,ngenal injury, property damage
negligence, including professional errors and oiigs We often agree to indemnify our clients fmsdes and expenses incu
as a result of our negligence and, in certain ¢dakessole or concurrent negligence of our clie@tsr quality control and assural
program includes a control function to establisindards and procedures for performance and forndectation of project tasl
and an assurance function to audit and to monitonpliance with procedures and quality standards. mé&ntain liability
insurance for bodily injury and third party propemiamage, professional errors and omissions, andkenrsl compensatic
coverage, which we consider sufficient to insuraiast these risks, subject to self-insured amounts.

Seasonality

Our revenues are generated by services, and therredtidays and employee vacations during our foqutarter exert downward
pressure on revenues for that quarter, which ig paitially offset by the year-end efforts on thetpf many clients to spend any
remaining funds budgeted for services and capiadeditures during the year. Our clients' annualget process is normally
completed in the first quarter of each calendar,y@hich can slow the award of new work at the bagig of the yearPrincipally
due to these factors, our first and fourth quardeestypically less robust than our second and thirarters.

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognitic

A large portion of the Company's revenue is recogghiunder time-andiaterial contracts. Significant estimates are gahenot
involved in determining revenue recognition forgbaypes of contracts. Significant estimates arelied in determining reven
recognition for fixed-price contracts.

Most of our contracts are with Fortune 500 companigs a result, collection risk is generally notedevant factor in tF
recognition of revenue. However, timing of accoumtseivable collections could have a serious impatte Company's liquidit
We have instituted policies to determine the credlithiness of new customers. Adverse changes iretomomy are likely 1
impact smaller companies' ability to undertake famahce projects.

Our revenue is largely composed of engineeringiserkevenue and product sales. The majority of seiwices are provid
through time-and-material contracts (also refet@as cost-plus contracts). Some contracts havdormtceed provisions tt
place a cap on the revenue that we may receiver ingarticular contract. The contract is awardethwhe maximum aggreg:
revenue, referred to as the not-to-exceed amoumd.dompany does not earn revenue over the nex¢eed amount unless
obtain a change order. The current amount of revelafierred for these reasons is $0.3 millidie Company is not obligatec
complete the contract once the not-to-exceed amuambeen reached. However, if the Company perferark over the not-to-
exceed amount prior to obtaining a valid changesgrdur gross profit margins are negatively impacillings on time-and-
material contracts are produced every two weeks.

On occasion, we serve as purchasing agent by pngcsubcontractors, material and equipment on lhetia client and passil
the cost on to the client with no mauk-or profit. Revenue and cost for these typesunfipases are not included in total reve
and cost. For financial reporting, this “pass-tlgloutype of transaction is reported net. We
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had $3.6 million and $1.0 million of pass-througlansactions in 2011 and 2010 , respectively. We hadpasshrougt
transactions in 2009 .

Revenue on fixed-price contracts is recorded piilsnarsing the percentage-of-completion (costtist) method. Under tt
method, revenue on lortgrm contracts is recognized in the ratio that irttcosts incurred bear to total estimated cohtrasts
Revenue and gross margin on fixagdece contracts are subject to revision throughbetlives of the contracts and any requ
adjustments are made in the period in which thdsiavs become known. To manage unknown risks, nmamagt use
contingency amounts to increase the estimated,dbst®fore, lowering the earned revenues untirigies are better identified a
quantified or have been mitigated. We currentlyen&8.5 millionin contingency. Losses on contracts are recordddllims the
are identified.

The asset, “costs and estimated earnings in exédslings on uncompleted contractsgpresents revenue recognized in exce
amounts billed on fixed-price contracts. The Conysminability to manage significant levels or ingses in tosts and estimat
earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted @&’ could have a serious impact on the Company's dash The liability
“billings in excess of costs and estimated profits uncompleted contractgepresents amounts billed in excess of rev
recognized on fixed-price contracts.

Change Orders

Change orders are modifications of an original amttthat effectively change deliverables undepatract without adding ne
provisions. We can request change orders, andl@mnts may initiate them. Change orders may inclcldanges in specificatio
or design, manner of performance, equipment, naseiscope of work and/or the period of completibthe project.

Change orders occur when changes are experienasdaonontract is begun. Change orders are sometiomsnented and
most cases the terms of change orders are agreedwith the client before the work is performedhéttimes, circumstanc
may require that work progress without the cliemt'iten agreement before the work is performedhbse cases, we are takir
risk that the customer will not sign a change oeat a later time the customer will seek to nigetthe pricing of the additior
work. Costs related to change orders are recognizezh they are incurred. Change orders are includetie total estimate
contract revenue when it is more likely than nattthe change orders will result in a bona fideitdaid to value that can |
reliably estimated.

We have a favorable history of negotiating andemihg for work performed under change orders amdboweekly billing cycle
has proven to be timely enough to properly accéamtchange orders.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase pfi@cquisitions over the fair value of the neteds acquired. Goodwill is r
amortized and is tested at least annually for inmpaint. We perform our annual analysis as of thetffioguarter of each fiscal ye
and in any period in which indicators of impairmevdrrant an additional analysis. Reporting unitstfee purpose of goodw
impairment calculations are components one levievbeur reportable operating segments for whiclerdist financial informatic
is available and reviewed by segment managemerdd@itl is tested for impairment using a tvetep process. In step 1 of
goodwill impairment test, the fair value of eaclpoding unit is determined and compared to theyaagrvalue of the reportir
unit. In step 2, if the fair value of the reportingit is less than the carrying value, including@dwill, then the goodwill is writte
down to the implied fair value of the goodwill tlugh a charge to expense.

Management utilizes a discounted cash flow analisisetermine the estimated fair value of our répgrunits. Significar
judgments and assumptions, including determinatfosin appropriate discount rate, projecting revegnosvth and gross margil
estimating operating and interest expense and ginoge capital expenditure levels, are involved irmakimg these fair vall
estimates, with the most critical estimates beirgjgated growth rate and discount rate. The prefgrowth rate incorporates
Company's 2012 budget and management's estimatieeolongterm growth rate of the Company based on certaiaria
estimates and external data. The discount rateediin the analysis was a weighted average cosapital (WACC). WACC is ¢
estimate of the overall aftéax rate of return required by equity and debt raaparticipants of a business enterprise, witt
weighting of returns based on the capitalizatiowahparable companies. While we use the best &lailaformation to prepa
our cash flow projections and WACC assumptionsyalctuture cash flows, costs of capital or markenditions could diffe
significantly resulting in future impairment andaches related to recorded goodwill balances.

During 2010, the Company realigned its reporting ithree business segments. In addition, duringahgh quarter of 2010, tl
Company further consolidated its legal entities artdrnal reporting and renamed the reportable segsnas Engineering &
Construction, Automation and Field Solutions. Aseault, goodwill that was previously reported ire tBonstruction segme
(which no longer exists as a separate segmentyeedlocated to Engineering and Construction anttiFSelutions. Other than t
change in reporting segments and reporting uniis,neethodologies for performing our goodwill impagnt analysis have r
changed from the prior year. However, the WACQuagstion decreased approximately 6 percentage pfonthe current ye:
analysis. The fair value of each of our reportimjfsiexceeded their carrying value in excess of 4B&terioration in our expect
operating results or increases in our cost of ahpituld have a negative effect on fair value aatlito an impairment charge
the future.

A 20% decrease in our budgeted sherth growth rate (holding all other assumptionsstant) would have the following impi
on the estimated fair value of our reporting urstenmarized by segment:

Engineering and Construction ($2.0 million)
Automation ($1.4 million)
Field Solutions (%$3.9 million)

These hypothetical changes would not cause stéph2 goodwill impairment test to be required fayaf our reporting units.

A 20% decrease in our projected lotegm growth rate (holding all other assumptionsstant) would have the following impi
on the estimated fair value of our reporting urstenmarized by segment:

Engineering and Construction ($2.6 million)
Automation (%$2.3 million)
Field Solutions ($2.3 million)

These hypothetical changes would not cause stéph2 goodwill impairment test to be required fayaf our reporting units.
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A 20% increase in our assumed discount rate (hgldih other assumptions constant) would have thleviing impact on th
estimated fair value of our reporting units, sumizest by segment:

Engineering and Construction ($8.2 million)
Automation ($7.3 million)
Field Solutions ($7.1 million)

These hypothetical changes would not cause stéphz goodwill impairment test to be required foe treporting units within ai
of our segments.

Deferred Tax

The Company had net deferred tax asset balanc#5.2fmillion and $4.0 million as of December 31,120andDecember 3:
2010, respectively. These net deferred tax assetglentified in Footnote 16 to the financial staénts.

The Company had a federal net operating loss darwyard at December 31, 2011 of approximately $&uflion . Earliel
utilization of the net operating loss on the Compar2002 and 2003 consolidated tax returns wadlaligzd by the IRS whic
resulted in a reinstated carry-forward. The cursedr net operating loss of approximately $3.8iarilwill be available for carn
back to 2009 and 2010 and for carry forward thro2g81.

The Company also has a foreign net operating lasy-¢orward at December 31, 2011 of approximaglyl million. This loss i
available for utilization from 2008 through 2017wever, application of the net operating loss mstrieted to the income
ENGlobal Canada. The Company is unsure of itstgkii fully utilize the foreign net operating loskherefore, the Company
set up a valuation allowance of $0.4 million agaths net operating loss.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which reviee manner in which entities present comprehensicome in the
financial statements. The new guidance eliminates presentation option to report other comprehensncome and i
components in the statement of changes in stockmsldquity and requires entities to report comptsef comprehensive incol
in either a continuous statement of comprehensizeme or in two separate, but consecutive, stattsnenDecember 2011, t
FASB deferred indefinitely the effective date forpartion of this guidance relating to the preseatatof reclassificatio
adjustments. The remainder of this guidance isc¥fe for interim and annual periods beginning afdecember 15, 2011The
Company will adopt this guidance on Janubr2012 and the adoption of this standard willlmte a material effect on its financial positio
results of operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance whigsgompanies the option to perform a qualitaissessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the faifuaof a reporting unit is less than its carryimgoaint and, in some cases, bypass
the two-step impairment test. This guidance isadiffe for goodwill impairment tests performed ingrim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 20The Company will adopt this guidance on Januai8012 and the adoption of this standard will not
have a material effect on itnancial position or operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2011 and 201the Company did not participate in any derivafimancial instruments or other financial i
commodity instruments for which fair value discloswould be required. There are no material invests) atDecember 3:
2011 . Accordingly, the Company has no quantitaitifermation concerning the market risk of partatipg in such investments.

The Company's primary interest rate risk relategstoariable-rate line of credit debt obligatiamhich totaled $16.4 millioranc
$18.7 million as of December 31, 2011 and 201Gpeetively. Assuming a 10% increase in the inter&st on this variableate
debt obligation i.e., an increase from the actwatage interest rate of 4.00% as of December 311 2 an average interest r
of 4.40% , annual interest expense would have bpproximately
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$65,000 higher in 201fhased on our annual average line of credit obbgatDue to the current credit market, a greateceomis
the impact of a material violation of certain fircégad covenants in our Credit Agreement resulting irepricing of that agreeme
This could not only result in the increased anniogdrest expense but also a renewal or origindeéenof equal proportion or
similar Credit Agreement. The Company does not leaweinterest rate swap or exchange agreements.

The Company has no market risk exposure in thesaobmterest rate risk from investments becausetbmpany did not have
investment portfolio as of December 31, 2011 .
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Currently, the Company does not engage in foreigmency hedging activities. Transactions in Canadiallars in our forme
Canadian subsidiary have been translated into to8ars using the current rate method, such thaetasand liabilities a
translated at the rates of exchange in effecteab#iance sheet date and revenue and expensearalated at the average rate
exchange during the appropriate fiscal period. Aesalt, the carrying value of the Company's invesits in Canada was sub
to the risk of foreign currency fluctuations. Additally, any revenue received from the Companyterirational operations
other than U.S. dollars will be subject to foreigxchange risk. The percentage of revenue recend foreign customers
identified in the discussion of segment revenuestMevenue received from foreign customers is paithe Company in U.
currency, except for revenue collected by our farf@anadian subsidiaries. The Canadian dollar issnbfect to volatile pric
fluctuations compared to the U.S. dollar.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The audited consolidated balance sheets for ENGIGeporation, as of December 31, 2011 and 2@hd statements
operations, cash flows and stockholders' equitytHerthree-year period ended December 31, 2@t# attached hereto and m
part hereof.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm on
Consolidated Financial Statements

Board of Directors
ENGlobal Corporation
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of ENGlobal Corporation and subsidigties“Company”) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related ddased statements of operations, stockholderstgquid cash flows for each
of the years in the three year period ended DeceBihe2011 . We have also audited the scheduklist the accompanying Item
8. These consolidated financial statements anddsdhare the responsibility of the Company's manmegg. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these consolidated fimhsthtements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighaiBlo(United States
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whiheonsolidated financ
statements and schedule are free of material nessemt. The Company is not required to have, noewe engaged to perfor
an audit of its internal control over financial oefing. Our audits included consideration of intdroontrol over financial reportii
as a basis for designing audit procedures thaa@peopriate in the circumstances, but not for thigpse of expressing an opin
on the effectiveness of the Company's internalrobotver financial reporting. Accordingly, we expseno such opinion. An au
also includes examining, on a test basis, evidsopporting the amounts and disclosures in the diolated financial statemer
and schedule, assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managemgnteh as evaluating tl
overall presentation of the consolidated finanstatements and schedule. We believe that our guditsde a reasonable basis
our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaaferred to above present fairly, in all matené@pects, the financial position
of ENGlobal Corporation and subsidiaries as of Dawer 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of thggrations and their cash
flows for each of the years in the three year mpkended December 31, 2011 in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Also, in our opinion, the schedule presents fairlyall material respects, the information setHptherein in relation to the
financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ Hein & Associates LLP
Hein & Associates LLP
Houston, Texas

April 12, 2012
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010

(dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $1,792%h#30
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Notes Receivable
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimggncompleted contracts
Assets held for sale
Federal and state income taxes receivable
Deferred tax asset
Total Current Assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Long-term trade and notes receivable, net of currehportion and allowances
Deferred tax asset, non-current
Other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Notes payable
Current portion of long-term debt and leases
Deferred rent
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnargancompleted contracts
Liabilities held for sale
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt, net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 3, 11, 12, ad8)
Stockholders' Equity:

Common stock - $0.001 par value; 75,000,000 stertwrized; 26,822,518 and 26,676,279
shares outstanding and 27,803,617 and 27,657,2f8sslssued at December 31, 2011 and

2010, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Treasury stock at cost - 981,099 shares at Decedtlddr and 2010 respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total Stockholders' Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

2011 2010

$ 26 $ 49
2,27¢ —
54,02( 52,46¢
88( 1,80z

514 2,57¢

6,79( 3,14¢
3,751 5,66¢

10z 6,841

3,98¢ 2,61¢
72,35: 75,17(
3,38¢ 4,41¢
22,61« 22,614
2,83t 4,97¢

89¢ 1,361

1,20¢ 1,42

887 364

$ 104,17¢ $ 110,32
$ 836: $ 862
11,21 11,04
— 2,07(
16,60: 19,00:
671 62¢

4,421 947
1,34( 1,26¢
3,072 1,29¢
45,67¢ 44,97
— 252
45,67¢ 45,22;
28 28

38,08: 37,60¢
22,82: 29,92(
(2,362 (2,362
(69 (92
58,50( 65,10:

$ 104,17¢ $ 110,32




See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadatatements.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating revenues
Operating costs and expenses:
Operating costs
Selling, general, and administrative expenses
Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest (expense), net
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for federal and state income tees
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net daxes
Net Income (Loss)

Earnings (loss) per common share - Basic and Dilute
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net Income (loss)

Years Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)

Weighted average shares used in computing earningi®ss) per

share (in thousands):
Basic
Diluted

2011 2010 2009
$ 312747 $ 30623 $  34346.
285, 46¢ 284,28; 312,40¢
31,26 39,97 28,02
316,73 324,25 340,43(
(3,98 (18,019 3,02¢

(1,029) (442) (579)

(62) (319) 174

(5,079 (18,779 2,627

(831) (6,559 1,39¢

(4,242) (12,229) 1,23¢

(2,839 474 —

$ (7,076 $  (11,75) $ 1,23:
$ 0.1 $ (0.45) $ 0.0%
$ .11 $ 0.0z $ —
$ 0.27) $ 0.49 $ 0.0%
26,72: 27,15 27,33(

26,72: 27,15 27,56

See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadetatements.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
FOR YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

(dollars in thousands)

Common Stock
Balance at beginning of year $
Common stock issued

Balance at end of year

Paid-in Capital
Balance at beginning of year
Common stock issued
Stock based compensation
Deferred tax adjustment

Balance at end of year

Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of year
WRCC dissolution
Net income (loss)

Balance at end of year

Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of year
Purchase of treasury stock

Balance at end of year

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), netf taxes
Balance at beginning of year
Foreign currency translation adjustment
WRCC dissolution

Balance at end of year

Total Stockholders' Equity $

2011 2010 2009
28 27 $ 27
J— 1 N
28 28 27
37,60¢ 37,10¢ 36,41¢
23 58 13€
45(C 43¢ 557
— 4 —
38,08: 37,60¢ 37,10¢
29,92( 41,67: 40,43¢
(22) — —
(7,076 (11,757 1,237
22,82: 29,92( 41,67
(2,36%) — —
— (2,362) —
(2,36%) (2,362) —
92 (96) (115)
1 4 19
22 — —
(69) (92 (96)
58,50( 65,10: $ 78,71:

See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadastatements.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Years Ended December 31,

(dollars in thousands)

2011 2010 2009

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ (7,07¢) $ (11,75) $ 1,23:

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mestcprovided by (used in)
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,56¢ 4,341 4,79¢F
Share-based compensation expense 45C 43¢ 683
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (2,745 (180 577
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, plant and pongnt 21 10€ 47
Changes in current assets and liabilities, netqtisitions:
Trade receivables (347) (8,05%) 48,30
Notes receivable 2,527 11,40: (3,019
Allowance on notes receivable (3,709 —
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimgsncompleted
contracts (1,799 1,432 35€
Prepaid expenses and other assets 45€ 1,80¢ (227
Long-term trade receivables — 2,98¢ (2,98¢)
Accounts payable (63€) 96¢ (10,579
Accrued compensation and benefits (209) (732) (12,92
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnomgancompleted
contracts 3,34t (2,372) 3,39¢
Short-term trade payables (1,479 1,491 —
Other liabilities 2,65¢ 29¢€ (2,069
Income taxes receivable/(payable) 6,73¢ (4,620 (4,697
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 5,57¢ (6,157) 23,00:
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Property and equipment acquired (664) (1,179 (3,217)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired — (1,89¢) (1,050
Proceeds from sale of other assets 65 29 4
Restricted cash (2,275 — —
Proceeds from note receivable — 15 58
Net cash used in investing activities (2,879 (3,026 (4,20)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Borrowings on line of credit 159,86! 121,40¢ 98,827
Payments on line of credit (162,219 (108,709 (115,35)
Purchase of treasury stock — (2,362) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 23 58 72
Borrowings (repayments) under capital lease (52) (192) (275)
Other long-term debt repayments (359 (1,129 (3,040
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,729 9,07¢ (19,677
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash 1 4 18
Net change in cash (23 (94) (857)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year 49 142 1,00(

Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year $ 26 $ 49 $ 142




See accompanying notes to these consolidated fadatatements.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Organization and Operations
ENGlobal Corporation is a Nevada corporation fornmed994. Unless the context requires otherwistereaces to “we”, “
“our”, “the Company” or “ENGIlobal” are intended twean the consolidated business and operations Gidésl Corporation.

”

us

Our business operations consist of providing ergging and other professional project services edldb design, fabricatic
procurement, maintenance, environmental and otleeergmental compliance and construction managenm@irarily with
respect to energy sector infrastructure faciliieoughout the United States. Please see “Noteet@n®nt Information’for &
description of our segments and segment operations.

Basis of Presentatio

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeartd related notes present our consolidated finhrmisition as c
December 31, 2011 and 2018nd the results of our operations, cash flowsdrahges in stockholders' equity for the years d
December 31, 2011 , 2010 and 200they are prepared in accordance with accountiimgiples generally accepted in the Un
States of America. Certain amounts for prior pegib@ve been reclassified to conform to the curpeesentation. In prepari
financial statements, management makes informeghjadts and estimates that affect the reported ammadirassets and liabiliti
as of the date of the financial statements andateffe reported amounts of revenues and expensegdhbe reporting periods. (
an ongoing basis, management reviews its estimatelsiding those related to percentagezofnpletion contracts in progre
litigation, income taxes, impairment of lofiged assets and fair values. Changes in factscamdmstances or discovery of n
information may result in revised estimates. Actasllts could differ from these estimates.

Certain reclassifications have been made to th@ 20hsolidated financial statements to confornh2011 presentation to ref
discontinued operations. Refer to Note 4.

NOTE 2 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash on hderdand deposits and investments with original nités of three months
less. We consider cash equivalents to include gbort, highly liquid investments that are readilyeertible to known amounts
cash and which are subject to an insignificant ofskhanges in value.

The Company is required to collateralize letterscoddit outstanding under the HEx Bank Facility with cash or eligib
receivables resulting from the Caspian Pipelinegoaium (CPC) project. As of the date of this fijirthese letters of credit wt
collateralized by $2.3 millioin cash, designated as Restricted Cash in the Quytgp@onsolidated Balance Sheet. Refer to
10.

The Company utilizes a cash management system lhdank accounts are swept daily to reduce outsigrishlances on tl
Company's line of credit. Major operating bank aode are automatically replenished daily to meetckkelearing requirement
Outstanding checks are recorded as a reductioastt when they are issued. Our checks that havgetditeen paid by banks ¢
reporting date are reclassified to accounts payablthe financial statements. Amounts reclassifiedaccounts payable i
outstanding checks were $1.9 million and $1.9 onillas of December 31, 2011 and 2010 respectively.

Consolidation Policy

Our consolidated financial statements include cwgoants and those of our majoribyvned subsidiaries in which we hav
controlling interest after the elimination of allaberial intereompany accounts and transactions. Currently,fadluo subsidiarie
are whollyowned. We also consolidate other entities and veatin which we possess a controlling interest. &/aluate ot
financial interests in business enterprises tordete if they represent variable interest entitigsere we are the prime
beneficiary. If such criteria are met, we consdkdtne financial statements of such businessestivitbe of our own. We do r
currently hold such interests.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

While we do not currently own any significant eguihterests in unconsolidated affiliates and do fieguently conduct o
business through such entities, it is our policyoltow the equity method of accounting if our owsieip interest is between 2(
and 50% and we exercise significant influence dheroperating and financial policies of an ent®ur proportionate share
profits and losses from transactions with equitytirod unconsolidated affiliates is eliminated in solidation to the extent su
amounts are material and remain on our equity nteiingestees' balance sheet in inventory or singitamounts. If our ownerst

interest in an investee does not provide us witheeicontrol or significant influence over the istee, we account for t
investment using the cost method.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income includes net income and atherprehensive income. Currently our other comprsivenincome i
comprised of unrealized foreign exchange gainslesgkes. Comprehensive income is as follows:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ (7,07¢) $ (11,75) $ 1,23
Cumulative translation adjustment (91 (92 (96)
WRCC Dissolution $ 22 — —
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (7,149  § (11,849 % 1,137

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject Bblgal to concentrations of credit risk consist maiity of trade accounts a
notes receivable. Although our services are pralitbrgely to the energy sector, management belig¢hesrisk due to th
concentration is limited because a significantiparbf our services are provided under contracth wiajor integrated oil and ¢
companies and other industry lead&#hen the Company enters into contracts with smalistomers, it incurs an increased ci
risk.

We extend credit to customers and other partiehénnormal course of business. We have establishedus procedures
manage our credit exposure, including initial cregiprovals, credit limits and terms, letters addit, and occasionally throu
rights of offset. We also use prepayments guadrantees to limit credit risk to ensure that established credit criteria are n
Our most significant exposure to credit risks mdatip situations under which we provide servicely éa the life of a project th.
is dependent on financing. Certain of these dewety projects are susceptible to unforeseen delagsother issues that exp
us to reduced margins and possible losses. Rigkedre in times of general economic downtuand under conditions tt
threaten project feasibility.

Estimated losses on accounts receivable are prmvid®ugh an allowance for doubtful accounts. Imleating the level «
established allowances, we make judgments regaehoh party's ability to make required paymentenemic events and ott
factors. As the financial condition of any partyaoges, circumstances develop or additional infdonabecomes availab
adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accoumy be required.

Earnings per shar

The Company's basic earnings per share (EPS) ambane been computed based on the average numbbkaras of comm¢
stock outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS anteumclude the effect of our outstanding stock @i restricted stock awa
and restricted stock units under the treasury stoethod, if including such potential shares of camnmstock is dilutive. Refer
Note 5.

Debt Issue Cosl

Costs incurred in connection with the issuancenfterm debt are capitalized and charged to intergstrese over the term of 1
related debt on a straighite basis, which approximates the interest metfite total amount of debt issue costs capitalizae
$0 and $22,000 in 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchasee mfcacquisitions over the fair value of the assatquired and liabilitie
assumed. Goodwill is not amortized and is testekbadt annually for impairment. We perform a test impairment as of tt
fourth quarter of each fiscal year and in any pkiio which impairment indicators arise. The impanhtest requires allocati
goodwill and all other assets and liabilities tosipgss units referred to as reporting units. Rapgprunits for the purpose
goodwill impairment calculations are components wel below our reportable operating segmentsafioich discreet financi
information is available and reviewed by segmentagement. The fair value of each reporting uniteermined and comparec
the carrying value of the reporting unit. If thérfaalue of the reporting unit is less than thergiaig value, including goodwill, the
the goodwill is written down to the implied fairlua of the goodwill through a charge to expense.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Intangible assets are comprised primarily of nomygetitioncovenants, customer relationships and developéduhtdagy acquire
through acquisitions and are amortized using tfagtt-line method based on the estimated usdubfithe intangible assets.

We review intangible assets for impairment whenewemts or changes in circumstances indicate tigatarrying amount of su
assets may not be recoverable. This review consfstemparing the carrying value of the asset whit asset's expected fut
undiscounted cash flows. Estimates of expecteddutash flows represent management's best estlvagtsl on reasonable i
supportable assumptions. If such a review shoutlicate that the carrying amount of intangible assetnot recoverable, \
reduce the carrying amount of such assets to &irev

Property and Equipmet
Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatioeomputed using tl
straight-line method over the estimated usefuldigéthe assets. The estimated service lives oasset groups are as follows:

Range of
Asset Group Years
Shop equipment 7-10
Furniture and fixtures 5-7
Computer equipment; Autos and trucks 3-5
Software 3-5

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the tdrthe related lease. See Note 7 for details reélaieoroperty and equipme
and related depreciation. Expenditures for maimeeaaand repairs are expensed as incurred. Upowdiligm or retirement «
property and equipment, any gain or loss is chatgexgberations.

The Company reviews property and equipment andtifiisie intangible assets for impairment whenegeents or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounarofasset may not be recoverable. An impairment iksgcognized whe
estimated future cash flows expected to result filoenuse of an asset and its eventual disposgitess than its carrying amount.

Pre-Contract Costs

The Company expenses pre-contract costs, alsaedfey as proposal costs, as they are incurredcdact costs incurred fo
specific anticipated contract and that will resualtno future benefits, unless the contract is atgdj should not be included
contract costs or inventory before the receipthaf tontract. Costs related to anticipated contramscharged to expenses
incurred because recovery is not considered prebatdl such expenses are not reinstated by a tweditome on the subsequ
receipt of the contract.

Income Taxe

The Company accounts for deferred income taxesdordance with the asset and liability method, wbgrdeferred income tax
are recognized for the tax consequences of tempditierences by applying enacted statutory targatpplicable to future ye:
to differences between the financial statementygagramounts and the respective tax basis of itetasand liabilities. Tt
provision for income taxes represents the curr@xed payable or refundable for the period plus imumthe tax effect of the r
change in the deferred tax assets and liabilitietnd the period. Valuation allowances are proviflmddeferred tax assets wt
their recovery is doubtful.

The Company files income tax returns in federatesand foreign jurisdictions as more fully desedilin Note 16. It has not tak

an uncertain tax position as defined by authovigaticcounting literature and does not expect te takch a position on a tax ret
not yet filed.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognitic

Our revenue is comprised of engineering, constvnathanagement and procurement service fees arslafatentrol systems tt
we design and fabricate. In general, we recogrézenues when all of the following criteria are ni&): persuasive evidence of
exchange arrangement exists, if applicable, (dyelgl has occurred or services have been rend€Bdhe price is fixed ¢
determinable, and (4) collection is reasonably skurhe Company recognizes service revenue asetlreces are performed. 1
majority of the Company's engineering servicespaowided under time-and-material contracts. Some-tandmaterial contrac
may have upper limits referred to as "notet@eed" amounts. Revenue is not recognized oveetAmounts until a change ot
or authorization by the client has been given. Aarity of sales of fabricated systems are undegdigrice contracts that may a
include a service element covered under that conpréce.

We also sometimes serve as purchasing agent bunmgcsubcontractors, materials and equipment dralbef a client and pa
the cost on to the client with no mark-up or proRevenues and costs for these types of “passdhfdwansactions are repor
net. In 2011, we had $3.6 million of pass-througimsactions. We had $1.0 million of pass-throughgactions in 2010 and 2009

Profits and losses on our fixed-price contractsracegnized on the percentageeoimpletion method of accounting, measure
the percentage-afentract cost incurred to date relative to estimhatmtal contract cost. Contract costs used formestig
percentage-otompletion factors include professional compengatod related benefits, materials, subcontractoricgs an
other direct cost of projects. Freight charges imsgection costs are charged directly to the ptsjéx which they relate. Co
recognized for labor include all actual employeepensation plus a burden factor to cover estimatgthble labor expens:
These variable labor expenses consist of payraksaselfinsured medical plan expenses, workers' compemsatisurance
general liability insurance and paid time off. Thesstimated amounts are adjusted to actual costsréd at the end of ec
quarter.

Under the percentage-obmpletion method, revenue recognition is dependgrun the accuracy of a variety of estime
including the progress of engineering and desidortsf material installation, labor productivitypst estimates and others. Tt
estimates are based on various professional judgneend are difficult to accurately determine uiptibjects are significant
underway. Due to uncertainties inherent to themegtibn process, it is possible that actual pereggnt#d-completion may val
materially from our estimates. Estimating errorsyrnause errors in revenue recognition on uncomgletatracts and may ev
result in losses on the contracts. Anticipateddessn uncompleted contracts are charged to opesadi® soon as such losses
be estimated. Changes in job performance, job tiondi estimated profitability and final contraatttements may result
revisions to costs and revenues and are recogitizbe period in which the revisions are determined

Occasionally, it is appropriate for us to combimesegment contracts. Contracts are combined irethiwsted circumstances wh
they are negotiated as a package in the same etmmvironment with an overall profit margin objeet and constitute,
essence, an agreement to do a single project.dn sases, we recognize revenue and cost over tfierrpance period of tt
combined contracts as if they were one. Contraetg be segmented if the customer has the rightd¢eceparate elements «
contract and the total economic returns and rikbe separate contract elements are similar tetdomomic returns and risks
the overall contract. For segmented contracts,egegnize revenue as if they were separate contraetsthe performance peric
of the individual elements or phases.

Receivable:

Our components of trade receivables includes amsobified, amounts unbilled, retainage and allowafocedoubtful account
Subject to our allowance for uncollectible accopyatsamounts are believed to be collectible withigear. There are no amot
unbilled representing claims or other similar itepabject to uncertainty concerning their deterniamabr ultimate realization.

estimating the allowance for uncollectible accoumie consider the length of time receivable balantave been outstandi
historical collection experience, current econongaditions and customer specific information. Whenultimately conclude th
a receivable is uncollectible, the balance is chdmgainst the allowance for uncollectible accaunts
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Software Development Costs

ENGlobal capitalizes costs associated with softwdegeloped or acquired for internal use when tha#eria are met: tt
preliminary project stage is completed, managenaetihorizes funding for the project and the projsctieemed probable
completion. Capitalized costs include external sa$tmaterials and services incurred in obtainind developing the software ¢
payroll and payroll related costs for employeeprioportion to time devoted to the project. Captition of these costs cease:
later than the point at which the project is sultsadly complete and the software is ready for iitseended use. Softwe
development costs are included in property andpgnent and are amortized on the straight-line bags five years.

Significant Commercial Relationships
In 2009 and 2010, BASF Corporation accounted f&6 Ehd 11% , respectively, of our consolidated reesnin 2011, no
customer accounted for 10% or more of our constditleevenues.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

Management reviews property and equipment for impamt whenever events or changes in circumstanudisaie that tt
carrying amount of such assets may not be recolerdiine carrying amount is deemed not recoverablé éxceeds th
undiscounted sum of the cash flows expected tdtrésun the use and eventual disposition of theeasEstimates of expeci
future cash flows represent management's bestastinased on reasonable and supportable assumptitrescarrying amount
not recoverable, the impairment loss is measurddeagxcess of the asset's carrying value ovéaiityalue. Management asses
the fair value of londived assets using commonly accepted techniquesnay use more than one method, including, bu
limited to, recent third party comparable saleserimally developed discounted cash flow analysid analysis from outsi
advisors.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance which reviee manner in which entities present comprehensicome in the
financial statements. The new guidance eliminates presentation option to report other comprehensncome and i
components in the statement of changes in stockmsldquity and requires entities to report comptsef comprehensive incol
in either a continuous statement of comprehensigeme or in two separate, but consecutive, statnenDecember 2011, t
FASB deferred indefinitely the effective date forpartion of this guidance relating to the preseatatof reclassificatio
adjustments. The remainder of this guidance isc¥fe for interim and annual periods beginning afdecember 15, 2011The
Company will adopt this guidance on January 1, 28i@the adoption of this standard will not haveaderial effect on its financial position
results of operations.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance whidsgompanies the option to perform a qualitatissessment to determine
whether it is more likely than not that the faitu@of a reporting unit is less than its carryimgoaint and, in some cases, bypass
the two-step impairment test. This guidance isadiffe for goodwill impairment tests performed ingrim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 20The Company will adopt this guidance on Januai8012 and the adoption of this standard will not
have a material effect on itsnancial position or operations.
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ENGLOBAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 3 - ACQUISITIONS

Control Dynamics International, LP

In April 2010, a subsidiary of the Company acquisstected assets of Control Dynamics Internati¢f@DI"), a privately-Helc
automation firm based in Houston, Texas. CDI designd manufactures industrial automation contretesys primarily for th
upstream industryCDI complements the services performed by the Aat@mn segment and has allowed ENGlobal to ex
further into the upstream markdtor accounting purposes, the acquisition was an atarial business combination. T
consideration approximated $3.1 million comprisédsd.9 million in cash, a $0.5 million twgear installment note and $
million in contingent payments related to first ye@arnings performance and sales of specific tdolggarelated projects duril
the three years following the acquisition. Theraatied fair value of the contingent payments isabguisition date present va
of management's estimate of the payments thatultithately be made. While the actual contingentrpegt amounts may ve
from management's estimate, they may not exceddriillion. Under the terms of the agreement, EN@lafid not assume a
CDI debt, nor was it required to issue any stockassideration for the acquired assets. A key memb€DI's management tei
entered into an employment agreement with the Compa

The acquisition was structured as a taxable traiosache Company recognized customer relationstiggenants not to comp
and developed technology as identifiable fidited intangible assets. The intangible assets weregnized at their fair values
the acquisition date. The customer relations angmants not to compete intangible assets are la#imagtized over 5 years wh
the developed technology intangible asset is bamgrtized over 7.5 years beginning April 2010. Tdie values were determin
by management using an income approach methoddlwayis consistent with previous similar acquisigo Results of CI
operations are included in the Automation segmegtrining April 1, 2010.

The $0.3 million residual portion of consideratisras recognized as goodwill in our Automation segmaii of which it
deductible for income tax purposes. Goodwill représ management's estimate of the cost associgtedeguiring CDI's pows
consulting reputation, technical expertise, assethiborkforce and the potential synergies with otlrep energy infrastructu
consulting businesses. Acquisition cost of $104,0@% incurred and expensed as general and adrathistrexpenses in t
Automation segment during the six months ended 30n2010.

Total consideration was allocated to assets abditias acquired as follows:

(in thousands)

Current assets $ 32C
Property and equipment 37
Current liabilities (23€)
Intangibles

Customer relationships 1,51«

Technology 90¢

Covenants not to compete 22¢
Goodwill 32¢
Total consideration $ 3,09t

Quarterly, the Company performs fair value asseatsma the contingent liabilities. It was determdntbat the contingent liabili
that was based on earnings performance had nedhie as the minimum levels required to meet thia-eat provision would nt
be reached. The Company reversed the contingepilitifaof $0.3 million as a credit against amortibm expense in tt
Automation segment during the three and nine moetided September 30, 2010. As of December 31, 2ahé contingel
liability, relating to the sales of specific techogy related projects, fair value was $0.4 million.
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PCI Management and Consulting Company

A subsidiary of the Company acquired the operatioh®Cl Management and Consulting Company (“PC&"private lllinoi:
based power consulting business August 14, 2009. For accounting purposes, thguisition was an immaterial busin
combination.Consideration approximated $1,050,000 in cash &@D$00 in the form of a note. PCIl provides engiimeg
consulting and project management services, sjmo@lin projects related to the generation, traission and distribution
energy. PCl's services complement the servicesridatly provided by our Engineering and Constroictisegment. Results
operations are included in the Engineering and €oatson segment beginning August 15, 2009.

The acquisition was structured as a taxable traiosathat excluded all monetary assets and liaédiand all contingencies of -
acquired business. The Company recognized custoel@tionships and non-competitiagovenants as intangible assets.
intangible assets were recognized at their faineslon the acquisition date of $353,000 and $1D7;88pectively, and are be
amortized over five years. The fair values weredeined using an income approach methodology shedmsistent with previo
similar acquisitions.

The residual portion of consideration $702,000 weognized as goodwill, all of which is deductilite income tax purpose
Goodwill represents management's estimate of tis¢ @ssociated with acquiring PCl's power consultiggutation, technic
expertise, workforce and the potential synergieth wur other energy infrastructure consulting besses. Acquisition cost
$6,000 was incurred and expensed as general anidiattative expenses during the nine months endgdegnber 30, 2009.

NOTE 4 - DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the third quarter of 2011, as part of iteagic evaluation of operations, the Company datezd that the anticipat
future performance of the Electrical Services grdighnot warrant maintaining it as part of the ENI&I suite of services. As
result, effective July 1, 2011, the Company inéthta plan to sell or, if necessary, ultimately stoivn the operations of
Electrical Services group. These assets and tlddited operations have been classified as disamdiroperations and
presented as such in the Company'sagted consolidated financial statements. The sseta and liabilities related to
discontinued operations are shown on the Conselid@alance Sheet as Assets held for sale and itiebiheld for sal
respectively. The results of the discontinued of@na are shown on the Consolidated Statementspafadions as a loss fr
discontinued operations, net of taxes.

The Company expects to complete the disposal distsontinued operations by June 30, 2012. Howewnerare unable at tt
time to determine the gain or loss upon the ultevdisposal of the discontinued operations. Gailogs from the disposal, wh

ascertained, will be properly disclosed in the adtethe financial statements. The Company willehag continuing involveme
with these operations after their disposal.

Summarized financial information for discontinugeecations is shown below.
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For the Quarters Ended - 2011
March June September December
(dollars in thousands)
Revenues $ 8,16( $ 6,511 $ 229: $ 444
Costs 7,73¢ 7,167 3,90¢ 2,91¢
Operating income (loss) $ 427 $ (65€) $ (1,619 $ (2,47
Other income (expense) 1 — — —
Tax expense (benefit) 16€ (227) (577 (844)
Net income (loss) $ 262 $ (429 $ (1,03¢) $ (1,63))

For the Quarters Ended - 2010
March June September December
(dollars in thousands)
Revenues $ — $ 2,49C $ 3,942 $ 7,944
Costs — 2,29t 3,83¢ 7,48:%
Operating income (loss) $ — $ 19t 10€ $ 461
Other income (expense) — — — —
Tax expense (benefit) — 74 44 17C
Net income (loss) $ — $ 121 $ 62 $ 291

December 31,
2011

December 31,

2010

(dollars in thousands)

Assets:
Trade receivables $ 2,391 % 3,59¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4 D
Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billimgarcompleted contracts 136 $ 1,98:
Deferred Tax Asset 971 $ —
Property and equipment, net 24 $ 87
Other assets 5 % 1
Total Assets held for sale $ 3,751 $ 5,66¢
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 43C 80€
Accrued compensation and benefits (50) 17¢€
Deferred rent 17 —
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnargencompleted
contracts 15& 28¢
Other current liabilities 78t —
Total Liabilities held for sale $ 1,34C $ 1,26¢
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NOTE 5 - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share were computed as follows:

Reconciliation of Earnings per Share Calculation

2011 2010 2009
Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net Income (Loss) $ (7,07 $ (7,07¢ $ (11,759 $ (11,752 $ 1,23 % 1,23¢
Weighted average number of shares

outstanding for basic 26,72: — 27,15 — 27,33( —
Weighted average number of shares

outstanding for diluted — 26,72: — 27,15 — 27,567
Net income (loss) per share available

for common stock $ 0.27) $ 0.27) $ 043 % 047 % 0.0t $ 0.04

Diluted earnings per share are computed includiegrmpact of all potentially dilutive securitieshd following table sets forth t
shares outstanding for the earnings per sharelatitms for the years ended December 31, 20110 20d 2009 .

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Common stock issued - beginning of year 26,67¢ 27,407 27,29¢
Weighted average common stock issued (repurchased) 46 (25€) 35
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share 26,72: 27,15: 27,33(
Assumed conversion of dilutive stock options — — 237
Shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 26,72: 27,151 27,56

The Company excluded potentially issuable share&68f000 and 693,00@om the computation of diluted EPS, as the eftd
including the shares would have been anti-dilutorethe years ended December 31, 2011 and 20Epectvely.

NOTE 6 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

The following table presents a listing of the Comga significant noreash transactions and amounts of cash paid faresttan
income taxes, net of refunds received.

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)

Non-Cash Transactions:

Issuance of note for insurance $ — 9 826t $ —
Issuance of notes in connection with acquisitions-
PCI — — 182
CDI — 50C —
Cash paid:
Interest $ 78t % 297 % 95¢
State and federal income taxes (6,00%) 675 5,474
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NOTE 7 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the followinBecember 31, 2011 and 2010 :

2011 2010
(in thousands)

Computer equipment and software $ 8,632 $ 9,11¢
Shop equipment 1,68¢ 1,73¢
Furniture and fixtures 1,462 1,48(C
Building and leasehold improvements 2,92¢ 2,771
Autos and trucks 45C 69¢€
$ 15,15¢ $ 15,79¢

Accumulated depreciation and amortization (12,919 (11,57
$ 3,241 % 4,221

Leasehold improvements and software implementaiiopsocess 145 19¢
Property and equipment, net $ 338 § 4,41¢

Depreciation expense has been approximately $106889, $2,541,000 and $2,996,0ft0 the three years ended Decembel
2011, 2010 and 2009 , respectively.

NOTE 8 - DETAIL OF CERTAIN BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNTS

The components of trade receivables as of DeceBhe2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2011 2010
(in thousands)
Amounts billed $ 40,20:  $ 41,49¢
Amounts unbilled 15,19¢ 12,20¢
Retainage 414 89C
Less: Allowance for uncollectible accounts (1,799 (2,130
Trade receivables, net $ 54,02( $ 52,46¢

Subject to our allowance for uncollectible accours amounts listed are believed to be collectivi¢ghin a year. The bille
accounts receivable amount includes $693,00Cclaims subject to uncertainty concerning theatedmination or ultima
realization due to bankruptcy issues. These clairagully accounted for in our allowance for uneotible accounts. There are
amounts unbilled representing claims or other simitems subject to uncertainty concerning theiredeination or ultimai
realization. In estimating the allowance for uneotible accounts, we consider the length of tineeireable balances have b
outstanding, historical collection experience, eatreconomic conditions and customer specific mfition. When we ultimate
conclude that a receivable is uncollectible, thiatee is charged against the allowance for undilblecaccounts.

A note receivable from South Louisiana Ethanol ESLis the only component of our lorigrm receivables balances of ¢
million and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2014 &010, respectively.

In June 2008, ENGlobal filed an action in the Udiftates District Court for the Eastern DistricLoliisiana; Case Number 08-
3601, against South Louisiana Ethanol LLC (“SLEfJited ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. and ENGlobal ConstruntiResources,
Inc. vs. South Louisiana Ethanol, LLThe lawsuit sought to enforce collection of $15i8iam owed to ENGlobal and its
affiliates for services performed on an ethanohpla Louisiana. In August 2009, SLE filed for Clepll protection in the Unit
States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District@fiisiana, Case Number 09-12676. In connectioh thieé bankruptcy
proceedings, the plant assets were sold and tiitissued an order allocating proceeds from the aat authorizing their
distribution. ENGlobal received
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$209,017 and may receive an additional $845,50@m#ipg on the outcome of a dispute with subcordract

The components of other current liabilities as eEBmber 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

2011 2010
(in thousands)
Accrual for known contingencies $ 2,061 $ 831
Customer prepayments 65E 30¢
Accrued interest 86 73
Other 27C 81
Other current liabilities $ 307 § 1,294

Our reserve for known contingencies consists piiignaf litigation accruals and related legal feesla@arneut amounts that m.
become due under the terms of acquisition agreeanent
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NOTE 9 - CONTRACTS

Costs, estimated earnings and billings on uncoraglebntracts consisted of the following at Decendigr2011
and 2010 :

2011 2010
(in thousands)

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts $ 43,45 % 58,82¢
Estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts 5,591 8,731

Earned revenues 49,04¢ 67,56(
Less: billings to date 46,67 65,36:

Net costs and estimated earnings in excess afidpillon uncompleted

contracts $ 2,36¢ $ 2,19¢
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billimgsncompleted
contracts $ 6,79C $ 3,14¢
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnargancompleted contrac (4,427 (947)

Net costs and estimated earnings in excess ofigpillon uncompleted

contracts $ 2,36¢ $ 2,19¢

Revenue on fixed-price contracts is recorded piilsnarsing the percentage-of-completion (costetist) method. Under tt
method, revenue on lortgrm contracts is recognized in the ratio that irttcosts incurred bear to total estimated cohtrasts
Revenue and gross margin on fixagdce contracts are subject to revision througtbetlives of the contracts and any requ
adjustments are made in the period in which thésimvs become known. To manage unknown risks, mamagt may us
contingency amounts to increase the estimated,abst®fore, lowering the earned revenues untirisies are better identified a
quantified or have been mitigated. We currentlyen®.5 million in contingency as of December 311R2@ompared tc0.£
million as of December 31, 2010 . Losses on cotdrae recorded in full as they are identified.

The Company recognizes service revenue as sote agtvices are performed. For clients that weidenigher risk, due to pz
payment history or history of not providing writtevork authorizations, we have deferred revenuegeition until we receiv
either a written authorization or a payment. Thereant amount of revenue deferred for these reasor®0.3 millionas o
December 31, 2011 compared to $0.5 million as afdbwber 31, 2010 .

NOTE 10 - LINE OF CREDIT AND DEBT

In December 2009, the Company entered into a neditcagreement with Wells Fargo Bank, which prodide28month, $2!
million senior secured revolving credit facilityWells Fargo Credit Facility”)The Wells Fargo Credit Facility expires on May
2012 and the Company is in the process of obtainépiacement financinglthe Wells Fargo Credit Facility is guaranteec
substantially all of the Company's subsidiariesgisured by substantially all of the Company'stass@d positions Wells Fargo
senior to all other debt. On September 30, 20 Cbmpany entered into an amendment to the crgoiement with Wells Fart
Bank which converted our borrowings from a revaolyoredit facility to an asset based lending agregn@n August 1, 2011, t
Company entered into an Amended and Restated Chgditement with Wells Fargo Bank which allows a maxm availabl
principal amount of $35 million under the Creditciity. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreemdiotva for borrowing
limited to an aggregate of 80% of our current éligiaccounts receivable. The Wells Fargo Crediilifacs additionally limitec
by deductions from accounts receivable for itenthsas invoices past due over 90 days, fixed pricekwforeign receivables a
government work. These accounts receivable exclssimder the Credit Facility totaled $8.9 millionecember 31, 2011. T
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement containgiasedl commitment fee of fifty basis points (0.508) annum and allo
for other indebtedness of up to $10 million to aotree Exim Bank credit facility, described below, and uphtb.0 million in an’
12-month period for the unsecured financing of insaeapremiums. The outstanding balance on the Wallgd-Credit Facility ¢
of December 31, 2011 was $16.4 million
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and this amount was subject to a fluctuating rdescribed below. The remaining borrowings availablder the Wells Farq
Credit Facility as of December 31, 2011 were $9illan after consideration of loan covenant regtans.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provfioleidterest at a fluctuating rate per annum deteech by Wells Fargo to |
3.75% above the Daily One Month LIBOR Rate in effeam time to time.

The Company's Credit Facility requires the Comp@nyaintain certain financial covenants as of the ef each calendar quar
including the following:

+ Total Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth Ratio nategter than 2.25 to 1.Q0
« Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio not less than 1.750@;1

“Total Liabilities” is defined as the aggregatearfrrent liabilities and non-current liabilities. &mgible Net Worth'is defined a
the aggregate of total stockholders' equity legsiatangible assets and less any loans or advaogces investments in, any rela
entities or individuals. “Fixed Charge Coveragei®ais determined on a rolling foujuarter basis and is defined as EBIT
(Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation Antbrtization) minus cash taxes, divided by intergbense, plus the curr
maturity of longterm debt, where EBITDA is net income, plus interespense, plus income taxes, plus depreciatior
amortization, plus stock compensation expense.

The Company was not inompliance with one covenant (Fixed Charge Ratiojen the Wells Fargo Credit Facility as
December 31, 2011 however, Wells Fargo granted a waiver for theabheof this covenant. For the quarterly period €
December 31, 2011 our Total Liabilities to Tangiblet Worth Ratio was 1.45 to 1.QGand our Fixed Charge Coverage R
was .54 to 1.00 . During the 12-month period endedember 31, 2011 we expended or committed appedrign 19% , 01$0.7
million , of the $3.5 million fiscal year covenalimitation on capital expenditures. The $0.7 millibalance of our capit
expenditures for the 1&wonth period has been for normal operating requergmincluding office furniture, computers, softe
and vehicles.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility also contains cas that place certain limitations on the Compiaigjuding limits on capit:
expenditures, other indebtedness, mergers, adest savestments, guarantees, restrictions on éindd and certain distributic
and pledges of assets.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility has been extenaeth an increased interest rate, to May 31, 2012. &ke currently in the d
diligence phase to secure a new, laagn credit facility from a different lender. Wegsently have competitive proposals fi
two major financial institutions to provide lorigrm financing on terms that are better than oistieng Wells Fargo Credit Facili
and we are working toward entering into a new drizdiility with a multiyear term before the May 31, 2012 extension dateut
Wells Fargo Credit Facility. If we are unable tosin we believe alternative forms of financing available to us.

In July 2011, with the support of Wells Fargo's I&bBanking Group, ENGlobal and the Expbriport Bank of the United Stat
(“Ex-Im Bank”) entered into a $9.5 million lettef oredit facility (the “Ex-Im Bank Facility”}o support the Company's Casy
Pipeline Consortium (CPC) project. Under the tewhshis agreement, the Company may issue lettersrexdit to CPC for it
performance under the CPC project. The Compangdsired to collateralize letters of credit outsiagdunder the Exm Bank
Facility with cash or eligible receivables resuitifrom the CPC project. As of the date of thisnfilj there were $9.1 million
letters of credit outstanding under this facilithis letter of credit is collateralized by $2.3 kioih in cash, designated as Restri
Cash in the Company's Consolidated Balance SheegrpExkim Bank restriction, until sufficient accounts re@bles are creat:
on the Russian portion of the project.

As of December 31, 2011 , the Company had othestanding letters of credit totaling $4,374,000 ity to cover selfinsurec
deductibles under both our general liability and workers' compensation insurance policies.
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Long-term debt consisted of the following at Decem®l, 2011 and 2010 :

2011 2010
(in thousands)

Wells Fargo Credit Facility $ 16,35 % 18,69¢
The following notes are subordinate to the crealiflity and are unsecured:

ICP Transco, Inc. — 96

Control Dynamics International, L.P. 25C 50C

Total long-term debt 16,60: 19,29

Less: current maturities of long-term debt (16,60:) (19,04

Long-term debt, net of current portion — 252

Borrowings under capital lease — 51

Less: current maturities of capital lease — (52

Total long-term debt and leases, net of currentiguor $ — 9 25z

The rate applicable to the Wells Fargo Credit Rgcline of credit outstanding at December 31, 2Gikid 2010 was 4%nc
4.125% , respectively, and fluctuates with the primate. Interest and discount rates on the renminate payable is 5.00%
December 31, 2011 . Interest and discount rateh®memainder of the Company's notes payable vérged 5.00% to 6.25%
with the weighted average being 5.63% at Decembg2@10 .

Maturities of long-term debt as of December 31,1220are as follows:

Maturities
(in thousands)

Years Ending December 31,
2012 $ 16,60:

Total long-term debt $ 16,60:

NOTE 11 -OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases equipment and office space lomigterm operating lease agreements. The future minitease paymer
on leases (with initial or remaining non-cancelaklens in excess of one year) as of December 311, a€e as follows:

Operating
(in thousands)

Years Ending December 31,

2012 $ 3,45:¢
2013 3,03¢
2014 2,62¢
2015 2,601
2016 and after 4,724

Total minimum lease payments $ 16,43

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 22010 and 2009 was $4.8 million , $5.8 million a®8.9 million ,
respectively. Certain of our lease agreements melyde items such as abated lease payments, capitedvement funding, st
rent provisions and escalation clauses that affectease payment schedule and do not qualify asngent rentals. These ite
have been included in the minimum lease paymentuamon a straighline basis over the minimum lease term. Any |
payments that are dependent on a factor relatabetduture use of the property have been excludedh the minimum lea:
payment amount and are recognized as incurred.
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NOTE 12 - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

ENGlobal sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing planiferemployees. Until January 2009, the Company nmadthing contributior
equal to 66.66% of employee contributions up to 62&employee compensation for regular (as distingrasfrom project ¢
contract) employees. All other employees exceptpipeline inspectors were matched at 50% of em@amgantributions up to 6
of compensation, as defined by the plan. The Compainthe direction of the Board of Directors, ntagke other discretione
contributions. Our employees may elect to make rdmutions pursuant to a salary reduction agreenu@ain meeting age a
length-ofservice requirements. On January 1, 2009 due toosaiz conditions, the Company elected to reducemitdch ol
regular employees to 50% and all other employeespbour pipeline inspectors to 33.33% of employaaributions up to 6%
employee compensation. On April 4, 2009, the Comipelacted to eliminate its match on all employdeffective October 2
2011, the Company reinstated the employer mat@b5% of employee contributions up to 6% of emplogempensation for &
employees. The Company made contributions of $186,550 and $981,768 , respectively, for the yeadedDecember 3:
2011, 2010 and 2009 .

NOTE 13 - STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company's 1998 Incentive Plan (“Option Plahgt provided for the issuance of options to aegup to 3,250,000 shares
common stock expired in June 2008. The Option Rlaovided for grants of noatatutory options, incentive stock optic
restricted stock awards and stock appreciationtsighll stock option grants were for a tgaar term. Stock options issuec
executives and management generally vested ovauray€ar period, one-fifth at grant date and &fitk-at December 31 of ea
year until they are fully vested. Stock optionsuess to directors under the Option Plan vested qugrover a onerear period. |
2007, no stock options were granted to employeetheéd2007 Annual Meeting of Directors, grantstoick options were approv
for 50,000 shares to each nemployee director. In 2008, options were grantednployees to acquire 140,000 shares. All ¢
options granted had a strike price equal to thekaetaralue of the Company's stock on the date ofgtiaat by the Compensati
Committee of the Board of Directors.

In June 2009, the Company's stockholders approvedwa 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (“Equity Plarthat provides for tt
issuance of up to 480,000 shares of common stdo&.Bquity Plan provides for grants of nstatutory options, incentive stc
options, restricted stock awards, performance shaerformance units, restricted stock units ahérostockbased awards. Gra
to employees will generally vest over a four-yearigd, onefourth at December 31 of each year until they aly frested. Gran
to non-employee directors will vest quarterly omesne-year period coinciding with their servicerter

Stock Options

The Company recognizes stock compensation expelaéng to share-based payments in net income utfiegfairvalue
measurement method. Under the fair value methas edtimated fair value of awards is charged to es@ever the requis
service period, which is generally the vesting qebri

The Company did not grant any stock options in 202011.

We estimate the volatility of our stock price byingshistorical volatility looking back 156 weeks.eAhave considered usini
combination of historical and implied volatility ieed from traded options on our stock but do reltdve that it would material
impact the Company's estimates of future volatibitaer the expected life of the options. The exmpbtéem of options granted f
been derived from the simplified method, due tongfes in vesting terms and contractual lives ofantroptions compared to ¢
historical grants. We base the estimate of thefrisk interest rate on the United States Treaserg-@oupon yield curve in effe
at the time of grant. We have never paid cash diviid and do not currently intend to pay cash didde accordingly, we ha
assumed a 0% dividend yield.

The following table summarizes total aggregate kstogtion activity for the period December 31, 208 ugh December 3:
2011 :
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Vested & Number of Weighted

Exercisable Shares Average
Balance Outstanding Exercise Price
Balance at December 31, 2008 1,050,601 1,173,20! 6.82
Granted — —
Exercised (55,000 1.32
Canceled or expired (27,102 6.07
Balance at December 31, 2009 1,043,10: 1,091,10: 7.12
Granted — —
Exercised (54,619 1.0
Canceled or expired (121,490 10.1¢
Balance at December 31, 2010 891,00( 915,00( 7.14
Granted — —
Exercised (20,000 1.15
Canceled or expired (125,000 9.6¢
Balance at December 31, 2011 750,00( 770,00( 6.81

The following table summarizes information concegiioutstanding and exercisable Company common stgtlons &
December 31, 2011 .

Average Options
Exercise Options Remaining Fully-Vested Unvested Options
Prices*' Outstanding at Contractual And Exercisable at Balance at
(series) December 31, 2011 Life December 31, 2011 December 31, 2011
$ 1.81 40,00( 2.5 40,00( —
$ 1.87 20,00( 1.3 20,00( —
$ 2.0t 2,00¢ 2.2 2,00 —
$ 2.32 40,00( 1.4 40,00( —
$ 2.5C 75,00( 3.2 75,00( —
$ 3.7¢ 150,00( 3.5 150,00( —
$ 6.8 25,00( 4.6 25,00( —
$ 9.1t 150,00( 4.4 150,00( —
$ 11.97 18,00¢( 4.3 18,00( —
$ 10.9¢ 150,00( 5.5 150,00( —
$ 9.44 100,00( 6.2 80,00( 20,00(
770,00( 750,00( 20,00(

'The exercise price indicates the market value attgitate and is the strike price at exercise. Boh aeries, the exercise price is the weightechgeeexercis
price of the series.

At December 31,

2011 2010 2009
(dollars in thousands)
Total intrinsic value of options:
Outstanding $ 328 3 148 $ 737
Exercisable 32E 14k& 737
Exercised during the year 24 76 107
Available for grant at December 31, 2011 111,28:



Weighted-average remaining life of all options ¢artsling
at December 31, 2011 4.2 year
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Restricted Stock Uni

On August 8, 2008, the Company granted restridieckunits equivalent to 6,420 shares of commoaksto each of its three non-
employee directors. These restricted stock ugitsnted outside of the Option Plan, were intenagedoimpensate and retain
directors over the ongear service period commencing July 1, 2008. Hievialue of the awards was $93,411 per directset
on the market price of $14.55 per share on the dgedated. Upon vesting, which was equally at arrtintervals, the uni
became convertible into cash based on the thenenarkce of the Company's shares at each respeetiséng date. Ea
director's vested units were settled for the cadhevof $41,698 on or before July 17, 2009.
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Restricted Stock Awart

Restricted stock awards granted to directors aended to compensate and retain the directors ttxeeoneyear service peric
commencing July 1 of the year of service. Theserdsvavill vest in quarterly installments beginningpgBember 30 of the year
service, so long as the grantee continues to senadirector of the Company. Restricted stock dsvgranted to employees v
vest in four equal annual installments beginningddeber 31 in the year granted, so long as the ggammains employed full-
time with the Company as of each vesting date. igufl010 and 2011 the Company granted restricted stock awards
following table.

Number of Number of

Date Issued Issued to Individuals Shares Market Price  Fair Value
January 27, 2010 Employee 2 37,500 $ 3.0¢ $ 11587
June 17, 2010 Employee 1 40,32 % 24¢ $ 100,00(
June 17, 2010 Director 3 96,77¢ $ 2.4 $ 240,00(
September 10, 2010 Employee 2 21,00¢ $ 2.3t % 50,00(
June 16, 2011 Employee 1 22,86¢ $ 3.2 $ 75,00(
June 16, 2011 Director 3 73,17C % 3.28 $  240,00(
November 7, 2011 Employee 9 48,95 % 2.8t $ 140,00(

The following is a summary of the Company's restdcstock awards for the years ended December03D, &nd 2011 :

Number of Weighted-

restricted shares average fair value

Unvested restricted shares at December 31, 2009 23,43¢ % 5.12
Granted in 2010 195,60 $ 2.5¢
Vested in 2010 (96,53) $ 3.1C
Forfeited in 2010 — —
Unvested restricted shares at December 31, 2010 122,500 % 2.6(
Granted in 2011 144,98¢ $ 3.14
Vested in 2011 (102,92) $ 3.3¢
Forfeited in 2011 (18,750 $ 3.0¢
Unvested restricted shares at December 31, 2011 145,81¢ % 2.9C

The total fair value of the restricted stock thasted in the years ended December 31, 2010 andv28d $299,000 and $346,000
respectively. The weighted-average remaining lffeestricted stock awards outstanding at DecembefB11 was 2.0 years.

Compensation Expense

The Company recognized non-cash compensation egpelaed to its stock compensation plans of $0lkom, $0.4 millionanc
$0.7 million for the fiscal years ended DecemberZll1 , 2010 and 2009 , respectively. As of Deam3li, 2011, unrecognize
compensation expense was approximately $376,00@ weighted average period over which total cemsation related to stc
options and restricted stock awards is expectée taecognized is 24 months .
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NOTE 14 -REDEEMABLE PREFERRED STOCK AUTHORIZED

The Company is authorized to issue 2,000,000 stdrBseferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share ‘{heferred Stock”)The
Board of Directors has the authority to approveisseance of all or any of these shares of Prefe3teck in one or more series
determine the number of shares constituting angsand to determine any voting powers, converggis, dividend rights ar
other designations, preferences, limitations, ig&ins and rights relating to such shares withany further action by tt
stockholdersWhile there are no current plans to issue the FedeStock, it was authorized in order to provide Company wit
flexibility to take advantage of contingencies sastfavorable acquisition opportunities.

NOTE 15 - STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM

Effective May 14, 2010, our Board of Directors auribed a total expenditure of $2.5 millido repurchase shares of
Company's common stock. Through open market pueshasder this authorization, we purchased 981gb@®es at an avere
cost of $2.41 per share during the twelve montliedrDecember 31, 201MNo shares were purchased during the twelve m
ended December 31, 2011 . At December 31, 2011proajately $0.1 millionremains authorized in the stock repurcl
program.The program does not have an expiration date. R&sirs contained in our loan agreements goveromgWells Farg
Bank Credit Facility limit the amount of our commstock that we can repurchase and in accordantethgtterms of the Cre
Facility, the Company does not currently intenghtochase additional shares under this program.

NOTE 16 - FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax expense (benefit) fcomtinuing operations for the years ended Decer@bef011 , 201@&nc
2009 were as follows:

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Current
Federal $ 824 $ (7,01¢) $ (91)
Foreign — (42 70
State 573 687 83¢
1,397 (6,379) 817
Deferred
Federal (2,165 35¢ 524
Foreign — 3 3
State (63) (536€) 56
(2,22¢) (180 577
Total tax provision $ (831 $ (6,559 $ 1,39¢
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The components of the deferred tax asset (liabitionsisted of the following at December 31, 204d 2010 :

2011 2010

(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 68¢ $ 88¢
Net operating loss carry-forward 1,204 82C
Accruals not yet deductible for tax purposes 2,962 2,39¢
Stock options 1,054 1,02(
Deferred tax assets 5,90¢ 5,12¢
Less: Valuation allowance (4617) (564)
Deferred tax assets 5,441 4,561
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation (150 4)
Prepaid expenses — (549
Goodwill (102 29
Deferred tax liability (252) (519)
Deferred tax asset, net $ 519 § 4,04:

The following is a reconciliation of expected tdwad income tax expense from continuing operations:

2011 2010 2009

(in thousands)

Federal income tax expense at 35% for 2011, 35%Ga0

and 35% for 2009, respectively $ @71 % (6,599 % 891
State and foreign taxes, net of federal incomeestfect 31¢ 14¢€ 58&
Nondeductible expenses 95 o8 122
Stock compensation expense 38 46 11€
Foreign investment — (18) 21
Valuation allowance — 3 14
Prior year provision to return 417 — (302
Domestic production activity deduction — (8 —
Other, net 18 (222) (53

Total tax provision $ (83) § (6,559 $ 1,39¢

The Company had a federal net operating loss darwyard at December 31, 2011 of approximately $&illion . Earliel
utilization of the net operating loss on the Compar2002 and 2003 consolidated tax returns wadlaligzd by the IRS whic
resulted in a reinstated carry-forward. The priearynet operating loss of approximately $18.9 onillvill be available throug
2021. The current year net operating loss of apprately $3.8 millionwill be available for carry back to 2009 and 20H@l do1
carry forward through 2031.

The Company also has a foreign net operating lasy-¢orward at December 31, 2011 of approximaglyl million. This loss i
available for utilization from 2008 through 2017wever, application of the net operating loss strieted to the income
ENGlobal Canada. The Company is unsure of itstgkii fully utilize the foreign net operating loskherefore, the Company
set up a valuation allowance of $0.4 million agathe net operating loss.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company didichenitify any material uncertain tax positions ftwetCompany or i
subsidiaries.

We recognize interest related to uncertain taxtos in interest expense and penalties relatedntertain tax positions



governmental penalties. For the years ended Deaedih@011, 2010 and 2009, the Company did notgeice
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any interest and penalties related to uncertaimptesitions.

The Company is currently not the subject of anyn@ration by the Internal Revenue Service, and {enoyears subject to at
are currently tax years 2008-2010h most states where the Company conducts bissittes Company is subject to examina
for the preceding three to six years.

NOTE 17 - GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Our annual goodwill impairment analysis for the nppeanded December 31, 2011 and 20itlicated that the fair value of all of «
reporting units exceeded their carrying value iness of 45%; therefore, no goodwill impairment glearwere required for any
our reporting units for the period. Our methodoésgior performing our goodwill impairment analykeve not changed from 1
prior year. However, the weighted average cogtapiital utilized in the analysis decreased appratéty 6 percentage points
the current year analysis.

Intangible Asset

The Company recognized $2.7 million of intangibssets during 2010 in connection with the acquisitdd Control Dynamic
International, LP. The Company recognized $530,00ihtangible assets during 2009 in connection whith acquisition of P(
Management and Consulting Company. Our identifiatlengible assets are comprised primarily of wompetition covenani
customer relationships and developed technologyissd] through acquisitions. All are being amortizdthe following tabl
summarizes the cost and accumulated amortizatioeaich of our identifiable intangible asset groap®f December 31, 20Hhc
2010 . See Note 18 for the reportable segment$itchwntangible assets are assigned.

Non-competition Customer Developed
Covenants Relationships Technology Total

(in thousands)

As of December 31, 2011

Intangible assets $ 442 $ 6,347 $ 90c % 11,67¢
Less: accumulated amortization 4,01( 4,61¢ 212 8,841
Intangible assets, net $ 41C % 1,72¢ % 697 $ 2,83t

As of December 31, 2010

Intangible assets $ 4,40¢ % 6,347 $ 90 % 11,66(
Less: accumulated amortization 3,16: 3,43: 91 6,68%
Intangible assets, net $ 1,242 $ 291 % 81€ $ 4,97¢

Intangible assets are amortized using the strdightmethod based on their estimated useful lize@ected amortization expel
related to our amortizable intangible assets ®kswvs:

Non-competition Customer Developed
Years Ending December 31, Covenants Relationships Technology Total
(dollars in thousands)
2012 $ 17t $ 687 $ 121 $ 98¢
2013 152 60¢ 121 882
2014 72 35€ 122 55C
2015 11 76 332 42C

2016 and thereafter —
$ 41C % 1,72¢ % 697 $ 2,83¢F

Weighted average amortization period remair
at December 31, 2011 (years) 2.5 2.¢ 6.7
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Amortization expense was approximately $1,976,081,786,000 and $1,779,000 for the three years 204010 and 2009
respectively.

NOTE 18 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Engineering and Construction segment providegices relating to the development, managementeaedution of projec
requiring professional engineering and relatedgmiogervices primarily to the midstream and dovesstr sectors throughout
United States. Services provided by the Engineeaind Construction segment include feasibility stgdiengineering, desit
procurement and construction management. The Eegime segment includes the government servicespgrahich provide
engineering, design, installation and operation araintenance of various government, public sectat iaternational facilitie:
The Automation segment provides services relatatidalesign, fabrication and implementation of pescdistributed control a
analyzer systems, advanced automation, informaé&ohnology, electrical and heat tracing projectmprily to the upstream a
downstream sectors throughout the United Statewedisas specific projects in the Middle East andhtta Asia. The Fiel
Solutions segment provides land management, rifjiay, inspection, environmental compliance, legigtaaffairs support ar
governmental regulatory compliance services prilp&oi the midstream sector, including pipelinelittiand telecommunicatiol
companies and other owner/operators of infrastradiacilities throughout the United States.

Sales, operating income, identifiable assets, aapitpenditures and depreciation for each segnrenset forth in the followin
table. The amount identified as Corporate inclutiese activities that are not allocated to the afieg segments and include ct
related to business development, executive funstifinance, accounting, safety, human resourcesrdodnation technology th
are not specifically identifiable with the segmenthe Corporate function supports all business sedgsnand therefore cannot
specifically assigned to any specific segment. ghigicant portion of corporate costs are allocat®éach segment based on ¢
segment's revenue and subsequently eliminatechisotidation.

Financial information about geographic are

Revenue from the Company's nonS. operations is currently not material. Howewee, expect them to become material as
Caspian project’'s schedule progresses. Loregl assets (principally leasehold improvements eomputer equipment) forme
located in Canada were transferred to a U.S. offiadisposed of during the three months ended 8eye30, 2010.

Segment information for 2011 , 2010 and 2009 ibews:
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Engineering
and
Construction Automation Field Solutions Corporate Total
(in thousands)

2011

Net sales from external customers $ 175,38° $ 62,21¢ $ 75,14+ — % 312,74
Inter-segment sales — — — — —
Operating profit (loss) 7,83t 2,037 16C (14,016 (3,989
Depreciation and amortization 1,561 1,411 79 314 3,36¢
Tangible assets 36,85 22,237 10,05¢ 9,58¢ 78,73(
Goodwill 15,28¢ 2,08¢ 5,24( — 22,61«
Other intangible assets 292 2,54: — — 2,83t
Total assets 54,464 23,247 15,34« 9,584 102,63¢
Capital expenditures 387 33 23 221 664
2010

Net sales from external customers $ 161,10: $ 49,651 $ 95,48! — 9 306,23¢
Inter-segment sales 48 1,362 — — 1,411
Operating profit (loss) (5,672 (1,925 3,67¢ (14,099 (18,019
Depreciation and amortization 1,497 1,59: 69t 542 4,32
Tangible assets 37,64 18,81¢ 13,86: 12,40¢ 82,73t
Goodwill 15,28¢ 2,08¢ 5,24( — 22,61«
Other intangible assets 39¢ 3,97¢ 59¢ — 4,97¢
Total assets 53,33t 24,88: 19,70z 12,40¢ 110,32
Capital expenditures 19€ 61C 38 33C 1,17¢
2009

Net sales from external customers $ 153,67 $ 72,32 % 117,46! — % 343,46:
Inter-segment sales 1,132 96 86¢& — 2,09:
Operating profit (loss) 4,597 4,56¢ 7,47¢ (13,619 3,02¢
Depreciation and amortization 1,91C 1,20¢ 84C 817 4,77%
Tangible assets 37,84¢ 19,27 18,27( 8,714 84,10¢
Goodwill 15,28t¢ 1,763 5,24( — 22,29!
Other intangible assets 552 2,48¢ 1,19¢ — 4,23¢
Total assets 53,68¢ 23,524 24,70¢ 8,714 110,63!
Capital expenditures 1,10¢ 1,797 94 217 3,217
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NOTE 19 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Employment Agreemer

The Company has employment agreements with ceofaits executive officers and certain other offiethe terms of whic
expire on or before May 2013, with the severanomseanging from six to twelve months. Such agregmprovide for minimui
salary levels. If employment is terminated for aegson other than 1) termination for cause, 2) ntalty resignation or 3) tl
employee's death, the Company is obligated to gdeosiseverance benefit equal to six months of iy@ayee's salary, and, at
option, an additional six months at 50% of the esyppé's salary in exchange for an extension of acoompetition agreemel
Some of these agreements are renewable for anicaaddibneyear term at the Company's option. No liabilityésorded for th
Company's obligations under employment agreementiseaamounts that will ultimately be paid canneréasonably estimated
any.

Litigation

From time to time, ENGIlobal or one or more of ibsidiaries is involved in various legal proceeding are subject to claims t
arise in the ordinary course of business allegimgong other things, claims of breach of contraategligence in connection w
the performance or delivery of goods and/or sesridhe outcome of any such claims or proceedingsatabe predicted wi
certainty. As of the date of this filing, all suattive proceedings and claims of substance tha¢ leen raised against
subsidiary business entity have been adequatelwedl for, or are covered by insurance, such thaetermined adversely to 1
Company, individually or in the aggregate, they ldonot have a material adverse effect on our resfltoperations or financ
position.

In June 2008, ENGIobal filed an action in the Udittates District Court for the Eastern DistrictLouisiana; Case Number 08-
3601, against South Louisiana Ethanol LLC (“SLEf}ided ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. and ENGlobal ConstruntiBesource
Inc. vs. South Louisiana Ethanol, LLThe lawsuit sought to enforce collection of $15i8iom owed to ENGlobal and i
affiliates for services performed on an ethanohpla Louisiana. In August 2009, SLE filed for Chapll protection in the Unit:
States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern DistrictLofuisiana, Case Number A2676. In connection with the bankrug
proceedings, the plant assets were sold and the smwed an order allocating proceeds from the sald authorizing the
distribution. ENGlobal received $209,017 and mageirge an additional $845,500 depending on the om¢cof an omgoing
dispute with a subcontractor.

On July 7, 2010, a class action lawsuit was filedhe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of Texas, Houstc
Division entitled “Michael Phillips, on behalf ofilself and Others Similarly Situated, v. ENGlobair@oration.” The lawsui
was filed on behalf of approximately 200 weldingpectors seeking damages for violations of the [Eaor Standards Act. T
plaintiffs sought unpaid overtime, liquidated damsgattorneysfees, costs and expenses. While ENGlobal settledvidmge an
hour portion of the lawsuit and modified its payagtices, the suit was amended to include a rdtaliatlaim involving
approximately five of the class members. That partf the claim is still pending but it is not exped to have a material adve
effect on our results of operations or financiasigon.

Insurance

The Company carries a broad range of insuranceragee including general and business automobileilitya, commercia
property, professional errors and omissions, wa'keompensation insurance, directors' and offidability insurance and
general umbrella policy. The Company is not awdrany claims in excess of insurance recoveries. IBN& is partially self-
funded for health insurance claims. Provisions dapected future payments are accrued based on dhgp#&hy's experienc
Specific stop loss levels provide protection foe hompany with $200,000 per occurrence. Theisslirance liability, which
included in the Accrued Compensation and Bendfits of the balance sheet, was $1.2 million as afdbeber 31, 2011 arfbll.Z
million as of December 31, 2010 .

NOTE 20 - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly financial information for 2011 and 20%0as follows:
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For the Quarters Ended - 2011
March June September December

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net Sales $ 77,250 % 79,61: $ 79,78¢ 3 76,09°
Gross Profit 5,721 7,46¢€ 8,461 5,631
Net income (loss) (2,979 147 (1,279) (3,972)
Earnings per share - basic $ (0.079) $ 0.01 $ (0.05) $ (0.15)
Earnings per share - diluted $ (0.07) $ 0.01 $ (0.0 % (0.1%)
For the Quarters Ended - 2010
March June September December
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Net Sales $ 67,98 $ 71,21t % 81,81( $ 85,23(
Gross Profit 4,87 3,83t 6,35¢ 6,892
Net income (loss) (1,539 (4,517 (5,200 (496)
Earnings per share - basic $ (0.06) $ (0.1¢) $ (0.19 $ (0.02)
Earnings per share - diluted $ (0.0¢) $ (0.1¢) $ (0.19) $ (0.02)
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NOTE 21 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 2nd, 2012 Shelly Leedy resigned from hmsition as Executive Vice PresidenfAdtomation. Effective immediatel
William Coskey, ENGlobal’'s Founder and Chairman] & assuming the Executive Vice PresidAntomation role on an interi
basis while a search is conducted for a replacenTér® Company believes that Mr. Coskey is veglited to provide a smoc
transition to the leadership of the Automation seghbecause he is a Registered Electrical Engiwberhas spent much of
professional career on automation-related work.

The Wells Fargo Credit Facility has been extendeéth an increased interest rate, to May 31, 201®2wwe are currently in the d
diligence phase to secure a new, long term creditity from an different lender. We presently has@mpetitive proposals frc
two major financial institutions to provide lorigrm financing on terms that are better than oistieng Wells Fargo Credit Facili
and we are working toward entering into a new crigdiility with a multiyear term before the May 31, 2012 extension datew
Wells Fargo Credit Facility. If we are unable tostn we believe alternative forms of financing available to us.

The Company has evaluated subsequent events thAqrgii2, 2012, which is the date of filing.

Schedule I
ENGlobal Corporation

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance -
Beginning of Deductions - Balance - End
Description Period Additions Write offs of Period
(dollars in thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts
For year ended December 31, 2011 $ 2,13( 1,381 1,719 $ 1,792
For year ended December 31, 2010 $ 1,86¢ 3,90¢ (3,64¢) $ 2,13C
For year ended December 31, 2009 $ 2,28¢ 72€ (1,149 $ 1,86¢
Allowance on current notes receivable for the year
ended December 31, 2011 $ — — — 3 —
Allowance on long-term notes receivable for the
year ended December 31, 2011 $ — $ —

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controlsodimer procedures of a registrant designed to ertbat information required
be disclosed by the registrant in the reports théiles or submits under the Exchange Act is propeecorded, processe
summarized and reported, within the time period#jed in the Securities and Exchange Commissig8EC") rules and form:
Disclosure controls and procedures include prosesseaccumulate and evaluate relevant informatioth @mmunicate su
information to a registrant's management, includis@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financialfioér, as appropriate, to allc
for timely decisions regarding required disclosures

86




ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES (continued)

We evaluated the effectiveness of the design ardatipn of our disclosure controls and procedusesfddecember 31, 201,1a¢
required by Rule 1345 of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluatiorrdesl above, our Chief Executive Officer and C
Financial Officer have concluded that, as of Decen#i, 2011, our disclosure controls and procedures were @ffeinsofar a
they are designed to ensure that information reduio be disclosed by us in the reports that veedilsubmit under the Exchai
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reposi¢itin the time periods specified in the Comnusss rules and forms. C
disclosure controls and procedures include, wittiouitation, controls and procedures designed uea that information requir
to be disclosed by us in the reports that we filesebmit under the Exchange Act is accumulated @mdmunicated to o
management, including our principal executive amuhgipal financial officers, or persons performimgmilar functions, &
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguieed disclosure.

b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repoting

No changes in our internal control over financigparting occurred during the twelve months enDecember 31, 2011 tha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to ev@lly affect, our internal control over financi&porting.

Our management is responsible for establishingraaimtaining adequate internal control over finahoégorting as that term
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13&(f). Our internal control over financial repodiiis a process designed to provide reasol
assurance regarding the reliability of financigboding and the preparation of our financial statatm for external reportil
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles (“GAAP”).Our internal control over financial report
includes those policies and procedures that (ifapeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail, accurately and fai
reflect our transactions and dispositions of owess (ii) provide reasonable assurance that tcéinsa are recorded as neces
to permit preparation of our financial statementaécordance with GAAP, and that our receipts aquiditures are being me
only in accordance with authorizations of our mamagnt and directors; and (iii) provide reasonaldesueance regardi
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigion, use or disposition of our assets that ddwdve a material effect on «
financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting cannobyide absolute assurance of achieving financiabntapy objectives because of
inherent limitations. Internal control over finaacreporting is a process that involves human éilige and compliance anc
subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns reguitom human failures. Internal control over firwéal reporting also can
circumvented by collusion or improper managemeneroge. Because of such limitations, there is & tisat materic
misstatements may not be prevented or detected tomedy basis by internal control over financiapogting. However, the:
inherent limitations are known features of the ficial reporting process. Therefore, it is possibleesign safeguards into
process to reduce, although not eliminate, this tis addition, projections of any evaluation ofeetiveness to future periods
subject to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions or becaesdetiree of compliance w
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In order to evaluate the effectiveness of our makrcontrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgy 2011, as required
Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act of 2002, our management conducted ansagsent, including testing, based on the cri
set forth in Internal Contrditegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Tready
Commission (the “COSO Framework’A. material weakness is a control deficiency, oombination of control deficiencies, tl
results in more than a remote likelihood that aemak misstatement of our annual or interim finahdtatements will not |
prevented or detected. In assessing the effectbgeniour internal control over financial reportimganagement did not identif
material weakness in internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 201MWe have concluded that our intel
control over financial reporting at December 31120 was effective.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information required by Items 401, 405, 406 46d(c)(3), (d)(4) and (d)(5) of RegulationkSwill appear under the captic
“Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Benefici@lwnership Reporting Compliance” and “Corporate Gogace” in our2011
Proxy Statement. For the limited purpose of prawgdithe information necessary to comply with thismitl10, the 201Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by this reference.

We have adopted a written code of conduct thatieppb our directors, officers and employees. Iditagh, we have a code
ethics specific for our chief executive officer i@hfinancial officer and senior accounting offisesr persons performing simi
functions. Both codes can be found on our web wsitéch is located at www.englobal.com, and are alduibits to this report. W
intend to make all required disclosures conceraimg amendments to, or waivers from, our code a€sthn our web site.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 402 and paragra@)¢é4) and (e)(5) of Iltem 407 of RegulationKSwill appear under tt

captions “Director Compensation” and “Executive Quamsation Tables” including “Compensation Discussamd Analysis,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider iBigdtion” and “Compensation Committee Report” inr 2011 Proxy

Statement. For the limited purpose of providingitifermation necessary to comply with this Item ttfe 2011Proxy Statement

incorporated herein by this reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by Items 201(d) and 40Refyulation S-K will appear under the headingerieficial Ownership
Common Stock” and “Securities Authorized for Isstmmninder Equity Compensation Plans” in our 28tdxy Statement. For t
limited purpose of providing the information neaaysto comply with this Item 12, the 20Proxy Statement is incorpora
herein by this reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Items 404 and 407(aRefulation S-K will appear under the captio®eftain Relationships a
Related Transactions” and “Director Independenae’our 2011Proxy Statement. For the limited purpose of prawidihe
information necessary to comply with this Item ft® 2011 Proxy Statement is incorporated hereithisyreference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
This information required by Item 9(e) of SchedidA will appear under the caption “Principal Auditeees and Servicesi oul

2011 Proxy Statement. For the limited purpose o¥igling the information necessary to comply witisthem 14, the 201Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by this reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES
(@)(1) Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements filed as phtiis Form 10K are listed and indexed in Part I, It
8.

(@)(2) Schedules
All schedules have been omitted since the inforomatequired by the schedule is not applicablesara
present in amounts sufficient to require submissibthe schedule, or because the information requik
included in the consolidated financial statements @otes thereto.

(@)(3) Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference to:

Form or Filing Date SEC File
Exhibit No. Description Schedule Exhibit No. with SEC Number
3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of RegistrantedaAugust 8,
2002 10-Q 3.1 11/14/200: 001-14217
3.2 Amendment to the Restated Articles of Incorporatibthe
Registrant, filed with the Nevada Secretary of Stat June 2,
2006 8-A12B 3.1 12/17/2007 00114217
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant datec:iber 6,
2007 10-K 3.3 3/28/200¢ 00114217
3.4 Amendments to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Ragistated
April 29, 2008 10-Q 3.2 5/7/200€ 00114217
4.1 Registrant's specimen common stock certificate S-3 4.1 10/31/200¢ 33312933€
4.2 Registration Rights Agreement by and among Regisarad
Certain Investors named therein dated
September 29, 2005 S-3 4.2 10/31/200¢ 33312933€
4.2 Securities Purchase Agreement by and between TeoGapital
Partners, L.P. and Registrant dated Septembel0®%, 2 S-3 45 10/31/200¢ 333-12933€
4.4 Form of Subscription Agreement by and among Reajistr
Michael L. Burrow, Alliance 2000, Ltd. and certanbscribers S-3 4.6 10/31/200¢ 333-12933¢
10.1 Option Pool Agreement by and between IndustriabC&tstems
Corporation and Alliance 2000, Ltd. dated Decenftier2001 10-KSB 10.48 4/1/2002 00114217
10.z Amended and Restated Alliance Stock Option Pookagrent
effective December 20, 2006 10-K 10.2 3/28/200¢ 001-14217
10.2 Second Amended and Restated Alliance Stock Optgmeément
dated December 20, 2006 8-K 10.2 5/23/2007 00114217
10.4 ENGlobal Corporation Incentive Bonus Plan Dateéetfre July
1, 2009 8-K 10.1 8/17/200¢ 00114217
10.E First Amendment and Restated ENGlobal Corporaticetive
Bonus Plan effective January 1, 2010 10-Q 10.1 5/5/201C 00114217
10.€ Purchase Agreement by and between ENGlobal andrfodeh
Control Engineering, LLC dated September 25, 2008 10-Q 10.1 11/7/200¢ 00114217
10.7 Promissory Note Payable between Registrant anckFHan
Mcllwain dated September 30, 2008 10-Q 10.2 11/7/200¢ 00114217
10.¢ Promissory Note Payable between Registrant andslanéalters
dated September 30, 2008 10-Q 10.3 11/7/200¢ 00114217
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Incorporated by Reference to:

Form or Filing Date SEC File
Exhibit No. Description Schedule Exhibit No. with SEC Number
10.¢ Promissory Note Payable between Registrant andamilv

Bosarge dated September 30, 2008 10-Q 104 11/7/200¢ 00114217
10.1C Promissory Note Payable between Registrant anchiglatR

Burton dated September 30, 2008 10-Q 10.5 11/7/200¢ 00114217
10.11 Asset Purchase Agreement between ENGlobal Autom&ioup,

Inc. and Control Dynamics International, L.P. dafgxtil 6, 2010 10-Q 10.1 8/5/201C 00114217
10.1Z Promissory Note between ENGlobal Automation Grdop, and

Control Dynamics International, L.P. 10-Q 10.2 8/5/201C 00114217
10.1: Second Amended and Restated Lease Agreement beRet@cor

Engineering, Inc. and Corporate Property Associdéted

February 28, 2002 (Exec I) 10-Q 10.63 8/12/200z 00114217
10.1¢ Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement between InduEtata

Systems Corporation and Corporate Property Assexiddted

April 26, 2002 (Exec I) 10-Q 10.64 8/12/2002 00114217
10.1f Amended and Restated 1998 Incentive Plan of Registtated

June 8, 2006 10-K 10.6 3/28/200¢ 00114217
10.1¢ First Amendment to the Amended and Restated 198htive

Plan of Registrant dated June 14, 2007 10-K 10.7 3/28/200¢ 00114217
10.17 Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement 698

Incentive Plan of Registrant 10-K 10.8 3/28/200¢ 00114217
10.1¢ Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement Grah@utside

of 1998 Incentive Plan of Registrant S-8 10.80 8/24/200¢ 333127803
10.1¢ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement betwe

Registrant and its Independent Non-employee Dirscto 10-Q 10.2 8/11/200¢ 00114217
10.2C Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement of 2009iBq

Incentive Plan between Registrant and its indepandiesctors 10-Q 10.1 8/10/200¢ 00114217
10.21 Stock Repurchse Program of Registrant effective Jur2010 8-K 99.1 6/7/201C 00114217
10.2z Lease Agreement between Oral Roberts UniversityE@lobal

Engineering, Inc. dated January 27, 2005 10-K 110. 3/28/200¢ 00114217
10.2¢ First Amendment to the Lease Agreement between Rivhérts

University and ENGIlobal Engineering, Inc. dated iRpy 2005 10-K/A 10.26 3/29/2007 00114217
10.2¢ Second Amendment to the Lease Agreement betwedrROb&rts

University and ENGIlobal Engineering, Inc. datedel@s, 2005 10-K/A 10.27 3/29/2007 00114217
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10.2t Third Amendment to the Lease Agreement between Ruobkrts

University and ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. dated &maber 28,

2005 10-K/A 10.28 3/29/2007 001-14217
10.2¢ Fourth Amendment to the Lease Agreement betweehRdizerts

University and ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. dated fieely 27,

2006 10-K/A 10.29 3/29/2007 00114217
10.2% Fifth Amendment to the Lease Agreement between Robkerts

University and ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. dated/228, 2006 10-K/A 10.30 3/29/2007 00114217
10.2¢ Sixth Amendment to the Lease agreement betweenRotarts

University and ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. datedel@q, 2007 10-K 10.17 3/28/200¢ 00114217
10.2¢ Build-to-Suit Lease Agreement between Clay Reahtést

Development, L.P. and ENGlobal Corporate Servibes,

executed March 6, 2008 10-Q 10.1 5/7/200€ 00114217
10.3C First Amendment to the Lease Agreement between Ré&a}

Estate Development, L.P. and ENGlobal CorporateiSes, Inc.

executed January 15, 2009 10-K 10.26 3/8/201C 00114217
10.31 Fourth Amendment to the Lease Agreement betweerNvirth

Belt Portfolio, LLC and ENGIlobal Corporate Servicke. dated

March 1, 2010 10-Q 10.2 5/5/201C 001-14217
10.3Z Credit agreement by and between Wells Fargo BadkRegistrant

and its subsidiaries dated December 29, 2009 8-K 10.1 1/11/201C 00114217
10.3% Hand Note between South Louisiana Ethanol LLC aN&GBbal

Engineering, Inc dated October 22, 2007 10-Q 10.2 11/9/2007 00114217
10.3¢ Collateral Mortgage between South Louisiana Ethah@l and

ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. dated August 26, 2007 0-QL 10.3 11/9/2007 00114217
10.3t Collateral Mortgage between South Louisiana Ethah@l and

ENGIlobal Engineering, Inc. dated August 31, 2007 0-Q 10.4 6/14/2007 00114217
10.3¢ Amended and Restated ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effe@e®ber 1,

2005 10-K/A 10.22 3/29/2007 00114217
10.37 First Amendment of the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effeetDecember

21, 2001 10-K/A 10.21 3/29/2007 001-14217
10.3¢ Second Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effechpril 1,

2006 10-K/A 10.23 3/29/2007 00114217
10.3¢ Third Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effeetiuly 1,

2006 10-K/A 10.24 3/29/2007 001-14217
10.4C Fourth Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effecfuly 1,

2008 10-K 10.33 3/16/200¢ 00114217
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10.41 Fifth Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effeetdanuary 1,

2009 10-Q 10.1 5/11/200¢ 00114217
10.4z Regulations Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plfectve

January 1, 2006 10-K 10.21 3/16/2007 001-14217

*10.42 First Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan effeetianuary 1,
2010
*10.44 Second Amendment to the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan dffecdugust

2.2010
10.4t Key Managers Incentive Plan of Registrant effecfiaauary 1,

2007 8-K 10.43 4/10/2007 00114217
10.4€ Key Executive Employment Agreement between Registeiad

William A. Coskey effective January 1, 2006 10-K/A 10.39 3/29/2007 00114217
10.47 Key executive Employment Agreement between Registaad

Robert W. Raiford effective August 9, 2008 10-K 0.37 3/16/200¢ 00114217
10.4¢ Key Executive Employment Agreement between Regisaiad

Michael M. Patton effective October 13, 2009 10-K 10.41 3/8/201C 00114217
10.4¢ Key executive Employment Agreement between Registaiad R.

David Kelley effective August 9, 2008 10-K 10.39 3/16/200¢ 00114217
10.5C Key executive Employment Agreement between Registaad

Edward L. Pagano effective May 3, 2010 8-K 99.1 6/14/201C 00114217
10.51 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Regigteard its

Directors and Executive Officers 10-Q 10.1 8/11/200¢ 00114217
10.52 Security Agreement by and between Wells Fargo Bamk

ENGlobal Corporation and its subsidiaries dateddbsmer 29,

2009 8-K 10.2 1/11/201C 00114217
10.5% Security Interest Agreement and Acknowledgmentrny lBetween

Wells Fargo Bank and ENGlobal Corporation andtss&diaries

dated December 29, 2009 8-K 10.3 1/11/201C 00114217
10.5¢ Letter of Waiver by and between Wells Fargo Banl4.Nind

Registrant and its subsidiaries dated August 30201 10-Q 10.3 8/5/201C 00114217
10.55 First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Waiver efdbilt by

and between Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Registradtits

subsidiaries entered into as of September 30, 2010 10-Q 10.1 11/5/201C 00114217
10.5¢ Revolving Line of Credit Note by and between Wé&lisgo Bank,

N.A. and Registrant and its subsidiaries datede®apér 30, 2010 10-Q 10.2 11/5/201C 00114217
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*10.57

10.5¢

111

*14.1

*14.2

*21.1

*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

* Filed herewith

Letter of Waiver by and between Wells Fargo Banld.Nind
Registrant and its subsidiaries dated Februar@81

Letter of Termination by and between Comerica Band
ENGIlobal Corporation and its subsidiaries dated
December 30, 2009 8-K 10.4 1/11/201C

Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Egsrién
included as Note 2 to the Notes to Consolidateargral
Statements 10-K 11.1 3/28/200¢

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of RegistratgddJune 17,
2010

Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Serfrinancial
Officers of Registrant dated June 17, 2010

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act
Rules 13a-14 or 15d-14

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14 or 15d-14

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantExchange Act
Rules 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. SedR80

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant Exchange Act
Rules 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and U.S.C. Sectior0135
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the SiiesrExchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has eddkis Annual Report
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgrsd, thereunto duly authorized.

ENGlobal Corporation

Dated: April 12, 2012
By: //s/l Edward L. Pagano
Edward L. Pagano
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Report has been signed bélpihe following persor
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacitied @ the dates indicated:

By: //s/l Edward L. Pagano
Edward L. Pagano
Chief Executive Officer

By: //s// John R. Beall
John R. Beall
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer

By: //s// William A. Coskey
William A. Coskey, P.E.
Chairman of the Board, Director

By: //s/l David W. Gent
David W. Gent, P.E., Director

By: //s/l Randall B. Hale
Randall B. Hale, Director

By: //s// David C. Roussel
David C. Roussel, Director
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Effective Date: January 1, 2011

ENGlobal Corporation, a Nevada Corporation (therff@oation), hereby adopts this incentive Bonus Rfhis “Plan”), effective as of Janus
1, 2011 to promote and advance the interest ofCthigoration and its stockholders by enabling thepGration and its Affiliates to attra
retain and reward certain valued employees (thetithaants”).

Plan Year: Fiscal Year
This plan is reviewed annually by the Chief ExegaitDfficer (CEO) and the Compensation Committedn iital approval of the plan by t
Compensation Committee of the Board.

Overview : The purpose of the ENGlobal Short Term IncentivanRI'STI Plan” or “Plan”)is to reward exceptional performance that lea
achievement of financial, company and individuahlgo The Plan, Personal Key Performance Indicgt®®I's”) and measurement usin
Balanced Scorecard (“Scorecard”) ensure a direktdetween our reward system and company perforenand shareholder return.

Eligibility : Eligibility to participate in the Plan shall be danhined by the CEO of ENGlobal at the beginningeath fiscal year with fin
approval by the Compensation Committee of the Board

Any participant that is hired and approved to giptite after the start of the calendar year mainbleded on a proata basis as long as ti
complete at least six months of service duringphe year.

¢ Plan Participants — Attachment £

Annual Incentive Pool: The STI Plan is “self-funding” and financial KBImust be structured to encourage stretch but adblie financie
growth and NOI performance growth. Overall compéingncial performance must ket least 90% of budgetfor any incentive$o be paid.

Unless otherwise determined by the committee, tlaimmum aggregate annual Bonuses payable underptlis cannot exceed 15%
consolidated pre-tax net income after consideratfcthe Bonus expense.

The Incentive Pool is determined during the antwalgeting and forecasting process. A centralizegvewill be undertaken by the CEO ¢
CFO to determine suitability as measures for thefdn. The CEO and CFO will review performanceiagiabudget and forecasts at the er
the first quarter. The CEO will determine whethay anatters identified require an amendment to thantcial measures adopted for the
Plan. Any changes will be appropriately communidate

In the discretion of the CEO, an amount up to 15% of the Total Bonus Pool mawllocated to a Discretionary Bonus Pool. Thisl p@dc
reward employees not covered by this plan as fjgatits but who deliver significant activities, abaand beyond requirements of their posi
that assist the Company in achieving its annuaahjes.

Target Incentive Opportunity : Each participant's Target IncentiyéTarget") is based on specifmmpany KPI's established during t
annual strategic planningand budgetingprocessand are approved by the CEO.

Targets are comprised d@verall Company Financial Performance Financial Performance inArea of Responsibility and Individual
Performance Goals adP| Score, weightedppropriately based on levahd ability to impact results

KPI's must align with annual financial targets and strategic goals. KPI'swill be determined individually. KP$ will include factors such
financial performance of group under managementdmcapital development and leadership, stratdgitnphng, customer service / retent
activities and operational improvements.

Given the critical nature of HSE, each scorecargtnmclude an HSE KPI based on our measures ofrdabte incidents, lost time due
injuries and environmental harm. The failure to tmaeceptable HSE standards could result in payment of STI even in instances wt
other KPI's have fully been met. In the case of a work reldagality, all members in the segment in which évent occurs and the Corpoil
executive team will forfeit their STI payment fdwat year.

The CEO may award discretionary incentives in eioapl circumstancewhen financial targets have not been met with




approval of the Board.

Performance : The actual incentive earned is determined by anpealormance against KPI's recorded and trackedhé individuals
Scorecard. All managers must complete a Scorecareaich participant in order to be eligible. Scardamust be agreed upon with and sig
by participant and forwarded to Corporate VP, HurRasources for approval by February 15 of the firedryear in question.

e Sample Scorecard- Attachment |

Calculation and Payment of Earned Incentive Award: Awards aredetermined and paid after the end of the quarter30 days aftereleas
of the audited financialsAwards are subject to personal taxation as pejufisdiction in which the individual resides. Alayments are grc
amounts and taxation will be withheld to the extemfuired by law.

Employees on Leave of AbsenceBonus Awards for employees on approved leave wlptorated to exclude the time away from wor
description of approved leaves of absence is ayaifaom human resources.

Termination, Death or Disability : Bonus Awards will be paid to participants who actually employed and on the payroll on the dat
payment. A participant whose employment terminptés to payment shall forfeit any and all rightsa bonus from the Annual Plan excep
approved special circumstances.

Specifically those participants who terminate emgplent (with at least six months in the plan yeaug do death, disability, or norn
retirement will be paid a pro rata portion of angentive bonus earned based on the amount of tionked during the Plan Year (through
date of termination). Such prorated payments véllnade at the time and in the form received byPaiticipants or as soon as practical
ENGlobal has received a legal notice of eligibifitym the beneficiary. “Disabilityshall mean a mental or physical condition resulfiogn ar
injury or illness that renders the Participant pedale of performing the essential functions of pasition with the Company with reasone
accommodation for a period of 120 or more conseeutays or for a total period of 180 days out of arelve (12) month period.

Other Plan Design Considerations The Annual Plan will be administered by the Corperdice President Human Resources. All repc
financial results will be confirmed by the ChiefnBncial Officer upon completion of the audited finel report of independent accounts
Bonus Awards will be approved by the CEO. Commuiocaof all awards will be provided only upon weitt confirmation of all require
approvals.

No participant shall have the right to anticipathenate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge or encurhiseor her right to receive any Award m
under the Plan. No participant shall have any dierany assets of the Company by reason of any Amaike under the Plan.

The adoption of the Plan or any modification or adment hereof does not imply any commitment to iooiet or adopt the same plan, or
modification thereof, or any other plan for incerticompensation for any succeeding year, provitdatirio such modification or amendrr
shall adversely affect rights to receive any amdanvhich any Participant has become entitled piraosuch modifications and amendme
The Company specifically reserves the right to ammemodify, or terminate the Plan at any time foy amason. Neither the Annual Plan nor
Award made under the Plan shall create any emplayountract or imply any relationship between tlwrpany and the participant, other t
employment terminable by either party at will.

No one may participate in the Plan or have any apmapts of it changed after initial notification drticipation, without the expressed wril
notice of approval by the CEO as appropriate. Epargicipant and proposed additional participaneisewed for eligibility on an annual ba:
No one participating in another incentive plan npayticipate concurrently in the Annual Plan, excspere approved in writing by the Bo.
of Directors. Eligible participants must have actessful" performance rating throughout the yeabeoeligible for payment of an awi
regardless of the Company's performance againdirecial measures.

Glossary of Terms:

EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Tax
FY Financial Year

HR Human Resources

HSE Health, Safety and Environment




KPI Key Performance Indicators
NOI Net Operating Incomr

O/H Over Head

STl Short Term Incentive

CEO Discretion: It is the responsibility of the CEO to ensure st and competitive STl awards result from thenplahe CEO will review a
STI recommendations before they are submitted éoBbard to ensure that all payments are in the inéstest of ENGlobal and accurat
reward the contribution of the participant.

The Board has final approval and discretion focathpensation issues including the STI Plan.




Supersedure: This plan supersedes all of the currently effecteaus plans of the Corporation unless the Corjmrdtas delivered writte
notice after issuance of this plan to the conttarthe person entitled to benefits under such bgtarss. However, this Plan does not supet
any other agreements between the Corporation apnganticipant, including, without limitation, anyogk option or other equity compensa
agreements, and the portions of any agreementsngelto protection of the Corporation’s confidehtand proprietary information, non-
competition, non-disparagement or non-solicitation.

Dispute Resolution ProcessAny dispute or disagreement as to the interpretatiothe STI Plan, assessment of performance agiéfiss ol
the calculation of the STI should be referred i fiinst instance to the Corpora#® of Human Resources. Disputes not resolved \eilplasse
to the CEO for review and decision.

The decision of the CEO is final and binding.

Approved: : Date




EXHIBIT 10.43
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE ENGLOBAL 401(K) PLAN

WHEREAS , ENGlobal Engineering, Inc. (the "Employer") adeghta restatement of the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan
"Plan"), effective as of January 1, 2010; and

WHEREAS , the Employer has the ability to amend the Planssyant to Article 11.1; and

WHEREAS , the Employer now desires to amend the Plan togrize prior service with Control Dynamics Inteinagl,
LP (CDI). NOW, THEREFORE,

RESOLVED , that the Company hereby amends the Plan in flenwfiog respects, effective as of April 1, 2010:
RESOLVED FURTHER , that Section 2.2 of the Adoption Agreement is adeal as follows:
2.2 Predecessor Service. Service with the fatigwentity or entities will be credited as:

e Triangle Engineers & Constructors, It

« RPM Engineering, Inc

* Petrocon of Louisiana, In

« Constant Power Manufacturing, Ir

« IDS Engineering, Inc

« Alliance Engineering Associates, Ir

« Advanced Control Engineering, In
 ESD&C;

o AT

e Control Dynamics International, LP (CI

(a) Elective Deferrals, QMACs and QNECs. Servigth an entity listed above will be given for ébdity purposes undt
Section 3.2(a) of the Adoption Agreement.

(d) Non-Safe Harbor Matching Contributions. Segwvith an entity listed above will be credited:fo
Eligibility purposes under Section 3.2(d) of theofion Agreement
Vesting purposes under Section 10.4 of the AdopAgreement
RESOLVED FURTHER , that in all other respects, the terms of the Rl&nhereby ratified and confirmed.

RESOLVED FURTHER , that any action taken by any of the officers led Company prior to the adoption of th
resolutions that is within the authority conferteztein be, and it hereby is, ratified, confirmed approved.



EXHIBIT 10.44

SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE ENGLOBAL 401(k) PLAN

WHEREAS , ENGIlobal Engineering, Inc. (hereinafter, the "Hoyer") maintains the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan;
WHEREAS , the Employer has the right to amend the Planyauntsto Section 11.1 of the Basic Plan Document; an

WHEREAS , the Employer now desires to amend the Plan, imection with the merger of the Control Dynar
International, LP 401(k) Plan and the ENGlobal 4)Rlan, to preserve protected benefits.

NOW, THEREFORE , effective as of August 2, 2010, the Employer bgramends the ENGlobal 401(k) Plan in
following respects:

1. The following Item 3 is added to the Protdddenefits Addendum to the Adoption Agreement:

3. Employer contribution accounts transferramfrthe Control Dynamics International, LP 401(kdriPkhall be subje
to a 2year cliff vesting schedule. However, the employwemtribution accounts of Participants who termid
employment prior to the merger of the Control Dymasrinternational, LP 401(k) Plan and the ENGlob@l (k) Plan at
subject to the following vesting schedule: 1 yehservice-0%, 2 years-20%, 3 years-40%, 4 years;@Years80%, ¢
years-100%.

Also, a Participant may take ans$ervice withdrawal from any employer contributictaunt transferred from t
Control Dynamics International, LP 401(k) Plan upthe attainment of age 40 and the completion ofeary o
participation.

2. In all other respects, the terms of this Rlemhereby ratified and confirmed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Employer has caused this Second Amendmedne texecuted in duplicate counterp:
each of which shall be considered as an origirsatfdhe date set forth below.

ENGLOBAL ENGINEERING, INC.
/sl Jean Whitaker By: /s/ Natalie S. Hairston
Witness

Title: Secretary

Date: August 4, 2010




EXHIBIT 10.57

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT
AND WAIVER OF DEFAULT

THIS AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this "AmendmeéNtis entered into as of February 28, 2011, by
between ENGLOBAL CORPORATION, a Nevada corporatigBorrower"), and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONA
ASSOCIATION ("Bank").

RECITALS

WHEREAS , Borrower is currently indebted to Bank pursuanthie terms and conditions of that certain Credjte®mer
between Borrower and Bank dated as of Decembe2®®, as amended from time to time ("Credit Agrestt)e

WHEREAS , Borrower is in default of certain provisions bétCredit Agreement.

WHEREAS , Bank and Borrower have agreed to certain chamgdble terms and conditions set forth in the Ci
Agreement and have agreed to amend the Credit Agnegto reflect said changes.

NOW, THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sudficy of which are hereby acknowledged,
parties hereto agree that the Credit Agreement seamended as follows:
1. Section 1.1. (¢) is hereby deleted in itgretyt, and the following substituted therefor:

"(c) Letter of Credit Subfeaturéds a subfeature under the Line of Credit, Banleag from time to time during the te
thereof to issue or cause an affiliate to issurdiig letters of credit for the account of Borroweach, a “Letter of Credit”
and collectively, “Letters of Credit”provided however, that the aggregate undrawn amaofuall outstanding Letters
Credit shall not at any time exceed Two Million Ro$ ($2,000,000.00). The form and substance di éatter of Cred
shall be subject to approval by Bank, in its sakegttion. The undrawn amount of all Letters of @rshall be reserve
under the Line of Credit and shall not be availdbleborrowings thereunder. Each Letter of Cretalsbe subject to tt
additional terms and conditions of the Letter obdit agreements, applications and any related dentsyrequired t
Bank in connection with the issuance thereof. Ereliving paid under a Letter of Credit shall be deeéran advance unc
the Line of Credit and shall be repaid by Borrovieraccordance with the terms and conditions of #higeemer
applicable to such advances; provided however,ittzatvances under the Line of Credit are not add, for any reasc
at the time any drawing is paid, then Borrower ksinainediately pay to Bank the full amount drawrgether with intere
thereon from the date such drawing is paid to th&e duch amount is fully repaid by Borrower, at thie of intere:
applicable to advances under the Line of Credisuoh event Borrower agrees that Bank, in its dideretion, may det
any account maintained by Borrower with Bank fa&r #mount of any such drawing.

If Borrower should request that any Letter of Ctddi issued for which the expiry date of the Lette€redit is later the
the maturity date of the Line of Credit, then orbefore maturity of the Line of Credit, Borroweraiideposit, or cause
be deposited into a Cash Collateral Account, caabh equivalents and/or publicly traded/quoted etaitde securitie
(acceptable to Bank in its sole discretion) withamgregate fair market value (determined by Banitsirsole discretiol
not at any time less than the amount of the Unpail Undrawn Balance (as defined below), if anyBdfrower shall fa
to collateralize the Letters of Credit in this manrthen Bank may in its discretion, at or aftetumity of the Line, advanc
funds under the Line of Credit in an amount appr@tely equal to the Unpaid and Undrawn Balance, dapbsit suc
funds into a Cash Collateral Account establishedBlayk, which shall secure such Letters of CreditJipaid an
Undrawn Balancé means, at any time, the entire amount that hadeen paid by Bank under all the Letters of C
issued for Borrower's account, including, withaatitation, the amount of each draft on which Baras mot yet effecte
payment as well as the amount undrawn under afi kaetters of Credit.

1




Each drawing paid under a Letter of Credit afteturity of the Line of Credit shall be reimbursedBank by a draw und
the Line of Credit or by a debit to the Cash Celtat Account, unless Borrower immediately pays sariount to Bank k
other means. Bank is authorized to debit the Casllat@ral Account and apply such funds to repayBtmk amount
drawn under Letters of Credit and any related féesich amounts are not otherwise paid to Bank.

Bank shall release portions of the Cash CollaterdBorrower as Letters of Credit expire and the &ldpand Undraw
Balance diminishes, unless for any reason any tedeless to Bank remains unpaid or any potentialliia of Bank
relating to Letters of Credit issued in connectioith the Line of Credit remains outstanding, in ahicase Bank mi
continue to hold such funds and the Cash Collatseabunt to secure such indebtedness and lialilitie

2. Section 1.4 is hereby deleted in its entjratyd the following substituted therefor:
“SECTION 1.4. COLLATERAL.

As security for all indebtedness and other oblaysiof Borrower to Bank subject hereto, Borrowaebg grants to Bar
security interests of first priority in all Borrows accounts receivable and other rights to payngereral intangible
inventory and equipment.

As security for all indebtedness and other oblayziof Borrower to Bank subject hereto, Borroweallstause ENGlob
U.S., Inc., ENGlobal Government Services, Inc. BiNdSlobal Emerging Markets, Inc. to grant to Bankuwséy interest
of first priority in all accounts receivable andhet rights to payment, general intangibles, invenémd equipment.

All of the foregoing shall be evidenced by and sabjo the terms of such security agreements, ¢ingrstatements, dee
or mortgages, and other documents as Bank shabmebly require, all in form and substance satisfgcto Bank
Borrower shall pay to Bank immediately upon dem#redfull amount of all charges, costs and expefigesclude fee
paid to third parties and all allocated costs ofilBpersonnel), expended or incurred by Bank in ection with any of th
foregoing security, including without limitationjlihg and recording fees and costs of appraisalgiitea and titl
insurance.”

3. Section 1.5. is hereby deleted in its entjrahd the following substituted therefor:

“SECTION 1.5. GUARANTIES. The payment and perfante of all indebtedness and other obligationsasfd@ver tc
Bank shall be guaranteed jointly and severally byGiobal U.S., Inc. a Texas corporation, ENGlobalv&amen
Services, Inc. a Texas corporation and ENGlobalfiging Markets, Inc. a Texas corporation, as evigdrty and subje
to the terms of guaranties in form and substantisfaetory to Bank.”

4. Section 4.3. is hereby deleted in its entjrahd the following substituted therefor:

“SECTION 4.3. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Provide to Bl all of the following, in form and detail satisfary tc
Bank:

(@) not later than 90 days after and as of titea# each fiscal year form 10K as filed with S.E.C
(b) not later than 45 days after and as of tieed each fiscal quarter form 10Q as filed witE &..;

(c) not later than 45 days after and as of thet & each fiscal quarter, a consolidating finahstatement of Borrowe
prepared by Borrower, to include balance sheepnmestatement and cash flow statement;




(d) not later than 45 days after and as of the @f each fiscal quarter, a financial statemenENiGlobal Emergin
Markets, Inc., prepared by Borrower or ENGlobal Egiveg Markets, Inc, to include to include balandeet, incom
statement and cash flow statement;

(e) not later than 30 days after and as of tiieaf each month, a borrowing base certificateaged listing of accour
receivable and accounts payable, and a recongitiati accounts, and immediately upon each request Bank, a list ¢
the names and addresses of all Borrower's accalno;

(f) Borrower will provide on a quarterly basiscartificate of compliance signed by Senior Finah€fficer showin
compliance with all financial covenants. Within 88ys of the end of each fiscal year end a finarmmiajlection for at lea
the next fiscal year consisting of income statemealance sheet, and cash flow statement brokem tbgvguarter;

(g) from time to time such other informationenk may reasonably request.”
5. (a) Borrower has notified Bank of the doling breach of the terms of the Credit Agreement:

Failure to maintain the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratpired by Section 4.9(c) of the Credit Agreemfentthe perio
ending December 31, 2010.

Subiject to the terms and conditions set forth ImelBank has decided to waive its default rightshwispect to (A) tt
breach described in (i) above for the period endidegember 31, 2010. This waiver applies only togpecific instance
described above. This is not a waiver of any sulsegbreach of the same provisions of the Credie@ment, nor is it
waiver of any breach of any other provision of @redit Agreement.

(b) Borrower has notified the Bank of a reorgatipn of Borrower and its subsidiaries, as motly filetailed ir
The letter dated March 7, 2011 sent to the Bank Ttlansaction). The Transaction may violate Sedidnand Section €
of the Credit Agreement. Subject to the followiranditions, Bank consents to the Transaction.

. At the time of the Transaction, no Event of Defadtdefined in the Credit Agreement, and no comjtevent ¢
act which with the giving of notice or the passaddime or both would constitute such an Event @fanlt, shall hav
occurred and be continuing.

. Borrower shall do all acts and things and execuig deliver, or cause any of its subsidiaries tocate an
deliver, any additional documents, such as guaansiecurity agreements, and financing statemdetsned by Bank
necessary, proper or convenient in connection thighpreservation, perfection or enforcement ofights under the Lot
Documents.

. Borrower shall provide documentation satisfactaryBank, in its sole discretion, evidencing the agstion by
the surviving entities of all assets and liabiitief the merged entities.

(c) Except as expressly stated in this Amendrigank reserves all of the rights, powers and reeseavailabl
to Bank under the Credit Agreement and any othatraots or instruments signed by Borrower, inclgdihe right t
cease making advances to and the right to accelarst indebtedness, if any subsequent breachdé® &faime provisiol
or any other provisions of the Credit Agreementuti@ccur.

6. In consideration of the changes set fortreimeand as a condition to the effectiveness heriemfiediately upo
signing this Amendment Borrower shall pay to Bamoa+efundable fee of $15,000.00. If Bank has not nemipaymer
in full of said fee upon signing of this Amendmethis waiver shall immediately terminate withoutther notice and Bal
may exercise any and all rights, powers and rerseaimilable under the Credit Agreement and anyratbatracts ¢
instruments signed by Borrower.




7. Except as specifically provided herein, athts and conditions of the Credit Agreement rerrafull force and effec
without waiver or modification. All terms defined the Credit Agreement shall have the same meamien used in th
Amendment. This Amendment and the Credit Agreerakall be read together, as one document.

8. Borrower hereby remakes all representations &@arranties contained in the Credit Agreement sgaffirms al
covenants set forth therein. Borrower further fiegithat as of the date of this Amendment theistexo Event of Defat
as defined in the Credit Agreement, nor any coodjtact or event which with the giving of noticete passage of time
both would constitute any such Event of Default.

NOTICE: THIS DOCUMENT AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS RELAT ING TO THE INDEBTEDNESS CONSTITUTE

A WRITTEN LOAN AGREEMENT WHICH REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES

AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, C ONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL
AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN O RAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE

PARTIES RELATING TO THE INDEBTEDNESS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Amendmelé¢ texecuted as of the day and year
written above.

ENGLOBAL CORPORATION
By: /s/ R.W. Raiford
R.W. Raiford, Chief Financial Officer

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By: /s/ David Jones
David Jones, Senior Relationship Manager



EXHIBIT 14.1

ENGLOBAL CORPORATION
CODE OF BUSINESS CONDUCT AND ETHICS

Introduction

Our Corporation's reputation for honesty and iritggis the sum of the personal reputations of oiredors, officers ar
employees. To protect this reputation and to prentaimpliance with laws, rules and regulations, @isle of Business Condi
and Ethics has been adopted by our Board of Direcithis Code of Conduct is only one aspect of mmmitment to ethic
conduct, and should be read in conjunction withgblkicies contained in our Employee Handbook (tf&riployee Handbook”).

This Code sets out the basic standards of ethidscanduct to which we hold all of our directorsfic#rs and employees. Tht
standards are designed to deter wrongdoing andotmgie honest and ethical conduct, but will noteroall situations. If a la
conflicts with a policy in this Code, you must cdsnpiith the law; however, if a local custom or pyliconflicts with this Cod
you must comply with the Code. If you feel that mvision of the Code conflicts with policies comed in the Employe
Handbook, you should direct your concern immedyatelthe Corporation's Chief Executive Officer.

If, you would like to resolve a concern unanimouyshpu should follow the anonymous reporting progedset forth in th
Employee Complaint Procedures and Non-Retaliatiolic{, a copy of which is available under “Governahon the investc
relations portion of the Corporation's web site.eTdesignated Corporation official will then revidive situation and ta
appropriate action in keeping with this Code, thapbyee Handbook, our other corporate policies applicable law. If you
concern relates to that individual, you should sitilymur concern to the Chair of the Audit Committefethe Corporation or to tl
Corporation's outside general counsel. The maditdress of each of those individuals is includeth@end of this Code.

Those who violate the standards set out in thiseGuitl be subject to disciplinary action.
1. Scope

If you are a director, officer or employee of ther@oration or any of its subsidiaries or controlEdities, you are subject to t
Code.

2. Honest and Ethical Conduct

We, as a Corporation, require honest and ethicablect from everyone who is subject to this CodechEaf you has
responsibility to all other directors, officers ashployees of our Corporation, to our shareholdsrd,to our Corporation itself,
act in good faith, responsibly, with due care, cetepce and diligence, without misrepresenting rniedtéacts or allowing yot
independent judgment to be subordinated, and otbert® conduct yourself in a manner that meets with ethical and leg
standards.

3. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations

You are required to comply with all applicable govaental laws, rules and regulations, both in fedted in spirit. Although yc
are not expected to know the details of all theliapble laws, rules and regulations, we expect t@seek advice from o
Corporation (or if for any reason that is not pieadt from our Corporation's Chief Governance Gdficif you have any questic
about whether the requirement applies to the sitmatr what conduct may be required to comply weitty law, rule or regulatio
The Employee Handbook addresses in further déteil Gorporation's policies and reporting proceddogsspecific types ¢
violations (e.g., Equal Employment, Sexual and ©Othalawful Harassment).
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4. Conflicts of Interest

You must handle in an ethical manner any actuapmarent conflict of interest between your persama business relationshi
Conflicts of interest are prohibited as a mattepalicy. A "conflict of interest" exists when a gen's private interest interfere
any way with the interests of our Corporation. Erample, a conflict situation arises if you takéats or have interests that n
make it difficult to perform your work for our Cawpation objectively and effectively. Conflicts afterest also arise if you, o
member of your family, receive an improper persdoahefit as a result of your position with our Gmngtion. Loans to,
guarantees of obligations of such persons areatfiabconcern.

The Employee Handbook contains policies addressiegific types of conflicts of interest, includirdgyt not limited to, gifts, ar
financial interests in other organizations. If yoecome aware of any material transaction or redatip that reasonably could
expected to give rise to a conflict of interestuyahould report it promptly pursuant to the procediescribed in Section 12 of t
Policy.

5. Corporate Opportunities

You are prohibited from taking for yourself perstiyaopportunities that are discovered through tise of corporate proper
information or position, unless the Board of Diggsthas declined to pursue the opportunity. You matyuse corporate propel
information, or position for personal gain, or tongpete with our Corporation directly or indirectlyou owe a duty to ol
Corporation to advance its legitimate interestswewer the opportunity to do so arises.

6. Fair Dealing

You should endeavor to deal fairly with our Corgiima's customers, suppliers, competitors and engasyand with other persc
with whom our Corporation does business. You showdtdtake unfair advantage of anyone through mdaijmn, concealmer
abuse of privileged information, misrepresentatibmaterial facts, or any other unfair-dealing pice

7. Public Disclosures

It is our Corporation's policy to provide full, faaccurate, timely, and understandable disclosuedl reports and documents t
we file with, or submit to, the Securities and Eawbe Commission and in all other public communiceti made by o
Corporation. If you become aware of any matter ylwat believe should be disclosed, please contacVime President nvesto
Relation, Audit Committee Chairman or outside gaheounsel.

8. Confidentiality

You should maintain the confidentiality of all caddntial information entrusted to you by our Comgarn and by persons w
whom our Corporation does business, except whetogigre is authorized or legally mandated. Confiidéiformation include
all nonpublic information that, if disclosed, might be w$e to competitors of, or harmful to, our Corpanator persons wi
whom our Corporation does business. Should you lanyequestions about the Corporation's policy migar confidentiality
please contact Human Resources.




9. Insider Trading

If you have access to material, npublic information concerning our Corporation, yare not permitted to use or share
information for stock trading purposes, or for afier purpose except the conduct of our Corporatibasiness. All nopublic
information about our Corporation should be congdeconfidential information. Insider trading, whits the use of material, non-
public information for personal financial benefit; tipping others who might make an investment sleni on the basis of tt
information, is not only unethical but is also gid. The prohibition on insider trading applies motly to our Corporatior
securities, but also to securities of other comgmiifi you learn of material ngmablic information about these companies in
course of your duties to the Corporation. Violasiari this prohibition against "insider trading" msybject you to criminal or ci\
liability, in addition to disciplinary action by oCorporation. The Employee Handbook and Insidadifrg Policy included in tt
Handbook provide further information regarding @erporation's insider trading policy.

10. Protection and Proper Use of Corporation Assets

You should protect our Corporation's assets andrertheir efficient use. Theft, carelessness, aadgtevhave a direct impact
our Corporation's profitability. All corporate assehould be used for legitimate business purpdsesobligation of employees
protect the Corporation's assets includes its ledtlal property and proprietary information. Piefary information an
Intellectual Property includes trade secrets, gatgrademarks, and copyrights, as well as busimeasgketing and service pla
engineering and manufacturing ideas, designs, dats) records, salary information, terms of custoommtracts, and ai
unpublished financial data and reports. Unauthdrizee or distribution of this information violat€®rporation policy. It coul
also be illegal and result in civil or criminal @éties. The Employee Handbook contains specifidcpd and procedur
employees must follow regarding the protection ofgforation resources.

11. Interpretations and Waivers of the Code of Busines€onduct and Ethics

If you are uncertain whether a particular activatyrelationship is improper under this Code or mexpua waiver of this Code, y
should disclose it to our Chief Executive Officer (o the Chair of the Audit Committee), who willake a determination fir:
whether a waiver of this Code is required and sécdnmequired, whether a waiver will be grantechdymay be required to ag
to conditions before a waiver or a continuing waiige granted. However, any waiver of this Code dior executive officer
director may be made only by the Corporation's Boair Directors and will be promptly disclosed tcetextent required |
applicable law, rule (including any rule of any Apgble stock exchange) or regulation.

12. Reporting any lllegal or Unethical Behavior

Our Corporation desires to pewtively promote ethical behavior. Employees areoaraged to talk to supervisors, manage
other appropriate personnel when in doubt aboub#s course of action in a particular situatiodd#ionally, employees shot
promptly report violations of laws, rules, regutais or this Code pursuant to the procedures stt fioithe Employee Handbo
and appendices to the Handbook. Any report or atleg of a violation of applicable laws, rules, wtgions or this Code need
be signed and may be sent anonymously. All repoftgiolations of this Code, including reports semonymously, will b
promptly investigated and, if found to be accuratged upon in a timely manner. If any report obmgdoing relates to account
or financial reporting matters, or relates to passmvolved in the development or implementatioroof Corporation's system
internal controls or disclosure controls, a copythaf report will be promptly provided to the Chafrthe Audit Committee of tt
Board of Directors, which may participate in thgestigation and resolution of the matter. It is plodicy of our Corporation not
allow actual or threatened retaliation, harassnoerttiscrimination due to reports of misconduct ltlgeps made in good faith
employees. Employees are expected to cooperayeifiutiternal investigations of misconduct. Please the Employee Comple
Procedures and NoRetaliation Policy for details on reporting illegat unethical conduct and the protections our Crafiar
provides.




13. Compliance Standards and Procedures

This Code is intended as a statement of basic ipfescand standards and does not include spedaifes rthat apply to eve
situation. Its contents have to be viewed withia tramework of our Corporation's other policiesgiices, instructions and
requirements of the law. This Code is in additionother policies, practices or instructions of @worporation that must |
observed. Moreover, the absence of a specific catpgolicy, practice or instruction covering atjgaar situation does n
relieve you of the responsibility for exercising thighest ethical standards applicable to the wistances.

In some situations, it is difficult to know rightoim wrong. Because this Code does not anticipateyesituation that will arise, it
important that each of you approach a new questigoroblem in a deliberate fashion:

(@) Determine if you know all the facts.
(b) Identify exactly what it is that concerns you.
(©) Discuss the problem with a supervisor or, if thelgem relates to a supervisor, with the Chief Exiee

Officer, Audit Committee Chair or outside legal osel.

(d) Seek help from other resources such as other maragepersonnel or our Corporation's outside ge
counsel.
(e) Seek guidance before taking any action that yoiebelmay be unethical, illegal, or dishonest.

You will be governed by the following compliancarmstards:

* You are personally responsible for your own condurad for complying with all provisions of this Codad for properl
reporting known or suspected violations;

» If you are a supervisor, manager, director or effigou must use your best efforts to ensure tmgpl@yees understand ¢
comply with this Code;

* No one has the authority or right to order, requestven influence you to violate this Code or ldag; a request or ord
from another person will not be an excuse for yoatation of this Code;

* Any attempt by you to induce another director, adfi or employee of our Corporation to violate tfisde, whethe
successful or not, is itself a violation of thisdecand may be a violation of law;

* Any retaliation or threat of retaliation againsiyafirector, officer or employee of our Corporatifar refusing to violat
this Code, or for reporting in good faith the vidda or suspected violation of this Code, is itseNiolation of this Coc
and our Whistleblower Policy and may be a violatidtaw; and

*  Our Corporation will investigate every reportedlatmn of this Code
Violation of any of the standards contained in B@e, or in any other policy, practice or instioiectof our Corporation, can res
in disciplinary actions, including dismiss and imilcor criminal action against the violator. THode should not be construed .

contract of employment and does not change anypp@rstatus as an at-will employee.

This Code is for the benefit of our Corporationg am other person is entitled to enforce this Cddiés Code does not, and shc
not be construed to, create any private causetimiragr remedy in any other person for a violatofrthe Code.




The names, addresses, telephone numbers, facsiotiibers and eiail addresses of the Corporation's Chief Execuli¥ficer,
the Chair of the Audit Committee and the Corporati@utside corporate counsel are set forth below:

Chief Executive Officer Audit Committee Chair Outside Corporate Counsel
Winstead P.C.
401 Congress Avenue
Randall B. Hale Suite 2100
Edward L. Pagano Rock Hill Capital Group Austin, Texas 78701
654 N. Sam Houston Parkway E. 2777 Allen Parkway Attn: J. Rowland Cook or Kathryn K.
Suite 400 Suite 850 Lindauer
Houston, Texas 77060 Houston, TX 77019 512.370-2800
281.878.1020 713.353.2820 rcook@winstead.conor
edd.pagano@englobal.com rhale@rockhillcap.com klindauer@winstead.com

Ratified by Resolution of the Board of Direct
June 17, 201



EXHIBIT 14.2

ENGLOBAL CORPORATION CODE OF ETHICS
FOR CEO AND SENIOR FINANCIAL OFFICERS

ENGlobal Corporation (the “Corporationfas a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics appdicibhll directors ar
employees of the Corporation. The CEO and all sefimancial officers, including the CFO and prinaiaccounting officer, a
bound by the provisions set forth therein relatimgthical conduct, conflicts of interest and coiaipte with law. In addition to tl
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the CEO antbrséinancial officers are subject to the followiradditional specifi
policies:

1. The CEO and all senior financial officers egsponsible for full, fair, accurate, timely andderstandable disclosi
in the periodic reports required to be filed by @erporation with the SEC. Accordingly, it is thesponsibility of the CEO al
each senior financial officer promptly to bringtt® attention of the Audit Committee any matendibrmation of which he or s
may become aware that affects the disclosures tmatiee Corporation in its public filings.

2. The CEO and each senior financial officerllspeomptly bring to the attention of the Audit Caomitee an
information he or she may have concerning (a) Siarit deficiencies in the design or operationraéinal controls which cou
adversely affect the Corporation's ability to regqorocess, summarize and report financial datdpany fraud, whether or r
material, that involves management or other emm@sy&ho have a significant role in the Corporatidimancial reporting
disclosures or internal controls.

3. The CEO and each senior financial officeldlgtramptly bring to the attention of the CEO awdhe Audit Committe
any information he or she may have concerning aolkation of the Corporation's Code of Business Gménd Ethics, includir
any actual or apparent conflicts of interest betwpersonal and professional relationships, invgivamy management or ot
employees who have a significant role in the Caxpon's financial reporting, disclosures or intémantrols.

4. The CEO and each senior financial officedlgiramptly bring to the attention of the CEO awdthe Audit Committe
any information he or she may have concerning emidedf a material violation of the securities drestlaws, rules or regulatic
applicable to the Corporation and the operatioitsobusiness, by the Corporation or any agent tfeoe of violation of the Coc
of Business Conduct and Ethics or of these additiprocedures.

5. The Board of Directors shall determine, osigeate appropriate persons to determine, apptepaigions to be tak
in the event of violations of the Code of Busin€smnduct and Ethics or of these additional proceslimg the CEO and t
Corporation's senior financial officers. Such atsioshall be reasonably designed to deter wrongdaind to promol
accountability for adherence to the Code of Businéenduct and Ethics and to these additional puresd and shall inclui
written notices to the individual involved that tB@ard has determined that there has been a wnlatiensure by the Boa
demaotion or reassignment of the individual involved, suspensidthwr without pay or benefits (as determined by Board) an
termination of the individual's employment. In deténing what action is appropriate in a particutase, the Board of Directors
such designee shall take into account all relewaormation, including the nature and severity bé tviolation, whether tt
violation was a single occurrence or repeated oeages, whether the violation appears to have b@entional or inadverter
whether the individual in question had been advizéar to the violation as to the proper coursection and whether or not 1
individual in question had committed other violatsan the past.

Ratified by Resolution of the Board of Direct
June 17, 201



EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

ENGlobal U.S., Inc. Incorporated in the State ekds
ENGlobal Government Services, Inc. IncorporatethenState of Texas
ENGlobal Canada, ULC Incorporated under the Congsafict of Nova Scotia as an

Unlimited Liability Company

ENGlobal International, Inc. Incorporated in BsftiVirgin Islands under the BVI Business
Companies Act of 2004
ENGlobal Emerging Markets, Inc. Incorporated ia Btate of Texas



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Edward L. Pagano, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of ENGloBGarporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does patain any untrue statement of a material factroit @0 state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligihteofircumstances under which such statements mvade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeand other financial information included instleport, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaamd for, the periods presen
in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer ahdare responsible for establishing and maintaingigclosure controls a
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}#nd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined i
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forbgistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and praesdwr caused such disclosure controls and proesda be design
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrimédion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated subsidiari
is made known to us by others within those entifiesticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financ&dorting, or caused such internal control ovearicial reporting to t
designed under our supervision, to provide readenafisurance regarding the reliability of finanaiborting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presentéhis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegpeovered by th
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in ttgisteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during t
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the reggts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahcéporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer ahtiave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control owvt
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditonsl zhe audit committee of the registrant's Boar@ioéctors (or persons performi
the equivalent functions):

Date:

a) All significant deficiencies and material Wweasses in the design or operation of internal robrdver financie
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffect the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and rep:
financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ilves management or other employees who have afisanti role in th:
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt

April 12, 2012 /Isl// Edward L. Pagano
Edward L. Pagano
Chief Executive Officer

1



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Robert W. Raiford, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of ENGloBGarporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does patain any untrue statement of a material factroit @0 state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in ligihteofircumstances under which such statements mvade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeand other financial information included instleport, fairly present in :
material respects the financial condition, resafteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaamd for, the periods presen
in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer ahdare responsible for establishing and maintaingigclosure controls a
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a}#nd 15dt5(e)) and internal control over financial repogtifas defined i
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) forbgistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and praesdwr caused such disclosure controls and proesda be design
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrimédion relating to the registrant, including itsnsolidated subsidiari
is made known to us by others within those entifiesticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financ&dorting, or caused such internal control ovearicial reporting to t
designed under our supervision, to provide readenafisurance regarding the reliability of finanaiborting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissadisclosure controls and procedures and presentéhis report oL
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosontrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegpeovered by th
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in ttgisteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during t
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the reggts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahcéporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer ahtiave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control owvt
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditonsl zhe audit committee of the registrant's Boar@ioéctors (or persons performi
the equivalent functions):

Date:

a) All significant deficiencies and material Wweasses in the design or operation of internal robrdver financie
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversaffect the registrant's ability to record, processnmarize and rep:
financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ilves management or other employees who have afisanti role in th:
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt

April 12, 2012 /Is/] Robert W. Raiford
Robert W. Raiford
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban€xley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, |, EdwarBdgano, hereby certify that, to the best of my Kedge, the Annual Report
Form 10-K of ENGlobal Corporation for the fiscalayeended December 31, 2011 (the “Repoftilly complies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d)hef $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, and that tharnmation contained in tl
Report fairly presents, in all material respedis, financial condition and results of operation&biGlobal Corporation.

Date: April 12, 2012 //s/l Edward L. Pagano
Edward L. Pagano
Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies this Report on FAG¥K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarba@ekey Act of 2002 and shall n
except to the extent required by such Act, be dekfited by the Company for purposes of Section L&he Securities Exchan
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Ac8lch certification will not be deemed to be incogted by reference into a
filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amendadthe Exchange Act, except to the extent that @mmpany specifical
incorporates it by reference.



EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarban€xley Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, I, RoberRaiford, hereby certify that, to the best of my Wedge, the Annual Report
Form 10-K of ENGlobal Corporation for the fiscalayeended December 31, 2011 (the “Repoftilly complies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d)hef $ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, and that tharnmation contained in tl
Report fairly presents, in all material respedis, financial condition and results of operation&biGlobal Corporation.

Date: April 12, 2012 //sll Robert W. Raiford
Robert W. Raiford
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies this Report on FAG¥K pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarba@ekey Act of 2002 and shall n
except to the extent required by such Act, be dekfited by the Company for purposes of Section L&he Securities Exchan
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Ac8lch certification will not be deemed to be incogted by reference into a
filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amendadthe Exchange Act, except to the extent that @mmpany specifical
incorporates it by reference.



